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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 00726

WEBSITE

http://dit.aconnect.com.hk

SHAREHOLDERS' INFORMATION
Share listing
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

ordinary Share (as at 31 December 2024)

Shares outstanding: 3,101,095,730 shares
Nominal value: HK$0.40 per share
FINANCIAL CALENDAR

2024 annual results announcement: 26 March 2025

Book closure period (for determining shareholders’ eligibility
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting (the
"2025 AGM")): 15 May 2025 to 20 May 2025 (both days
inclusive)

2025 AGM: 20 May 2025
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DIT Group Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively, “the Group”) (stock
code: 726HK) is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Group positions itself as a leading integrated service provider
in smart building, as well as an innovative high-tech enterprise
that specializes in business throughout the entire value chain of
prefabricated construction (“PC"). We are the first listed company
in the prefabricated construction industry. The main business of
the Group covers prefabricated concrete manufacturing, smart
landscaping services and smart decoration services. The Group
has already set up several smart PC plants nationwide. It has 19
self-operated PC plants and several plants owned and operated
by franchisees.
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The Group provides green buildings and one-stop home solutions
as our key mission and is dedicated to the strategic presence
nationwide to seize the opportunities form construction
industrialisation in China during the 10-year golden era, and
achieve such industrialisation, informationalization and
technologicalization of the construction industry with the
application of various technology collaborations. We aim to
transform traditional construction from “on-site” to “precast
components + on-site assembly” mode, bringing unprecedented
change to the construction industry.

“Developing Brilliant Living” is our corporate value and we aim to
facilitate the upgrade and transformation of the modernization of
the construction industry. With our commitment to the creation
of the largest modernized operating platform of the construction
industry in China, we strive to create a new construction industry
which is environmentally friendly, highly efficient and at top
quality by the process of informationalization with the seamless
combination between technology and building. The Group has
set up several smart PC plants nationwide, and is the industry
leading enterprise in China in terms of the number of smart
production lines. The Group’s technologies and products receive
wide recognition from our clients. The Group currently provides
its service for projects under construction with site area of
approximately 6 million square metres in China.
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With the consistent adherence to its development strategy of
“driving development with leading technology”, the Group is
equipped with the five most advanced core technology systems
specific to the industry of prefabrication construction in the world
with the Group's possession of a plenitude of core technologies
ranging from Building Information Modeling (“BIM") in the context
of intelligent construction, the Internet of Things, Big Data to
artificial intelligence. The number of the Group’s patents has
been continuously ranking first in the prefabricated construction
industry. The Group has the one and only one research and
development (“R&D") center at provincial level in the industry, as
well as the pilot smart manufacturing R&D platform.

The Group is dedicated to provide safer, more comfortable and
smarter living experience through its continuing technological
innovation.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to present the
consolidated results and business overview of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 to you.

In 2024, China’s economy was stable and progressing with GDP
reaching RMB134.91 trillion. Due to impacts of the external
economy, the construction industry registered 10% year-on-year
decrease of construction area, and confronted increasingly fierce
competition. The area of newly constructed prefabricated
buildings in China amounted to approximately 750 million square
metres, representing a year-on-year decrease of 1%. Hit by
complex and challenging economic situation, the Group saw
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year-on-year declines in full-year results with shrinking orders
and revenue. For the twelve months ended 31 December 2024,
the Group achieved sales revenue of approximately HK$374.0
million, a year-on-year decrease of approximately 56.9%,; its
gross profit totaled approximately HK$9.5 million, a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 81.0%, and net loss attributable to the
parent company reached HK$464.5 million.

In the face of adversity, the Group has risen to challenges by
quickly adjusting its business layout, optimising its product
structure and enhancing service quality so as to flexibly adapt to
new demands and changes in the market.

Stable operations were maintained with full commitment
to capital security. The Group consolidated its core businesses
by deepening business expansion, and adopted measures, such
as continuous cleanup of accounts receivable and revitalisation
of idle assets, to ensure stable and organised business
operations. Meanwhile, it prioritised credit risk management, and
actively maintained close and effective communication with
financial institutions to ensure mutual facilitation and virtuous
cycle of business and finance.

Restructuring and upgrading were adopted to accelerate
diversified market expansion. Equipped with keen awareness
of market dynamics, the Group vigorously developed
restructuring and upgrading as well as other new businesses in
addition to traditional housing construction, and attained
diversified expansion, including housing-to-infrastructure
construction, urban-to-rural markets, domestic-to-overseas
markets, assembly-to-turnkey solutions, and private-to-state-
owned clients. The Group was devoted to in-depth
transformation towards technology integration and application
services, and has made progress in wind turbine towers,
municipal construction, photovoltaic bases and overseas
business. Within the reporting period, new orders for
restructuring and upgrading, and new businesses amounted to
RMB150 million, accounting for 30% and representing a year-on-
year increase of 23 percentage points. With respect to wind
turbine towers, the Group signed contracts worth RMB74.32
million, and consolidated its market position with a standardised
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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management system. In terms of overseas business, we were
awarded the first overseas MiC project with a total amount of
RMB42 million, which is now ready for installation; we obtained
the first overseas PC unit order worth HK$13.63 million; and we
established strategic cooperation with Xinnuo Renovation Pty Ltd
in Australia and Lennar Corporation in Russia for expansion of
overseas markets and innovative cooperation. As for rural villa
business, we signed a new order with the Jiayuanmeizhai Project
in Changsha, through which we work with the Hunan Provincial
Association of Beautiful Villages to help revitalise villages.

Production stablisation and quality improvement were
carried out with continuous efforts to optimise
production efficiency and resource allocation. With its
competitive edge and leading position in the industry of
prefabricated buildings, the Group kept high quality development
in its traditional PC business. There are 19 PC factories and one
prefabricated interior industrial park with a total design capacity
of 1.34 million cubic metres. Over the past year, the contracted
sales of the portfolio reached approximately RMB500 million. In
terms of actual production, the output and sales volume of PC
units were approximately 145,000 cubic metres and 167,000
cubic metres respectively. As for asset optimisation, we
revitalised a number of projects, such as Haikong Drawin, and
our Foshan factory signed a letter of intent; and we actively
disposed idle assets and recovered rents, further optimising the
allocation of resources and efficiency of capital use.

Many awards were won to further consolidate and
enhance our brand identity. The Huizhou factory won two
awards, namely “Green and Sustainable Contribution” and
“Livable City Building”, at the symposium on “Building a Liveable,
Competitive and Sustainable City” organised by the Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency. The Nanjing plant was awarded the
title of “Nanjing Intelligent Construction Pilot Enterprise” at the
Nanjing Intelligent Construction Work Promotion and Industry
Alliance Establishment Meeting. DIT Intelligence was accredited
as Hunan Provincial Enterprise Technology Centre. DIT Group
was awarded the title of “2024 China Real Estate Chain Strategic
Integrity Supplier TOP 10" for the seventh consecutive year.
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As mentioned in the national housing and urban-rural
development work conference in December 2024, China will
vigorously develop new construction methods, improve business
environment for construction, and reinforce supervision of
project quality assurance and safety of existing housing
properties. In particular, the conference emphasised the
development of intelligent construction technology innovation
platform and steady growth of prefabricated buildings, making
prefabricated buildings a driving force to promote the
restructuring and upgrading of the construction industry. The
industry of prefabricated buildings is expected to grow along with
better domestic macroeconomic environment, increasing market
demands and favorable policies. At the same time, the expansion
of prefabricated buildings will drive the progress of design,
construction and production of parts and components, and
coordinated growth of prefabricated interiors, equipment
manufacturing, transportation and logistics among other related
industries, and accelerate sound and integrated development of
the whole industry chain of prefabricated buildings.

In 2025, the Group will focus on the positioning of technology
integration and application services, leverage its patent
advantage, and maximise its “speed” feature to develop itself
into an example for integration of design and construction,
continue to promote the RIFF system and build our own
technological standards, integrate resources, set up technical
teams, and develop “a turnkey” industrial chain system to
enhance overall competitiveness.

In 2025, the Group will reinforce its identity of “hard work, great
craft and good review"”, advance its core technologies and
consolidate its leading position in the field of intelligent buildings,
provide modular technology solutions for major projects, and
strengthen the national sales network and factory layout to
ensure production capacity and quality, and improve delivery
capability.

=l

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRES

224 F 12 A - 2EEEHBEL TESRELE
ANBEFUEESN - BEBRETHRE - &
CTIREELXENABEREELRES - @& 7
AR RERENEAT T aER  BXERE
HRANEE  EHRZERAEEBRARETE
EAASNESHET - BERARBLSERERS
BEM EMSEREBRRERNMNEERES T
HENEETEMSRERERBIME— PR -
R - HEREREREOERN 0 FFERE - 5
T  MBRIBPEEEZOREHNES  BEHETHE
AEE  SERENEGMASHBEENR
FIEE MRTEERAEELEXEE—BH
)% o

2025  NEEBE MM ERERARBEED
A (KEEFEDR  BE[RE|FE - BF -
BTSRRI T — B8 (LIZIR  FHEHERFFEE
X o BEROFRmMES BAER HEEBR(L
RATEE - R [ EXEER W BF 2R
BEAN -

20255 - AREIHE (8% FE OB =%
B BERLIA - RES SR ERERATIAL -
HUEARE - EHERCRMTERT R &1L
EEHERKRETHRGR  BRERREE - 1§
SRAAFRETT

CECMEER EREENBERERAT 11
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In 2025, the Group will drive its growth via more orders and
overseas business development, deepen cooperation with
strategic clients, promote major projects, optimise market
expansion and client structure, and actively explore diversified
markets, such as wind power, public utilities and water
conservancy.

In 2025, the Group will strengthen financial security and internal
management, and boost operational efficiency and employee
confidence. It will fully promote restructuring, upgrading and new
business development, effectively cope with cost challenges, and
consolidate and enhance its market position.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank all our employees for hard work, and all shareholders,
investors and other partners for their huge support! The Group
will continue to enhance its core competitiveness, advance
development with innovation, stick to the goal of carbon peaking
and neutrality, create long-term value for shareholders, and
contribute to the society with green construction. Let us join
hands to create a better future!

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
DIT Group Limited

Guo Weiqiang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEmE

FEEEREE

BE1+-_HA=1+—HILFE

2024 2023 Changes
—EoNE T = b))
Revenue (HK$'000) WA (FET) 373,990 867,161 -56.9%
Gross profit (HK$'000) EM(FET) 9,461 49,872 -81.0%
Gross profit margin ENES 2.5% 5.8% -3.3*
Net loss (HK$'000) FEER(FET) (494,158) (330,234) -49.6%
Net profit margin Fom =& -132.1% -38.1% 94.0*
Loss attributable to equity shareholders = EE AL
(HK$'000) B8 (FEr) (464,536) (315,733) 47.1%
Basic losses per share (HK$ cents) FRREAREE GEN) (14.98) (10.18) 47.2%
Diluted losses per share (HK$ cents) TR EEE OEN) (14.98) (10.18) 47.2%
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT (A& SiknRilE
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS at 31 December R+=—ZHA=+—H
2024 2023 Changes
—EomE 2= BE
Total cash (including cash and cash BES (PREREEES
equivalents and restricted bank deposit) LEBEE UARER
(HK$°000) RITIFEF) (FET) 33,254 34,007 2.2%
Total assets (HK$'000) BEMBRE(TET) 5,489,993 6,334,141 -13.3%
Total liabilities (HK$000) aEBE(FET) 3,471,457 3,778,499 -8.1%
Total equity (including non-controlling RSB (BIEEER
interest) (HK$'000) =) (FET) 2,018,536 2,555,642 -21.0%
Total debt (HK$000) BrerE(FEr) 1,679,650 1,732,401 -3.0%
Current ratio @ MENEEE O 70.1% 82.4% -12.3*
Net gearing ratio @ REELERO 86.0% 67.9% 18.1*
Net asset value per share (HK$) EREEFEET) 0.65 0.82 -20.7%
Equity attributable to equity shareholders REZ=FE AEIL
per share (HKS) BREZ (Br) 0.44 0.67 -27.9%
Notes: Bt -
* Change in percentage points * BOLLEH

liabilities
Calculated as set out on page 29

Calculated based on the total current assets divided by the total current
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the construction area of the construction industry
amounted to 13,680 million square metres, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 10%, of which the housing construction area
of real estate development enterprises was 7,330 million square
metres, representing a decrease of 12.7%, residential
construction area was 5,130 million square meters, representing
a decrease of 13.1%, and the new housing construction area was
740 million square metres, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 23.0%. In 2024, the area of newly constructed prefabricated
buildings nationwide was approximately 750 million square
metres, representing a year-on-year decrease of 1%, due to
intensified competition in the industry caused by shrinking
market scale.

The housing construction market continued to shrink, while the
prefabricated building market developed in a relatively stable
manner. In 2024, the sales area of commercial properties
nationwide amounted to 970 million square metres, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 12.9%, and the new housing
construction area was 740 million square metres, representing a
decrease of 23%. The new construction area of prefabricated
buildings is estimated to be 750 million square metres,
representing a year-on-year decline of 1%. The decline was much
smaller than that of the traditional construction market,
highlighting a stronger resilience to risk.

The overseas business of central state-owned enterprises
continued to expand and has become an important driver of
growth. Under the Belt and Road Initiative, the overseas business
of central state-owned enterprises has shown rapid growth,
especially in the areas of infrastructure construction and energy
cooperation. In 2023, China Communications Construction signed
new overseas contracts amounting to RMB319.7 billion,
representing a significant year-on-year increase of 47.5%, and
further to RMB359.7 billion in 2024, representing a year-on-year
increase of 12.5%. The overseas revenue has gradually increased
its proportion to approximately 20%, becoming a critical growth
engine for the company. In 2023, China State Construction signed
new overseas contracts amounting to RMB186 billion, as
compared to that of RMB211 billion in 2024. New contracts for
overseas infrastructure amounted to RMB1,414.9 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 21.1%.

14 DIT Group Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report

FEE R

T U BEERTEBEE1368EF K
FILL TRE10% - Edh - BHERZELEEERL
EE733EFT K TE127%: FEHEIEE
S13FHK THK131% - EEFHHI@EE74
BFEHK - B TBE23.0% o == ZUF 2
THEABEMELN7SEFE K R THE1% -
MG RRR GBI TER T MNE -

%@ﬁ%%&%fﬁ R RETMISERMAE T

B _E_ME2ENMmEIHERBE7TEFS

Ko BETE129%: EEFAI@EE7AEFTS

K NFE23% o KA EENFAIEEER7.5

1**%%% FLE %1% ¢ B %u&wﬁﬁﬁ@“*
BB AR R

REMGINEFIFEEER  NABEZEERE - £
[—HF— K BFMSIET REMFINEBHBZR
mLﬁE%ﬂ THEEEMBIEER  LRE
ESEE - PRRBE S _—FBINELTESL
Hmwrﬁ B RIEE R A47.5% 0 —F —POF
BB RE3597E T - ALIBR12.5% © &I
WAL B FIRAZL20%  RARRIEZER
TR o R SR 47;_¢i%%$ﬁhmﬂ1%o
%ﬁvf?fmifﬂﬁﬂmﬂﬁﬁzﬂm
BONER R G R A14,149187T » R
£21.1% °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Under a complex and challenging external environment, the
Group’s operating results in 2024 were inevitably affected. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group achieved sales
revenue of approximately HK$374.0 million, representing a year-
on-year decrease of approximately 56.9%. Its gross profit was
approximately HK$9.5 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 81.0%. Net loss attributable to the
parent company amounted to approximately HK$464.5 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 47.1%.

I. Deepening transformation and upgrading, and

expanding into diversified markets

In 2024, DIT Group quickly adapted to market changes,
undergoing business transformation and market upgrading.
It expanded its focus from housing construction to
infrastructure development in both urban and rural areas.
The Company also worked to establish a domestic and
overseas presence, transitioning from a prefabricated
construction provider to a comprehensive decorator.
Additionally, it shifted resources toward state-owned
enterprises rather than private ones. Our commitment is to
move beyond being a pure original equipment
manufacturer and material supplier. We strive to transform
into a technology integration and application service
enterprise. On the basis of its traditional building
construction business, DIT Group has been vigorously
promoting transformation and upgrading and new business
expansion. Progress was made in wind turbine towers,
municipal construction, photovoltaic bases, planter
retaining walls, floor slabs and overseas business.

The cumulative new contracts signed in 2024 amounted to
RMB500 million, all being external orders. New orders for
transformation and upgrading and new business amounted
to RMB150 million, accounting for 30% and representing an
increase of 23 percentage points year-on-year. New orders
from central state-owned enterprises amounted to RMB160
million, accounting for 32% and representing an increase of
1 percentage point year-on-year.
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In 2024, DIT Group undertook its first overseas FULL-MIC
business worth RMB42 million, which is now able to provide
comprehensive decoration services. Strategic cooperation
with the PBG Xinnuo Group, Australia has empowered the
development of the overseas light-asset agency market
and exploration of new cooperation models. Strategic
cooperation with the LENNAR Group, Russian has facilitated
the establishment of a light-asset franchise model and
formation of a joint venture company. The Group received
orders for direct supply of sewage treatment plants in Hong
Kong, and was awarded its first overseas direct supply
project for PC components, worth HK$13.63 million,
breaking the monopoly of central state-owned enterprises.
Wind turbine tower contracts signed for the year amounted
to RMB74.32 million, equipped with a standardised
management system. The Group signed 2 new orders for
villa business of the Changsha Jiayuan Mansion Project,
under which we cooperated with the local agriculture and
rural department, and participated in the villa business of
Hunan Provincial Beautiful Village Association.

Stabilising production and improving quality and
efficiency to establish industry benchmarks
During the Reporting Year, the Group maintained quality
development in its traditional PC business based on its
competitive advantages and industry leading position of the
PC business. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 19
PC factories and a prefabricated decoration industrial park
nationwide, with a designed production capacity of 1.34
million cubic meters. In the whole year of 2024, the
contract sales of PC components were approximately
RMB429 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 73%, the output of PC components was
approximately 145,000 cubic metres, representing a year-
on-year decrease of approximately 51.4%; and the sales
volume of PC components was approximately 167,000
cubic meters, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 43.1%. In terms of PC components sales by
regions, the percentage of the Central China, the Yangtze
River Delta, the Greater Bay Area, and Henan Province was
approximately 47%, 23%, 11% and 13% respectively,
reflecting the national production capacity business
planning. In addition, with respect to sales volumes of PC
components by customers, construction companies
accounted for approximately 99% and the government
accounted for approximately 1%.
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The asset revitalisation was completed for five projects,
namely, Haikong Drawin, Chengdu Dayi, Chengdu Jintang,
Ruimin Intelligent Building and Zhejiang Huanyu, in addition
to an equity structure agreement entered into with the
Foshan plant.

In 2024, we streamlined the organisation, implemented
cost control measures, and concentrated resources. We
dynamically adjusted the organisational structure,
enhancing management efficiency. Overall operating
expenses were reduced by an average of RMB3.35 million/
month compared to the beginning of the year.

The revision and addition of 15 systems were completed
throughout the year to standardise work guidelines.
Procurement cost reduction rate was 2.63% in 2024. In
accordance with the amended authorization manual, we
reviewed, dynamically adjusted, and followed up on a total
of 428 key items across 11 categories, spanning three
levels of authorization (headquarters, the Company, and
the factory).

The Huizhou plant won two awards, namely, “Green and
Sustainable Contribution” and “Livable City Building”, in the
symposium on “Building a Liveable, Competitive and
Sustainable City” organised by the Hong Kong Quality
Assurance Agency.

The Nanjing plant was awarded the title of “Nanjing
Intelligent Construction Pilot Enterprise” at the Nanjing
Intelligent Construction Work Promotion and Industry
Alliance Establishment Meeting, which demonstrates the
advanced level of DIT Group in the field of intelligent
construction in the prefabricated building industry.

DIT Intelligence was accredited as Hunan Provincial
Enterprise Technology Centre.

For seven consecutive years, DIT Group has been
shortlisted as one of the “Top 10 Strategic Integrity
Providers in China’s Real Estate Chain in 2024".
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Domestic economy is progressing steadily while
the dual-carbon strategy is accelerating structural
upgrading of the industry

As China’s economy enters a new stage of high-quality
development, 2025 will mark the concluding year of the
14th Five-Year Plan. The policy focus will continue to drive
structural adjustments in the economy. Despite the
uncertainties in the global geopolitical and economic
environment, the in-depth implementation of the “dual-
carbon” strategy in China has injected positive growth
momentum into the construction industry. The construction
industry accounts for 51.3% of China’s total carbon
emissions. As a key driver of green construction,
prefabricated buildings will continue to benefit from policy
support. The “14th Five-Year Plan” of the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the People’s
Republic of China clearly states that the proportion of
prefabricated buildings to new buildings should reach 30%
by 2025 and further increase to 40% by 2030. With the
policy support of provinces and cities for intelligent
construction and green building materials, the market
penetration of prefabricated buildings will accelerate. In
addition, China continues to promote government-
subsidized housing, urban “villages” renovation and new
infrastructure construction, expanding the application
scenarios of prefabricated technology. The industry is
expected to reach a scale exceeding one trillion.
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Taking advantages of the entire industry chain, — REEREXEED BEBREHREK
with a focus on policy-driven business R

development

Strengthening the ability to collaborate across

the entire industry chain

Leveraging its engineering, manufacturing,
procurement, and construction (EMPC) capabilities
across the entire industry chain, the Group is
committed to fully integrating PC components,
landscaping and decoration businesses, while
building a service system that covers the entire
lifecycle of prefabricated buildings. We will focus on
promoting emerging areas such as wind-concrete
hybrid tower, vertical industrial development, and
water conservancy project, with details as follows:

Wind-concrete hybrid tower: Capitalising on the
target of 60GW of onshore wind power installations
by 2025, the Company will collaborate with Goldwind
and other partners to develop the “Hybrid Tower
EPC" model, which aims to increase the profit margin
of individual projects to 18%, covering the national
market.

Vertical industrial development: In response to the
mandatory prefabricated building rate in Shenzhen
and other cities, we will promote the standardised
product package of “laminated panels + prestressed
frame beams” and replicate the successful “3-month
delivery” experience from the Changsha project. This
approach is expected to reduce the overall cost by
20%.

Water conservancy project: In collaboration with the
Anhui Water Conservancy Institute, we will develop
prefabricated caisson and culvert modules, advancing
water-resistant sealing technology. This will address
the demand for national water network construction
and reduce river management costs by 30%.
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2.  Seizing opportunities of new infrastructure

construction in the existing market

Existing property renovation: Relying on the resources
of 400,000 property owners of Central China New
Life, the Company will launch an “old house
renovation + prefabricated decoration” package,
focusing on community renewal and interior
industrialisation, with a target conversion rate of 5%.

Rural revitalisation: We will promote standardised
packages of prefabricated farmhouses, reducing the
cost of individual decorations by 20%. At the same
time, we will target the lower-tier market, guided by
the new rural construction policy.

New infrastructure construction: We will expand into
areas like municipal pipeline networks and railway
protection components, enriching our order structure
to increase the capacity utilisation rate to 80%.

Technology-led innovation, promoting the deep
integration of digital intelligence and
industrialisation

Adhering to the development strategy of “Top Priority for
Leading Edge of Technology”, the Group will continue to
invest in R&D to strengthen the research of cutting-edge
technologies in the field of prefabricated buildings. The
Company aims to enhance its competitiveness through
breakthroughs in restructuring and upgrading and new
business development. By adhering to the path of
becoming a technology integration and application service
enterprise, the Company will strengthen its reserves, R&D,
and the introduction and integration of technologies and
products, fostering technological upgrades and iterations
through value-added operations. We will develop non-
equivalent cast-in-place prefabricated frame structures and
launch high-quality, low-cost, highly integrated, and robust
concrete MIC systems, establishing a complete supply
chain system for the entire industrial chain.
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As the first national key R&D program project hosted by the
Group, based on the efficient connection technology of
iterative plate members and semi-rigid connected
prefabricated structure technology, the Group developed a
new type of large-span prestressed iterative floor product
and a hybrid dry-wet connection product with efficient
prefabricated construction technology (RIFF system), and
created a software system that integrates the data
interoperability of the three phases of design,
manufacturing and construction, which has already been
granted a national patent. In addition, the products
developed under the project have broad market prospects
and significant economic benefits. We will accelerate the
R&D of technologies and the transformation of results,
enabling the large-scale application of patented
technologies such as the RIFF system and prestressed
laminated panels. We will also focus on breakthroughs in
the technology of “lightweight non-stressed wall panels” to
enhance green building standards and promote the
sustainable development of the construction industry.

Focusing on the industrialisation approach, the Group is
committed to using technological innovation and the
introduction of achievements, choosing opportunities to
enter the field of industrial and public construction, and
using the RIFF system to promote the technology
application of “Four New”, including new technologies, new
processes, new materials and new equipment, so as to
contribute to the development of the industry. In addition,
the Group will focus on breaking through the R&D of new
material manufacturing equipment technology in major
equipment manufacturing, and will maintain its leading
position in the industry through the release of technical
specifications, digitisation of the entire industry chain, and
intelligent PC equipment, which will give full play to its
strengths in R&D.

T DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREmR T

EREEERIHNBERFEHMEEA
B - EREARE T ROER B B 1
BRI EEEN - AEHUAEETERE
NEABEERMLRRS ERRUERR
RERMEMRIFFEER) - BlER A RE -
S BE-EBEBEBELENSRMERR &
EmDBEEERER - 1o - BRZIEE
EMEMAEBERNTSEEMEENEH
Man o MR BT EARE L - BIRIFF
BR AERIBAREENRMERRCRE
R ERRE [ EELIER DR 5
RAGEREKT - BEZETEAUFER
R o

SETET XX - BORBERIMAIF A
PRSI - BRE AT ERENDERE
FARIFFEERWE) BIRF M - F TE - #41
£t FERBERS [ SRR - /1T
XRREBIE - LI REESAKER
L SRR R AL M ELE R R R
s S@BMRMARE 2EXRBHF
£ BREPCEBEFREMRED  RiF
TTHRAEL

—EomEsR - greatugEanss 21



|

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERR DT

22

At the same time, the Group has the most comprehensive
and advanced digital management system in the industry,
and is committed to building an innovative whole industry
chain synergy model and realising the “Home Smart”
strategy. Relying on the scientific and technological
innovation and integration at the core production steps (i.e.,
design, manufacturing, and construction) of the whole
prefabricated construction industry chain, it will achieve
standardised design, factory manufacturing, professional
construction, platform-based procurement, fine
management, and intelligent operation in the entire
industry chain by combining BIM technology, cloud
computing, big data, Internet of Things and other digital
technologies through prefabrication. This leads to an overall
upgrade of construction quality, schedule, and cost. The in-
depth integration of the BIM + ERP system will empower
data connectivity in the entire process of design,
manufacturing and construction, reducing the error rate in
component production to less than 0.5mm and lowering
rework costs.

With respect to digital and intelligent transformation, the
Group will continue to improve its manufacturing
management platform, and online procurement and
investment promotion platform, promote the construction
of smart community R&D platform, and build product
analysis models to support data decision making. By
leveraging on both parties’ strengths in “digitalisation” and
“industrialisation”, the Group will continue to work with
Glodon to develop SaaS-based digital products, create
overall digital solution for the prefabricated construction
industry, integrate digitalisation and industrialisation of
construction, and carry out industrialisation platform
planning to promote the market launch of digital products.
With the Group's leading position in digital and intelligent
transformation and the large room for system application,
the Group will focus more on the application of the whole
process information management system in the future, and
plans to promote the digital system in the industry to serve
domestic and overseas PC manufacturing plants, leading
the transformation and upgrading of digitisation and
intelligence in the construction industry.
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International and domestic dual circulation,
fostering ecological cooperation networks

Domestic market

By leveraging the resources of central state-owned
enterprises and deepening cooperation with central
enterprises like China Construction and China Nuclear
Construction, we aim to undertake large-scale
infrastructure projects through the EPC consortium
model, thereby enhancing profit margins. Through
cooperations with strategic investors such as China
Energy Engineering and Railway Construction
Investment Corporation, we are able to optimise the
balance sheet ratio, and secure policies and orders
that favour the Company.

International market

The product is positioned as a low-multi-level
technical product for villas. By adopting a product-
focused strategy for overseas exports, we will centre
on villas as the core principal product, with ALC wall
panels, doors and windows, aluminium veneers,
space warehouses, and other components serving as
supplementary offerings. At the same time, we will
engage in overseas trade as appropriate.

In Southeast Asia, we will concentrate on meeting the
demand for 5 million government-subsidised
housings in Indonesia using MIC technology, while
adopting a “bonded warehouse + localised
production” model to reduce logistics risks. In the
Middle East, we will collaborate with Sino-funded
enterprises to participate in the construction of NEOM
New City in Saudi Arabia, securing infrastructure
projects through technology and adapting to
American Standard certification. In Africa, we will
enter the “Nomadic Mobile Factory” market in Kenya,
responding to the 30% prefabricated building policy in
Africa, by replicating the successful experience of our
South Africa project.

In addition to product export, technology export is
also one of the important businesses of overseas
companies. At present, due to the domestic
economic pressure and the downturn in the real
estate industry, a large number of central enterprises
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have started to develop overseas housing
construction business. However, in light of the
difficulty and low efficiency of the traditional
construction practices, compounded by the nature of
foreign labour, it is more complicated to engage in
the overseas housing construction business. These
central enterprises clearly recognise that the best
approach for overseas housing construction is to
begin with China’s prefabricated building technology.
Some of the central enterprises engaged in the
overseas housing construction business lack mature
prefabricated building technology or are unwilling to
start from scratch to re-examine it. Therefore, they
choose to conduct in-depth cooperation with DIT
Group, which is a win-win choice for both parties to
leverage their complementary strengths.

Currently, China Nuclear Construction, PowerChina,
and China Construction Second Engineering have
reached out to the Company. Their primary markets
include South Africa, the Middle East, South Asia, and
other regions, with the expectation that the Company
will provide a full range of prefabricated building
technology.

Production mode

We adopt a dual production model of “domestic
factory + overseas factory”, with overseas exports
primarily focused on MIC assembled houses,
supplemented by the export of full-dry systems and
RIFF system components. This approach reduces
heavy asset investment through the “technology
shareholding + local OEM" model.

MIC mainly relies on domestic production, with
emphasis on factories in Huizhou, Nanjing and Hefeli,
which are convenient for water and sea
transportation, allowing for direct port access and
reducing transportation costs. We will work towards
establishing nomadic factories in various countries as
conditions permit, allowing for cooperation with
investors. Under this model, DIT Group will hold the
shares, while investors will cover transportation
costs, factory rental fees, operating expenses, and
other associated costs, ensuring mutual benefits for
both parties.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Review of Results

The principal activities of the Group are prefabricated
construction work, decoration and landscaping services, granting
licenses, consulting services and sales of equipment in the
People’s Republic of China.

Revenue

The revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 56.9%
from approximately HK$867.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$374.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The decrease in revenue was mainly
due to the decrease in revenue from PC components of
approximately HK$351.3 million and the decrease in transactions
of landscaping and decoration services of approximately
HK$129.1 million. As a result, for year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group recorded revenue from sales of prefabricated
construction units of approximately HK$322.1 million (2023:
approximately HK$673.4 million), revenue from decoration and
landscaping services of approximately HK$34.4 million (2023:
approximately HK$163.5 million), rental income of approximately
HK$11.4 million (2023: approximately HK$13.4 million), revenue
from sales of prefabricated construction equipment of
approximately HK$3.1 million (2023: approximately HK$11.2
million), and consulting services of approximately HK$2.9 million
(2023: approximately HK$5.7 million).

Cost of sales

The Group recorded cost of sales of approximately HK$364.5
million (2023: approximately HK$817.3 million) for the year ended
31 December 2024. The decrease was primarily attributable to
the decline in revenue from the sales of prefabricated
components and landscaping and decoration services, along with
the corresponding decrease in cost of sales.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$40.4 million from approximately HK$49.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$9.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The gross profit margin
decreased to 2.5% in 2024 from 5.8% in 2023. The decrease in
gross profit was mainly due to the fact that the unit price of PC
components declined due to intensified market competition
while amortisation costs per sg.m. increased due to the
decreasing number of orders.

Other income

The other income of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$1.7 million from approximately HK$2.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$0.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024. Other income mainly comprised
of interest income arose from bank deposits of approximately
HK$0.2 million, non-operating income (which included exchange
gains of non-monetary assets, penalty income), other and
investment gains (which included distributed dividend and profits)
and other gains (which included refunded handled fees of income
tax) totalling approximately HK$0.3 million.

Other losses — net

For the year ended 31 December 2024, other losses — net
amounting to approximately HK$47.3 million is mainly comprised
of (i) losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$28.7 million; (i) fair value losses on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$14.8 million; and (iii) overdue interests to suppliers of
approximately HK$1.6 million.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
HK$37.9 million (2023: approximately HK$67.4 million) for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The decrease in expenses was
primarily attributable to the decline in orders and deliveries of
PC, leading to the decrease in transportation fees for product
sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Administrative expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the administrative
expenses increased by 23.6% to approximately HK$206.3 million
from approximately HK$167.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which was mainly due to the increase in
depreciation and amortization expenses.

Finance costs

Finance costs of approximately HK$87.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 mainly represented the interest
expenses of approximately HK$87.9 million for the borrowings.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$6.4 million (2023:
approximately HK$9.3 million) and the current ratio of the Group
i 0.7 (2023: 0.8).

As at 31 December 2024, the borrowings of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,679.7 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$1,727.5 million) and the net gearing ratio,
calculated as net debt divided by total equity, is 86.0% (2023:
67.9%).

Capital Structure

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 25 July 1991. The capital structure of the
Group comprised issued share capital and reserves. Details of
the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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On 19 November 2021, the Company issued and allotted
300,000,000 new shares (the “Subscription Shares”) of the
Company to Glodon (Hongkong) Software Limited for cash at
subscription price of HK$0.96 per Subscription Share (the
“Subscription”) (representing a premium of approximately 33.33%
to the closing price of HK$0.72 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the date of the subscription agreement). The net
proceeds from the Subscription (after deducting the expenses
incurred in the Subscription) amounted to approximately
HK$287,500,000. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds
from the Subscription: (i) as to HK$90,000,000 for digitalization
and software development in relation to the construction
industry, and (i) the remaining amount for working capital and
other general corporate purposes. There had been no change in
the intended use of net proceeds as previous disclosed in the
Company’s announcements. The details of the use of the net
proceeds from the Subscription are set out below:

R-ZZE-—F+—AthB  ARFREREE
7B ) BB R A w85 1T e i 3 7K 2 5 300,000,000
Rt (TRBERD ) - RBEERSRARBRN
09687 - UIREX N (TREEHE]) (AIERMHRNR
Bim R MEB ARz AN EER072ET
i (E#133.33%) © BB FEIEZ IS RIEFER (kR

AAR B RESHEZAEREFEARTIE
I8 : (1)90,000,0007%8 7T A R B R R E R B T 1L
REHFERE iV TeHEAREEES MEM
—REERR - FTSRIBEFENBR T ARELA
RARBIRNEFMEREE S - BARBER A
SRIBFERE ZFBHINAT -

Expected

Actual amount Actual unutilized utilization

Net proceeds utilized up to amount as at timeline for
from the 31 December 31 December unutilized

Uses of net proceeds FIBREFERRE Subscription 2024 2024 amount

BE-Z2-MF R-B-MEF
AEEE2z t+=-A=+—-H +=ZA=t+-—H REBAEE
FRNETEE CHRENEE <DAEKEE TEHABY R B A
(HKS$ million) (HKS million) (HKS$ million)
(BEBETT) (EE%T) (BEB#ETT)

Digitalization and software HEEZRANET 90.0 6.7 83.3 31 December
development in relation to b R &2 2025
the construction industry —ZEFERHF

+-A=+—H

Working capital and other HEESRHEM K 197.5 197.5 - -

general corporate purposes (¥R ®

As disclosed in the announcement dated 20 August 2021, the
Group will, from time to time, explore collaboration opportunities
with strategic investors and partners to create synergies with,
and complement, the Group's existing business and future
business development. Glodon is a top rank market leader of
construction engineering informationization in the PRC. The
Board believes that there is considerable potential for business
collaboration and synergies between the Group and Glodon's
group, which may lead to greater operational efficiencies and
complement the Group’s business expansion plan. The additional
funds brought to the Group from the Subscription can strengthen
the financial position and broaden the capital base of the Group
to facilitate its business operations and development.
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Structure of Borrowings and Deposits

The Group continued to adopt a prudent principle on financial
management and centralise our funding and financial
management. Therefore, we maintained a high proportion of
cash with a reasonable level of borrowing. As at 31 December

=l

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEREm&R T

BEERFHER

2024, the repayment schedule of the Group’s bank loans and

lease liabilities was as follows:

REEBEERSEERMRA
B ARSUESSHESEBALE - URRE
AEMEBKE - RZE-_NF+=A=+—8"
REBBTERMAEAED

SPESMPH

ERFHIT

As at As at

Repayment Schedule BEREFEH 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
R-B-MEF R-T_=%F

+=BA=+-H +-A=+—H

HK’000 HK'000

FET FET

Bank borrowings RITEE
Within one year —FR 959,656 886,224
More than one year, but not exceeding two years  —%F A H{ERBBRF 322,556 520,183
More than two years, but not exceeding five years M LA HERBBEF 397,438 321,073
More than five years BB hF - -
1,679,650 1,727,480
Lease Liabilities HEERE

Within one year —FR - 2,022
More than one year, but not exceeding two years  —%& A LB RBBME - 2,150
More than two year, but not exceeding five years ~ WEIA HERBBTE - 749
More than five years HEiRhE - -
- 4,921

Total debt B ERE 1,679,650 1,732,401
Interest payable JERFIE 61,972 12,316
Less: deposit for bank borrowings w o RITEERES - -
Less: cash and cash equivalents W ReRRESEER (6,435) (9,286)
Net debt REE 1,735,187 1,735,431
Total equity AR 2,018,536 2,555,642
Net gearing ratio FEELE 86.0% 67.9%

“EONEFR e RREENZEERRLF
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Foreign exchange risk

Our business mainly operates in the PRC with most of our
transactions settled in Renminbi, and our financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars. Renminbi is not a freely
convertible currency. The State Administration of Foreign
Exchange, under the authority of the People’s Bank of China,
controls the conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies. The
value of Renminbi is subject to changes in central government
policies and international economic and political developments
affecting supply and demand in the China Foreign Exchange
Trading System market. We do not believe that we currently have
any significant direct foreign exchange risk and have not used
any derivative financial instruments to hedge our exposure to
such risk.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the Dividend Policy, provided the Group is profitable and
without affecting the normal operations of the Group, the
Company may consider to declare and pay dividends to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). In deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the board of directors of the Company shall take into
account, among others, the operating results, cash flow, financial
condition and capital requirements of the Group and the interests
of the shareholders of the Company. Declaration of dividend by
the Company is also subject to the laws of Bermuda, the bye-
laws of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to
time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be
proposed or declared in any specific periods.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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DETAILS OF FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Except as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Business
Overview” above, the Group does not have any future plans for
material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

As of 31 December 2024, there were no significant investments
held by the Company, nor were there any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the year.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 321 (2023: 493)
employees excluding the directors of the Company (the
"Directors”). 318 (2023: 489) of them worked in Mainland China
and 3 (2023: 4) of them worked in Hong Kong, China.

Employees are basically remunerated based on the nature of
their job and their performance as well as the prevailing market
trend. Other employee benefits include mandatory provident
fund, medical benefits and year-end discretionary bonus.
Following a people-oriented approach, we implement a
systematic recruitment, training and incentive platform, providing
internal fuel for the growth of the Company. In doing so, we
create a desirable workplace for our employees to develop and
flourish.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme are set in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
individuals with the highest remuneration are set out in Notes 12
and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant assets
pledged to banks to secure general banking facilities and bank
loan granted to the Group, except for the one as disclosed in
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

LITIGATION

During the Reporting Period, there was no litigation or arbitration
with material impact on our operations.

As at 31 December 2024, there were various litigations against
the Group which were claimed by certain suppliers and banks
with respect to overdue payables and borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB573,612,000 (equivalent to HK$619,425,000)
(2023: RMB265,393,000 (equivalent to HK$292,863,000)) in total.
Based on the advice of legal counsel and/or information available
to the Group, the Directors are of the opinion that no provision
should be made for the estimated liabilities for the litigations.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Guo Weiqiang (“Mr. Guo”), aged 47, was appointed as an
executive Director on 17 September 2019. Mr. Guo is currently
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

Mr. Guo joined CCRE Group in 2001 and has held various
positions in the CCRE Group since then. Mr. Guo, who has served
for the CCRE Group over 20 years, worked as the manager of the
treasury department, the assistant general manager of the
finance center and the deputy director of the office of the board
of directors of the CCRE Group. Mr. Guo also served as the
executive deputy general manager of the CCRE Group'’s office in
Nanyang City, the executive general manager of the CCRE
Group’s office in Xinxiang City, the general manager of the CCRE
Group's regional head office in Xinxiang and the assistant
president and vice president of CCRE.

Mr. Guo obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Real Estate Operation
and Management from Henan University of Economics and Law
in 2001. He obtained a Master’s Degree in Engineering from
Wuhan University in 2009 and a Postgraduate Diploma in
Professional Accounting from The University of Hong Kong in
2011.

Mr. Guo obtained the qualification of Senior Accountant in Henan
in 2009 and was qualified as a Senior International Finance
Manager by the International Financial Management Association
2011. Mr. Guo has been a certified public accountant since 2012.

In 2021, Mr. Guo was appointed as the vice president of the
Construction Industrialisation Association Branch of the China
Real Estate Chamber of Commerce, and was selected as one of
the urgently needed talents for Changsha after a review and
finalisation by the Talent Working Leadership Group of the
Chinese Communist Party Committee of Changsha in 2022.
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Ms. Wang Yuping (“Ms. Wang"), aged 50, was appointed as an
executive Director on 10 March 2025.

Ms. Wang joined the Group in March 2005. Ms. Wang graduated
with major in Accounting from Henan College of Economics
(Al B OB A4S B2 BR) in 1996 and obtained a Master of Business
Administration from Xinjiang University (758 KX £) in 2017. MSs.
Wang has more than 25 years experiences in financial
management. Since joining with the Group, Ms. Wang has been
working on various positions within the Group. Since 2019, she
has been the general manager of the financial operation
department of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Jun ("Mr. Wang"), aged 44, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 17 September 2019. He has over 20 years
of experience in the real estate industry and capital market.

From 2003 to 2007, Mr. Wang served in PricewaterhouseCoopers
Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company with the latest position as a
senior associate; from 2007 to 2011, he served as the head of
investor relations and a senior manager of the finance
department in Country Garden Holdings Company Limited; and
from 2011 to June 2018, he served in Morgan Stanley Asia Limited
with the latest position as an executive director. Mr. Wang has
served as an executive director of CCRE from August 2018 to
August 2022. Mr. Wang has served as an executive director and
the chairman of the board of directors of Central China New Life
Limited (stock code: 9983) since October 2018.
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Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in English from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies in 2002 and a Master’s
Degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in 2011.

Mr. Guo Jianfeng ("Mr. Guo JF"), aged 44, has been appointed
as a non-executive Director on 7 January 2022. He has over 16
years of experience in digital construction.

From February 2007 to April 2012, Mr. Guo JF served as the
researcher at the Shanghai research and development center of
Autodesk, Inc., during which he was responsible for researching
BIM solutions and cross-profession collaboration for the entire
life cycle of construction projects. He joined Glodon in April 2012
and has held various positions therein since then, including the
senior technical researcher, the manager of cloud platform
department, the general manager of platform technology center,
the general manager of digital constructor business division and
the member and the head of the standing committee of
technology committee. He is currently the vice president of
Glodon and the general manager of its Glodon Business Platform
division.

Mr. Guo JF obtained a Doctorate Degree in Civil Engineering from
Tsinghua University in January 2007.

FTEER-_ZZT_FRRERIBNERB 2R
EBELBA RRZZE-——FIREEEREKRE
ZIEEEBL R -

BEREALE(BEEELE) MU 2R F
T AEtHEZIRFUTER  HEHEF
ERTHEAR16FER -

B-_ZStF-_AZ-FT—_—FMWNA BEEL
A JE{F Autodesk, Inc. B8R LRIFEE - B
MAERRBE2EDBHBMERTRLER
EWIERE - MR- — —F 0 A A ERE -
BB ERTERKMMARTE TF LK
B FERMPOREE  BTERSTEXHE
KEARBNEZESRZEREEELEBG - &
RAEREMERGHFAEBTAPRLE -

PREKER-FTLE—ARBEEABLA
TR -

—BopEsg - greahpeaaras 35



|

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEABEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Hongqing (“Mr. Jiang"), aged 58, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 2 February 2015. Mr.
Jiang holds a Ph.D. in Engineering majoring in Architectural
Design and Theory from South China University of Technology.
He also holds a Master of Engineering Degree majoring in
Landscape Architecture Design and a Bachelor of Engineering
Degree majoring in Urban Planning from Chongging Institute of
Architecture and Engineering. Mr. Jiang also studied in Ecole d’
Architecture Parisla-Seine in Paris, France. He is a Professorate
Senior Urban Planner and a Certified Planner of the People’s
Republic of China. Mr. Jiang presided over and participated in a
number of major engineering technology or research projects at
national, provincial and ministerial level; and he has a certain
extent of study in Xiongan New Area, China’s Hainan Free Trade
Zone, Guangdong - Hong Kong - Macau - Bay Area, urban and
rural development, urban renewal and health (pension) industry.
Mr. Jiang was an executive director of the Hong Kong Life
Sciences and Technologies Group Limited (stock Code: 8085)
from 1 December 2012 to 29 September 2017. Mr. Jiang was also
an executive director of Birmingham International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2309) from 30 August 2011 to 20 January
2012.

Mr. Lee Chi Ming (“Mr. Lee"), aged 71, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2014. He is
a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lee graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic. He
also holds a LLB Degree from University of London and a Master
Degree in Business Administration from University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Lee has over 26 years' experience in the fields of accounting,
regulations and asset management. He held various senior
positions with the Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC"),
Hong Kong since 1995, as director of Licensing, director of
Corporate Planning and director of Finance and Administration.
Mr. Lee retired from SFC in July 2014, and he is the director and
managing partner of Benington Capital Partner Ltd.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Lishan ("Mr. Ma"), aged 74, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 28 June 2016. He has
extensive experience in operation and management of modern
large-scale corporations and listed companies. Mr. Ma graduated
from Beijing Foreign Studies University in the PRC in 1975. Mr. Ma
served in various positions such as chairman, executive director,
general manager in certain large-scale joint ventures under China
Oil & Foodstuff Corporation. From January 1996 to June 2003, Mr.
Ma served as an executive director of China Foods Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 506). From
May 1997 to June 2003, Mr. Ma served as an executive director
and the managing director of China Foods Limited. From June
2000 to June 2003, Mr. Ma served as the deputy general manager
of China Foods Import and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. From June
2008 to January 2009, Mr. Ma was an executive director of Sino
Resources Group Limited (now known as Elife Holdings Limited),
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 223). From
March 2008 to 30 December 2021, he was an independent non-
executive director of Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (in
liquidation), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
886), and since 30 December 2021, he is an non-executive
director of Silver Base Group Holdings Limited. From 2 August
2009 to present, he is an independent non-executive director of
Sunac China Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1918). From September 2010 to August
2012, he was also the executive director, managing director and
chairman of Hao Tian Resources Group Limited (now known as
Hao Tian Development Group Limited), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 474). He was the senior consultant
in Hao Tian Development Group Limited from August 2012 to
August 2016. From March 2016 to February 2025, he is also an
independent non-executive director of SRE Group Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1207). From
August 2016 to present, he is an independent non-executive
director of Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 993).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu Dayou ("Mr. Yu"), aged 63, was appointed as the chief
technology officer of the Company on 1 May 2016. Mr. Yu has
over 30 years of experience in architectural design and property
industry. He has held technical management positions as Deputy
General Manager of Hunan Office of China Poly Property* (7 &
RFHE MR A 7)) and General Manager of Hunan Architectural
Design Institute. Mr. Yu graduated from Architectural Profession
University in 1989. He has led or involved in formulating
numerous local standards and has personally owned more than
40 patent rights. He also received 3 Elite Awards in Science
Technology* (#& Im Bt £ #% 1i7 #%). Mr. Yu is a Senior Engineer,
Certified Level-one Architect, an expert of Hunan Province
Committee of Experts of Engineering Construction
Standardisation* (& Ti2@2 R HZE(HKXEZ 8 <) and
an expert of Committee of Information Management of National
Construction Enterprise CIO Development Union* (Bl SR
COBRBBERENM ZEEZES)

* For identification purpose only

38  DIT Group Limited « 2024 Annual Report

BREEAS

MABRE(@ELE]D - 3m R_FT—"Fh
A—REZERARRRERERME - aitEHSR
MAFHRER T HEMETET LR - KE
EETPRRIBENEARBAEERAEERZ
ERFACBAEEERMEERMCT - AILER
“NINFRERSHERARBEE  REIRKL
2RZEMTIRESE - EAEBOBAEN
IREFREIRBRME - L RBRTIZE -
B — R EE M ELhm ~ i E TRERM T RE
CERZEEERLBEFREZELXRCIORRE A
EREMEBEXZEEER -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard
corporate governance practices as the Board considers that
good and effective corporate governance is essential for
enhancing accountability and transparency of a company to the
investing public and other stakeholders. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code") contained in Appendix C1 (previously known as Appendix
14) to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for
the following:

Code provision C.2.1 of the Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Guo
Weigiang, being the chief executive officer of the Company, was
appointed as the chairman of the Board on 26 January 2024.
Please refer to the section headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive” in this report for further details.

Save as disclosed above, the principles as set out in the Code
have been applied in our corporate governance structure
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024. The Board has
taken actions and measures to make sure that the Company is in
all aspects in strict compliance with the Listing Rules and the
Code. The current practices are reviewed and updated regularly
to be in line with the local and international corporate
governance practices.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix C3 (previously known as Appendix 10) to
the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. In response to the specific enquiry made
to all Directors by the Company, all the Directors confirmed that
they have fully complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

All the Directors are high caliber executives with diversified
industry expertise and bring a wide range of skills and experience
to the Group. As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprised three executive Directors, three non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors, whose
biographies are set out on pages 33 to 37 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed under the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management”, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships
between Board members, and in particular, between the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive
officer of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board maintained
a high level of independence, with one-third of the Board
comprised of independent non-executive Directors, who had
exercised independent judgement. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications whenever the names of Directors are disclosed.
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Meetings

The composition of the Board and the Directors’ respective
attendance in the general meeting and the Board meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

235
HE-_Z-_NF+_A=Z+—RILFENESFS
REBHAREESENRERGRESE ST
JERERINT ¢

Number of meetings
attended/held during the

respective tenure
REBERBBLEE
BITHEBRRY
General Board
meetings meetings
BRAE EZEESER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Liu Weixing 2EHELE 2/2 5/5
(resigned on 26 January 2024) (RZZEZF—AZ+AFT)
Mr. Guo Weigiang PR A 2/2 5/5
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFITHARE)

(appointed on 17 September 2019, re-

designated as Chairman on 26 January 2024)

Ms. Wang Jing

(appointed on 21 August 2020 and passed

away on 19 January 2025)
Ms. Wang Yuping
(appointed on 10 March 2025)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua)
(resigned on 14 June 2024)
Mr. Wang Jun
(appointed on 17 September 2019)
Mr. Guo lJianfeng
(appointed on 7 January 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Hongging
(appointed on 2 February 2015)
Mr. Lee Chi Ming
(appointed on 30 December 2014)
Mr. Ma Lishan
(appointed on 28 June 2016)

(RZE-—NFNAATEREZE B
—E-NF—AZ+ABRATAEERE)

T Hxt 2/2 5/5
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Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board has delegated the supervision of the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business to the executive
Directors. However, the Directors are collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by guiding and
monitoring the Company to achieve its strategic objectives. The
Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy and overall
strategy for the Group and to oversee the management’s
performance. Accordingly, the Board approves strategic plans,
major disposals and acquisitions, connected transactions and
other significant operational issues. Furthermore, Board meetings
may be held on occasions when a Board level decision on a
particular matter is required; otherwise daily operational
decisions as well as the implementation of the Board’s policies
and strategies are delegated to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.

Independent Views and Input

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. The
Board ensures the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors and at least one-third of its members
being independent non-executive directors. The nomination
committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”) strictly
adheres to the independence assessment criteria as set out in
the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment
of independent non-executive Directors, and the Board is
mandated to assess annually the independence of independent
non-executive Directors to ensure that they can continually
exercise independent judgement. No equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements will be granted to
independent non-executive Directors as this may lead to bias in
their decision-making and compromise their objectivity and
independence. In addition, independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve as the chairmen and majority members of
the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) , the
remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the Nomination Committee. Through
participation in Board meetings, providing valuable perspectives
to the Board discussions, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving on various

42 DIT Group Limited « 2024 Annual Report

EEHERE

EESCRENTESEEARREKNBEE
o AT BEEHFABERERAARNKNER -
HEEERERANRNEZTHRKEEIZ - EF
SXEBEEAAEEBITEEDCR - BEXRE
REBEREMRE - At - ESSHEMRELT
Z FEHERKE BEIIREMERLE
EH N BEEGNAEREEAREFEED
ARERBITEZG SR GRHEEEREUAR
HITEESENBRERBHAEERTESZUR
EEERE -

BUBMERR
ARBERIZAAARAERESS A EFEY
BHLER EFeRRZIRL=RBIIFH
TEEREFRL=DZ KB RBUIFNITE
Z-EFeRFZBC((REZBEDBERET
EHRAMEBBRRR LT EBLIFATESRN
BUMHEER EESURRESFHGEEL
FRTEZZEYE  BRRSFEFEFEL BT
HE - BIUFRITESY BERL THAERKRA
HEATERNRAEDRFH  ALAEEFMES
HHEARBREYZEEZEMENIBILIE - bbb -
BIUFRTESRNERERESSRAZES( R
HRER]) EFeyrMZBEe(FMEZEE))
RRAZBENIFEIARZHKE - BRSHEE
e REFSIwRHEEAE  FEE
BEEGNSZEREGRNEFEETLZEEE
ERY 2RBUIFNTETHART ZBRE
ESELER - BRI AARBBRN TN EHARE

1§



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRWE

Board committees, all independent non-executive Directors are
contributory to the effective running of the Company, and free to
express their views in an open and candid manner. The Chairman
annually holds meeting(s) with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors. Should the
circumstances require, independent non-executive Directors
have open access to interact with the management and other
Board members including the Chairman outside the boardroom.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remain informed and
relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skill.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the Directors were
provided with regular updates and presentations on changes and
developments of the Group’s business and the latest
developments in laws, rules and regulations relating to director’s
duties and responsibilities.

In addition, every newly appointed Director will receive an
induction on the first occasion of his or her appointment, so as to
ensure that he or she has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Company, and his or her
responsibilities under laws, regulations and especially the
governance policies of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, all of the Directors
confirmed that they have obtained sufficient continuous
professional development training.
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Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors
have participated in continuous professional training as follows:

REBEE_Z-_NF+_A=1+—HULEFE E=
E2MNFEZREFIERDOT

Type of
continuous professional

development training " @

Name of directors EEHR FEEXRRAIBR O
Mr. Liu Weixing RmELE A&B
Mr. Guo Weigiang 2L &R S A A&B
Ms. Wang Jing T Bzt A&B
Mr. Wang Jun T &RE A&B
Mr. Guo Jianfeng PR A A&B
Mr. Jiang Hongging EHERE A&B
Mr. Lee Chi Ming TEREE A&B
Mr. Ma Lishan SAVALIE TS A&B
Notes: st

(M A: Attending seminar(s), conference(s), forum(s) and/or training
course(s)

2 B: Reading materials provided by external parties or by the Company
including but not limited to updates relating to the Company’s business
or directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate governance and
regulatory update, Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the Code requires that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation, provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. As such,
the Company considers that such provision is sufficient to meet
the underlying objective of this code provision.

According to the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”),
Directors appointed to fill casual vacancies shall hold office until
the next following general meeting and can be eligible for re-
appointment at that time.
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Insurance of the Directors and Officers

The Company has bought liability insurance for Directors and
officers in respect of legal action against the Directors and
officers which is in compliance with code provision C.1.8 of the
Code.

Board Diversity Policy

Under code provision B.1.3 of the Code, the Board should review
the implementation and effectiveness of the Company’s policy
on Board diversity on an annual basis.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 1 January 2019 and reviewed the implementation of it
on an annual basis. The Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board and endeavors to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. In determining the optimum composition of the Board,
diversity of Board members will be considered from a number of
factors in order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of
talents, skills, experience and knowledge on the Board. The
Company will also take into account its own business model and
specific needs from time to time.

For the purpose of implementing the Board Diversity Policy, the
Board has set the following measurable objectives: (1) female
Directors will continue to play a significant role in the Company
and the Board will ensure there is a balance of male and female
representation at Board level; (2) the Board will continue to
comprise of members with working experience in other
industries and knowledge and skills in different aspects; and (3)
the Board will continue to comprise of members from different
age groups.
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The Board currently consists of one female Director and six male
Directors, and Directors are at ages ranging from 44 to 74 years
old with three of them between the age group of 40-49, two of
them between the age group of 50-59 and the remaining two at
the age over 70, serving on the Board for different tenures. The
current Board members are well-experienced in different areas
including banking and finance, digital construction, real estate,
business operation and capital market. In view of the present size
of the Board and the Group's operations and the nature of the
risks and challenges it faces, the Board considers that the
Company has achieved gender diversity as the Board has two
female members and has struck a right balance of skills,
experience and knowledge among the present Board members,
hence the above measurable objectives of the Board Diversity
Policy have been satisfactorily implemented and that there is
sufficient diversity in the Board for the Company’s corporate
governance and business development needs. Further, the
Company has one male senior management in the age group of
60-69 with extensive experience in architectural design and
property. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a 3.5:1 ratio of
male and female in the workforce. The Group will strive to
maintain a balance of gender diversity when recruiting and
selecting key management and other personnel across the
Group's operations.

Following the passing away of Ms. Wang Jing in January 2025, the
Board becomes a single-gender Board, which does not meet the
requirements under Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules for diversity of
Board members. With the appointment of Ms. Wang Yuping as
executive Director in March 2025, the Company has complied
with the requirements under 13.92 of the Listing Rules.

Board Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall endeavor to find individuals of
high integrity who have a solid record of accomplishment in their
chosen fields and who possess the qualifications, qualities and
skills to effectively represent the best interests of the Company
and its Shareholders. Candidates will be selected for their ability
to exercise good judgment, and to provide practical insights and
diverse perspectives. Candidates will also be assessed in the
context of the then-current composition of the Board and the
operating requirements of the Group. In conducting this
assessment, the Nomination Committee will, in connection with
its assessment and recommendation of candidates for Director,
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consider diversity (including, but not limited to, gender, race,
ethnicity, age, experience and skills) and such other factors as it
deems appropriate given the then-current and anticipated future
needs of the Board and the Company, and to maintain a balance
of perspectives, qualifications, qualities and skills on the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria,
which are not exhaustive, in recommending to the Board
potential new Board members, or the continued service of
existing members:

—  reputation for integrity

— accomplishment and professional knowledge and industry
experience which may be relevant to the Company

— commitment in respect of available time

— merit and potential contributions that such candidate could
bring to the Board with reference to the Company'’s Board
Diversity Policy (as adopted and amended by the Board
from time to time), including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, independence, skills, knowledge and length of
service

— in case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, to assess: (i) the independence of
such candidate with reference to, among other things, the
independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and (i) the guidance and requirements relating to
independent non-executive directors as set out in code
provision B.3.4 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and in
the “Corporate Governance Guide for Boards and Directors”
published by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

— Board succession planning considerations and the long-
term needs of the Company
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision C.2.1 of the Code states that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Chairman
provides leadership for the Board and ensures that the Board
works effectively and discharges its responsibility whilst the chief
executive officer of the Company has overall chief executive
responsibility for the Group's business development and day-to-
day management generally.

Mr. Guo Weigiang, being the chief executive officer of the
Company, was appointed as chairman of the Board on 26 January
2024. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer in the same person can
facilitate the execution of the Group’s business strategies and
boost effectiveness of its operation. In addition, under the
supervision of the Board which includes two non-executive
Directors, and three independent non-executive Directors, the
Board is appropriately structured with balance of power to
provide sufficient checks to protect the interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The Company may seek to re-comply with
code provision C.2.1 by identifying and appointing a suitable and
qualified candidate to the position of the chief executive officer
or the chairman in due course by considering the business needs
and developments of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has set up the Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference which clearly deal with its authorities
and duties. The primary role and function of the Audit Committee
is to assist the Board in providing an independent review of the
Group's financial reporting and risk management and internal
control systems as well as the internal and external audit
functions.

The Audit Committee currently comprises all of the three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Jiang Hongging,
Mr. Lee Chi Ming and Mr. Ma Lishan. The composition and
members of the Audit Committee comply with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Lee Chi Ming is an
independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional accounting qualification as required under Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
held six meetings to review with the management the Group's
adopted accounting principles and practices, internal controls
and financial reporting matters in conjunction with the external
auditors, including reviews of the half-year and annual financial
results and reports. The Audit Committee has also discussed on
the financial, operational and compliance controls in particular
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget. The Audit Committee has
not taken a different view from the Board regarding the selection
and re-appointment of the external auditors. The attendance of
each member of the Audit Committee is set out below:

EXRELRHRS
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Name of Members

Number of meetings attended

REEHE HESBERE
Mr. Lee Chi Ming (Chairman) TERLEE(EE) 6/6
Mr. Jiang Hongging EHRERE 6/6
Mr. Ma Lishan B EAE 5/6

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and the independent auditor of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
has discussed the auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including a review of the annual results and
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee with specific
written terms of reference which clearly deal with its authorities
and duties. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis (including the skills, knowledge and experience), to
recommend to the Board on the selection of suitable candidates
for directorships and on the succession planning for the
Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises one executive
Director, namely Mr. Guo Weigiang; and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Jiang Hongging and Mr. Lee Chi
Ming.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure and
composition and the succession plan of the Board, and to
evaluate and make recommendations on individuals nominated
for directorship. The attendance of each member of the
Nomination Committee is set out below:
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ZEEBRITReH USKREZTSHNEE -

&&%Eﬁﬂ I#ﬂk%§$Lﬁﬁf&hﬁ
c BRIRBEEEKEMLERENT ¢

Name of Members

Number of meetings attended

RERB HESBERE
Mr. Guo Weigiang (Chairman) SESR A (FE) N/A
(appointed on 26 January 2024) (RZZZmF—A =+ BEZE) TiE A
Mr. Liu Weixing REEKLE 11
(resigned on 26 January 2024) (R=ZZE—NF—A =+ HET)
Mr. Jiang Hongaing EHRERE 11
Mr. Lee Chi Ming FEREAE 1/1
Remuneration Committee FMEEE
The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee with AABEKLFMEE S - WHK RS € E A
specific written terms of reference which clearly deal with its ~ HEERHIIEENRBE - FHEZEENTEBER
authorities and duties. The primary duties of the Remuneration FARAIZEEERSREE A BB EH N
committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the K &2 - BREFeENE - RIKeEMN REE

overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors
and senior management of the Company, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment, and make recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee should consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors, and ensure no Director or any of his associates
may be involved in any decisions as to his own remuneration.

From 2024 onwards, the Remuneration Committee will also
review the share option scheme and other share schemes (if any)
of the Company on annual basis. During the year ended 31
December 2024, since there was no share option granted under
the share option scheme of the Company, no material matter
relating to the share option scheme has been reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one executive
Director, namely Mr. Guo Weigiang, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Jiang Hongging and Mr. Lee Chi
Ming.

50

DIT Group Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report

T (BRBARRUIEBBERZENRE) AES
é—ﬁf’ﬁﬂj?&%%é CWHIFMTEENTMEES
SRHEZ FTHZEQRZEENEREE [
iﬁ’&ﬁ?iﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂ%ﬁ% EEMERMEELREBE X
REFHEEMBEANA 228G EEEAR
BEYERDRTE ©

B-ZF_NFE FHZESTeEFRIAR
i%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ*ééﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁ@ﬂxhﬁ%ﬂ(ﬁﬂﬁ) a:t—
ZNE+_A=+—BHILEFE  BARAEARA
ﬂﬁ?f&?ﬂﬁﬂx%ﬁriﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬂx% el @ﬂé,\a
i BERETEAEMEARSTER -

FNEZEeREm - RRTES (RIFEREL)
KMBEIIFNTES (AIERERERFERE
)R -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRWE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out below:

BE_ZT_NF+_A=T—"BLFE FMZ
BEgRT-RE3 UBRATEFLSRER
ABHFHMEATR SHFMEESKENHE
FCEREAT

Name of Members

Number of meetings attended

REBE HEEERE
Mr. Jiang Hongaing (Chairman) ERELRE(EE) 11
Mr. Guo Weigiang FREE A N/A
(appointed on 26 January 2024) (RZZZmF—A =+ BEZE) AN iE A
Mr. Liu Weixing RFELE
(resigned on 26 January 2024) (RZZEZWF— A=+ AET) 11
Mr. Lee Chi Ming TERREE 11

The existing Remuneration Committee will continue to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management of
the Group, and to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

All Directors are entitled to a fee as approved by the Board with
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Executive Directors
are entitled to fees, salaries, housing allowances, other
allowances, benefits in kind (including contribution to the pension
scheme on behalf of our Directors) or discretionary bonuses,
which are determined by the Board having regard to the Group’s
performance and the prevailing market conditions and approved
by the remuneration committee of the Company. Details of
Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of five highest paid
individuals of the Company (including senior management of the
Group) are set out in Notes 12 and 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for ensuring sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Shareholders’ interests and the Company's assets. The Board
has the responsibility to evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and to ensure the Company establishes and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group conducts
an annual review on whether there is a need for an internal audit
department. Given the Group’s simple operating structure, as
opposed to a separate internal audit department, the Board is
directly responsible for internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness. It formulates the annual internal audit
plan and procedures, conducts periodic independent reviews on
the operations of individual divisions to identify any irregularities
and risks, develops action plans and recommendations to
address the identified risks.

The Board conducts a review on the risk management and
internal control system of the Group on an annual basis and has
the responsibility to maintain an effective risk management and
internal control system. The review involves all material
monitoring aspects, including but not limited to finance,
operation, compliance and risk management. The Board also
reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that
the systems in place are adequate. The Group's internal control
system is comprised of a system of controlled management
wherein various authoritative limits are placed to ensure that the
Group is able to supervise, control and assess various functions
within Group. The system further permits the Group to safeguard
its accounting records to minimise material errors in order to
provide financial information as accurately as possible.
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The Company has implemented its anti-corruption and bribery
policy which provides guidance to employees of the Group on
how to recognise and deal with bribery and corruption. Any
employee found guilty of misconduct such as fraud, dishonesty
or serious neglect of duty will be summarily dismissed. The
Company has also implemented its whistleblowing policy, which
is intended to encourage and enable employees of the Group
and those who deal with the Company (e.g. customers and
suppliers) to report or raise concerns about, in confidence and
anonymity, violations or suspected violations or any possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting, internal control or
other matters to the Audit Committee. Any person who is found
to have victimized or retaliated against those who have reported
or raised concerns under the whistleblowing policy will be
subjected to disciplinary sanctions.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Meanwhile, the Company handles and disseminates
the inside information according to the related policy to ensure
that the inside information is kept confidential before being
approved for dissemination and the relevant information will be
released effectively and conformably.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company engaged
an external independent consultant to conduct a review on the
internal control system of the Group in order to maintain high
standards of corporate governance. The Board has also reviewed
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company'’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting function. Based on the
above, the Board is of the view that the Company has established
a proper risk management and internal control system which is
effective and adequate.

AUDITORS AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The auditor of the Company for the financial year under review is
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. During the year ended 31
December 2024, remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the auditor of the Company to the Group
was approximately HK$2,465,000 and nil respectively.
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DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024. The auditor of the Company acknowledges its
reporting responsibilities in the auditor’s report on the financial
statement during the year ended 31 December 2024. Save as the
conditions disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, details of which are set out on pages 98 to 101, the
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as going concern. Accordingly, the
Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements of the Company. The
statement made by the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 83 to 89
of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsang Ho Pong was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) since 14 June 2017. He
is full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
reports to the Chairman and is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and facilitating communication
between Board members, the Shareholders and management of
the Company. For the year under review, the company secretary
has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Rights to convene special general meetings

(1) Under the Company'’s bye-laws
Pursuant to Bye-law 62 of the Company’s bye-laws, a
special general meeting (“SGM") shall be convened on
requisition by Shareholders of the Company, as provided
by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (the
“Companies Act”), or, in default, may be convened by the
requisitionists.
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Under the Companies Act

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act, a
Shareholder or Shareholders holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the
deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company may requisition the Directors to forthwith
proceed duly to convene a SGM by depositing a written
requisition at the registered office of the Company.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting (including the resolutions to be considered at the
meeting), signed by the requisitionists, deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th
Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by
one or more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene a SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition.

A SGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

Rights to put forward proposals at general meetings
Shareholders may put forward proposals at general
meetings of the Company pursuant to the provisions of the
Companies Act as follows:

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
Shareholder(s) to requisition the Company to give notice to
the Shareholders in respect of any resolution which is
intended to be moved at an annual general meeting of the
Company ("AGM") or circulate a statement in respect of
any proposed resolution or business to be considered at a
general meeting of the Company.
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Under Section 79 of the Companies Act, at the expense of
the requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves,
it shall be the duty of the Company on the requisition in
writing by such number of Shareholders:

@)

to give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting.

to circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than one thousand words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The number of Shareholders necessary to make the above
requisitions to the Company shall be:

(@a)

either any number of Shareholders representing not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all
the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition
a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or

not less than one hundred Shareholders. Notice of
any such intended resolution shall be given, and any
such statement shall be circulated, to Shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each
such Shareholder in any manner permitted for service
of notice of the meeting, and notice of any such
resolution shall be given to any other Shareholder by
giving notice of the general effect of the resolution in
any manner permitted for giving him notice of
meetings of the Company, provided that the copy
shall be served, or notice of the effect of the
resolution shall be given, as the case may be, in the
same manner and, so far as practicable, at the same
time as notice of the meeting and, where it is not
practicable for it to be served or given at that time, it
shall be served or given as soon as practicable
thereafter.
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Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions to RNAEVEEBORE A AR & A E T A

be met before the Company is bound to give notice of any SRR B A S E BT PR A E AT A E B A E

resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to o IRIBNTLAFEL0IE » NATIHBBERIES

Section 80 of the Companies Act, the Company shall not be 79GPl 2 A BT AR Z R A B A5 E 6]

bound under Section 79 to give notice of any resolution or PRI E - BRIE

to circulate any statement unless:

(@) acopy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, (@ RTiEEE—THEEFEARENRE
or two or more copies which between contain the FEMOTALHELESBASZT
signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at the HEB)EXEARRAINGEMHERE
registered office of the Company:

(i)  inthe case of a requisition requiring notice of a ) MBEERLRERBENNI
resolution, not less than six weeks before the B AIERBEeRRTAN D
meeting; and RNEZE &

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less iy MBEMEMZE - BAREH
than one week before the meeting; and EHRBTATNOR—EE8 : &

(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition a b) BEZEBEIXGHT —ERHERF]
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s AEEMNEEREIEAREEMELSHF
expense in giving effect thereto; X EIFRIA

provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring BEBEEREARAZRBENZEBFERER

notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered NEFEMREREZ  BRBFREEERZ

office of the Company, an AGM is called for a date six EFBEANEEZ2RABRENBAEXEEH &

weeks or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy B2 AWIEE FMEFRRNIER - B

though not deposited within the abovementioned time shall
be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

B

RME - MEEFERERER® °

Rights to put enquiries to the Board EEEBEEHE AT

Shareholders may at any time put enquiries to the Board. All  REAIFERAESSIEHEA - TEEAHYEN
enquiries shall be in writing and be sent by post to the principal ZEHANBHFERRAFTNEBH T B L E i 2 (4
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Units 1602—  #t& & LBE PR E R B 25508 BB B AE2
1605, 16/F, Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, 25 Canton Road,  FE 1648 1602-1605 %) o & B IR A] AN A BIR% 5K
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Shareholders may also make & mEZSREEH -

enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the

Company.

—BoNEEE RREENEEEERAT 57



|

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEARE

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with its
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors” understanding of the Group's business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with its Shareholders. To ensure that the
Shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company and to manage its relationship
with its Shareholders and the investment community, the
Company communicates through publication of announcements,
circulars and annual and interim reports. Such information is
disseminated through the Stock Exchange at its designated
website (http://www.hkexnews.hk), and can also be accessed via
the Company's website (http://dit.aconnect.com.hk). The
Company's corporate information is also made available on the
Company’s website. In addition, annual and special general
meetings provide a forum for the Shareholders to make
comments and exchange views with the Directors and senior
management. The Company keeps on promoting investor
relations and enhancing communication with the existing
Shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions,
inquiries and questions about the Company from investors,
stakeholders and the public to the Company by email at
ir@cmdrawin.com, or by post to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong, or by raising questions at general
meetings. Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company's branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited. The
Directors, Company Secretary and other appropriate members of
the senior management will also respond to inquiries from the
Shareholders and the investment community put to the Company
in the manner as mentioned under the heading “Shareholders’
Rights” in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ communication policy on an annual basis and
considered it to be effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not
make any changes to the memorandum of association of the
Company and Bye-laws, the current versions of which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting the Company’s annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are prefabricated
construction work, granting licenses, consulting services, sales of
equipment, decoration and landscaping services in the People’s
Republic of China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group'’s revenue is derived primarily from business activities
conducted in Hong Kong and mainland China.

A fair review of the Group's business, including a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company, the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of 2024 and the likely future developments, is set out in
the Business Review and Financial Review sections of this annual
report.

Disclosure related to the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and relationships with major stakeholders are
included in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The profit and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 90 to 96.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

EEMAR
T+ A=t BLEFENKERES
WK o

EXRRFNFHRARAEEHE—F
B1 7%

e

AEENTEEBANPEARRNBERERES
REARETR  HTENRIMERE - R
% HERME  RAHTNEMRIR -

EE R

AEENRATERAERER LT EAMETH
E 7

BERASERD (BREAEYARRHANERE
S RTHARENEL T MERELTY
REBERFENERNFM AT HHIRAORKE
RS EIE - SN A RE @ EEA R
RESEN -

ERASERREBRRLRRAUARETZRHNEDN
BAEROBRBEENENERE e RE/RRE &0 -

MIBRE
AEEBE-T-ME+-A=+—HLEEY

/ﬁlﬂ:'J&fﬁé/;|bgb/(&$$@§ﬁi$ﬁﬁjﬁégi H E"]%
AR B E 90 £ 96 B HIAR & BB IRE A ©

&2
EETRAREBE_FT-_MF+-A=+—8
IHFENEMRE(CE-=F &) -

—E-MEER EREENFEEERAT 59



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For Determining the Eligibility to Attend and Vote at
the Annual General Meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 16 May 2024 to Tuesday, 21 May 2024, both dates
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 14 May 2024.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The forthcoming 2025 AGM is expected to be held on Tuesday,

20 May 2025. A notice convening the 2025 AGM will be published
in due course in the manner required by the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities

of the Group for the last five financial years/period is set out on
page 232.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group revalued its investment
properties by using the combinations of an income capitalisation
approach and a direct comparison approach. The fair value
remained unchanged (31 December 2023: fair value remained
unchanged).

Details of the investment properties of the Group are set out in
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
statement of changes in equity on page 94 and Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company'’s distributable reserves
were HK$126,931,000 (31 December 2023: distributable reserves
HK$126,931,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the listed securities of the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GUO Weigiang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LIU Weixing (resigned on 26 January 2024)

Ms. WANG Jing (passed away on 19 January 2025)

Ms. WANG Yuping (appointed on 10 March 2025)

Non-executive Director:

Ms. WU Wallis (alias Li Hua) (resigned on 14 June 2024)
Mr. WANG Jun

Mr. GUO lJianfeng

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. JJANG Hongging

Mr. LEE Chi Ming

Mr. MA Lishan

The Company has received from each of the existing
independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Directors and Officers Liability Insurance undertaken by the
Company provides an indemnity to all the directors of the
Company under which every Director will be indemnified by the
Company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and
liabilities incurred by him in the execution and discharge of his
duties or in relation thereto. Such insurance has been in force
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and as of the
date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Guo Weigiang has entered into a service contract with the
Company pursuant to which he agreed to act as an executive
Director for a term of three years with effect from 3 May 2022.
Ms. Wang Jing has entered into a service contract with the
Company pursuant to which Ms. Wang Jing agreed to act as
executive Director for a term of three years with effect from 3
May 2022. Ms. Wang Yuping has entered into a service contract
with the Company pursuant to which Ms. Wang Yuping agreed to
act as executive Director for a term of three years with effect
from 10 March 2025.

Mr. Wang Jun has signed a letter of appointment dated 16
September 2022 with the Company pursuant to which he agreed
to act as non-executive Director for a term of three years with
effect from 17 September 2022. Mr. Guo Jianfeng has signed a
letter of appointment dated 7 January 2022 with the Company
pursuant to which he agreed to act as non-executive Director for
a term of three years with effect from 7 January 2022.

Mr. Ma Lishan has signed a letter of appointment dated 21
August 2023 with the Company pursuant to which he agreed to
act as independent non-executive Director for a term of three
years with effect from 21 August 2023. Mr. Lee Chi Ming has
signed a letter of appointment dated 21 August 2023 with the
Company pursuant to which he agreed to act as independent
non-executive Director for a term of three years with effect from
21 August 2023. Mr. Jiang Hongging has signed a letter of
appointment dated 14 June 2022 with the Company pursuant to
which he agreed to act as independent non-executive Director
for a term of three years with effect from 30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, no Director has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emolument of the Directors
are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to the Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme are set in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
individuals with the highest remuneration are set out in Notes 12
and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) pursuant to the MPF Schemes Ordinance for its
employees in Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in Hong
Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to consolidated income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the
applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in a state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the local
government. Our employees are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the following Directors and chief
executives of the Company had or were deemed to have
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")) which
(i) have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) have been entered
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) otherwise have been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code to
the Listing Rules.
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of
the Company
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Percentage

Name of Director or Number of Number of of the Issued

chief executive Capacity Share Options held Shares held Share Capital

HEE&IT

EEYRRTHRAEHEE 5147 BFEBREZR BERGHAE BAEABS

(note 2) (note 1)

(Hiat2) (Hiat 1)

Mr. Guo Weigiang Director 21,000,000 2,930,000 0.77%
PR8I A 5%

Ms. Wang Jing Director 8,000,000 - 0.26%
T BT o

Notes: Bt

1. It was based on 3,101,095,730 Shares as at 31 December 2024.

2. Such interest in the Shares is held pursuant to the share options
granted under the New Scheme (as defined below), the details of which
are disclosed on pages 70 to 73.

Save as disclosed above or under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below, as at 31 December 2024, so far as is
known to any Director or the chief executive of the Company,
none of the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a)
were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange; (b)
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements and under the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in this annual report, no contract,
transaction or arrangement of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or
an entity connected with any Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements and under the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in this annual report, no contract of
significance had been entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2024 and no contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the
controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
all or any substantial part of the Group’s business was entered
into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHT
TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or their respective spouses or minor children to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, as far as known to the Directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had the
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of
the Company

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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EERRNRGRAEARGIESR

R

RZZEZMF+—A=+—H BEZLAQA
BRIBABHM  THAB(BEZIARRES
TTERABBRIN) RAR TR, KA D EER
BEE R EIEH BEXVERE 2 K30 S IE A M
RRARBEENRIEEF REABEEIIEIB6HEAR
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RAEXTRGRAEABROFFENGTR

Percentage of

Number of the Issued

Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares held Share Capital

HE T

REREHE 14 BEROHE RABDL

(note 1)

(Frat1)

Jiayao Global Investments Limited (“Jiayao”)  Beneficial owner 1,470,110,000 47.41%
=R (ER)REFERAT([FZR]) E=AA

Jiamin (Holding) Investment Limited Beneficial owner 80,000,000 2.58%
ERX(ER)KREBRLDA EmBEAA

Jianuo (Holding) Investment Limited Beneficial owner 77,500,000 2.50%
o (BER)IKREBR A EmEAA

Jiaxin (Holding) Investment Limited Beneficial owner 68,500,000 2.21%
=iz (ER)IREBR LA EnlAA

Jiaheng (Holding) Investment Limited Beneficial owner 67,250,000 2.17%
RH(ERIKREFRAA E=BAA

Jiacheng (Holding) Investment Limited Beneficial owner 16,250,000 0.52%
A (ZER)REBR LA EmBEAA

Jialing (International) Investment Limited Interest of controlled corporation 309,500,000 9.98%

ER(ER)REARAR

X NEER

TECNFEFR e EREENREBARLF
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Percentage of

Number of the Issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares held Share Capital
LB 1T
BREEE g1 BFERGOEE BABS L
(note 1)
(Ktzt1)
Jiayao Interest of controlled corporation 309,500,000 9.98%
=2 RN T
Jiaye Summit Global Investment Limited Interest of controlled corporation 1,779,610,000 57.39%
=& (BB REFR AT RN
Drawin Intelligent Manufacture Technology Interest of controlled corporation 1,779,610,000 57.39%
Industry Group Limited R U/NGI
EREENEEEEBBRAR
Henan Drawin Intelligent Manufacture Interest of controlled corporation 1,779,610,000 57.39%
Technology Industry Group Limited RN
AEREENBEEXSEBR AR
Henan Hongdao Business Information Interest of controlled corporation 1,779,610,000 57.39%
Consultancy Company Limited RN
RS EREBERHRAERAA
Henan Jianye Business Information Interest of controlled corporation 1,779,610,000 57.39%
Consultancy Company Limited SR /NCE
FRRERBEEFZRNERAA
Construction Development (H.K) Company Interest of controlled corporation 1,779,610,000 57.39%
Limited SN RER
BERR(BEB)ERRA
Construction Housing Group Company Interest of controlled corporation 1,779,610,000 57.39%
Limited SN TR
BEFTEEEBRAT
Jianye Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 1,779,610,000 57.39%
BEZERERATA IR TR (notes 2 and 3)
(Hfat2k3)
Joy Bright Investments Limited Beneficial owner 245,567,425 7.92%
BEREERAA Em#EA A (notes 2 and 3)
(Hfat2k3)
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Percentage of

Number of the Issued

Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares held Share Capital

LB 1T

BEREE g4 BERGHAE BAEABS L

(note 1)

(Ftat1)

Mr. Wu Po Sum Interest of controlled corporation 2,025,177,425 65.31%
HEAREE SR U/NE (notes 2 and 3)
(K1iz2 & 3)

Youdao Development International Beneficial owner 1,624,345,000 52.38%
(Hong Kong) Limited EmHEB A (note 3)
BEERBR(FE)ARAF (Bta£3)

Henan Tongsheng Real Estate Co., Ltd Interest of controlled corporation 1,624,345,000 52.38%
AHRREXERAA SN AR (note 3)
(Bta£3)

Henan Railway Construction & Investment Interest of controlled corporation 1,624,345,000 52.38%
Group Co., Ltd. RN (note 3)
A HERERREEBAER AR (K37E3)

Glodon (Hong Kong) Software Limited Beneficial owner 300,000,000 9.67%

EHE (BB BEER AR Ema A
Glodon Company Limited (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporation 300,000,000 9.67%

EMEMRBEOBR AR (HE4)

Notes:

1. It was based on 3,101,095,730 Shares as at 31 December 2024. 1.

2. Mr. Wu Po Sum holds 100% of the issued share capital of Joy Bright 2.
Investments Limited and Jianye Holdings Limited.

3. Youdao Development International (Hong Kong) Limited (a wholly- 3.
owned subsidiary of Henan Tongsheng Real Estate Co., Ltd, which is in
turn wholly-owned by Henan Railway Construction & Investment Group
Co., Ltd.) acquired a security interest in 1,624,345,000 Shares from

corporations controlled by Mr. Wu Po Sum.

4. Glodon Company Limited is a company established under the laws of 4.
the PRC with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002410).

SR YNEIL 3
ffet -

R —ZE - WE+ = f=+—HH3,101,095,730 &
RADFTE -

HERAERBEREREARAR MEXERERA
AN MEBITRA

FEREAR(BB)BERAR(AIBERREXER
ARINEZEMBRR - M mRAREEARD RS
FMEEERREEEERARLSEES) ARERE
Ao 0 K BB 1,624,345,000 A% A% 15 FO I R A o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) who had any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to
be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 7 August
2013 (the “0Old Scheme”) was terminated pursuant to an ordinary
resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company on 17 July
2020. A new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) in place
of the Old Scheme was adopted pursuant to such resolution with
effect from 17 July 2020 which has a term of 10 years. The
purpose of the New Scheme is to provide participants with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and
to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value
of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole. The New Scheme will provide
the Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivising,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to participants.

Under the New Scheme, the employees of the Group (including
the executive Directors) and such other persons as the Board
may consider appropriate may be granted options which entitle
them to subscribe for Shares representing, when aggregated
with any Shares subject to any other scheme(s) of the Company,
up to a maximum of 10% of the Shares in issue of the Company
as at 17 July 2020, unless the Company obtains a fresh approval
from the Shareholders to renew the limit as described below or
the Shareholders specifically approve the grant.

The amount payable by a grantee on acceptance of a grant of the
option within 10 business days from the date on which the letter
containing the offer is delivered to him is HK$1.00 (or its
equivalent in RMB or any other currency acceptable to the
Company).
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The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted and to be granted pursuant
to the New Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company to each participant in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant of the options must not exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue. Any further grant of options
which would result in the number of the Shares issued as
aforesaid exceeding the said 1% limit must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting at which such participant and
his or her associates must abstain from voting.

Any grant of share options to a participant who is a Director,
chief executive, or substantial Shareholder or any of their
respective associate must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors, excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the share options.

The exercise periods of the share options may be specified by
the Company at the time of the grant, which shall not exceed 10
years from the relevant date of the grant subject to provisions of
early termination thereof. The Board at its discretion may impose
such terms and conditions of the grant on a case-by-case basis
including but not limited to the minimum period for which the
share options must be held or the performance target which
must be achieved before the share options can be vested. As at
the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the New Scheme is 127,300,000,
representing approximately 4.11% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this annual report.

The subscription price for the Shares under the New Scheme
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and
notified to a participant, provided that such price shall be at least
and the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of a
share option which must be a trading day; (i) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet for the five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share (whichever is the highest).

The New Scheme will expire on 16 July 2030.

No shares option have been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Old Scheme.
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Movement of share options granted by the Company under the REZ-_Z-_E+_A=+—HIFFERXN ' &
New Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2024 was as A FREFT 2B LERE SFHNT ¢
follows:

Exercise  Vesting Asat  Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed Asat
Name or category of price period 1 January during (uring during (uring 31 December
participants Date of grant per Share  (Note 1) 2024  theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 2024
1.3
R w13 128
SREH AR RiBH ERORE  (WE1) -B-B  FRRE  ERAR  FAEE  FARR =t-R
Directors
Bz
Mr. Liu Weixing 30 Novernber 2020 HKS1.09 6 years from 28,000,000 - - - (hee6e00) 23333334
the date of grant
S ZEITEF-ACHR O 109BT BRNASRE
Mr. GUo Weigiang 30 November 2020 HKS1.09 10years from 21,000,000 - - - (21000000 18,900,000
the date of grant
Eil P ZEIRET-ACTA 109BT ARMAHRI0E
Ms. Wang Jing 30 Novernber 2020 HKS1.09 10 years from 8,000,000 - - - (800,000 7,200,000
the date of grant
T gt ZEITET-ACTA 1098 ARMAHRI0E
Senior management and other 30 November 2020 HKS$1.09 10years from 56,670,000 - - (70700000 (49600000 44,640,000
employees of the Group the date of grant (Note 2)
(3t2)

TRERREEARRAMER —T-RET-A-TR 1AL ARLAE0E

30 November 2020 HK$1.09 6 years from 10,600,000 - - - (1766660 8833334
the date of grant (Note 2)
(H32)
“ECEET-RZHR 109Bn BRLABRE
127,300,000 - - (7000000 (17,323332) 102,906,668
Notes: W -

1. The share options granted will vest annually in equal instalments over 1. BHNBERESERBEHNGFUSEIARE

the vesting period subject to the achievements of the applicable BEINBANEEESTESESgME —BF
performance targets and the Board's approval. Once vested, the share B BRiET 8RB R BE=FAITE -

options are exercisable within 3 years from the vesting date.

2. The exercise price per Share underlying the cancelled share options 2. WHUER BRI S R BRITEB R 1.09%8 T
was HK$1.09.
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The number of options available for grant under the mandate of
the New Scheme (taking into account the number of options
lapsed) was 100,843,405 and 118,166,737 as at 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024 respectively. The Company did not grant
any share options during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Additional information in relation to the New Scheme is set out in
Note 33 to the financial statements of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Patent Licence Agreements

On 26 November 2021, Drawin Intelligent Manufacture
Technology Investment Limited (“Drawin Investment”) (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), as licensor, entered
into the 2021 Patent Licence Agreement with Drawin
Construction Technology, as licensee, for the grant of the right to
use the 2021 Licensed Patents in the PRC by Drawin Investment
to Drawin Construction Technology for the period commencing
from 26 November 2021 to 25 November 2026. The licence fee
payable by Drawin Construction Technology to Drawin
Investment for the right of use of 2021 Licensed Patents is
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$36,565,000). The
licence fee under the 2021 Patent Licence Agreement is arrived
at after arm’s length negotiation between the parties with
reference to, among other factors, the market price range of
patents comparable to the 2021 Licensed Patents offered in the
market and the prevailing market condition. As disclosed in the
announcement dated 26 November 2021, the Company is
required under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules to set an annual
caps in respect of the license fee under the 2021 Patent Licence
Agreement. Accordingly, such annual caps in respect of the
license fee under the 2021 Patent Licence Agreement over the
term has been determined to be RMB30,000,000, RMBO, RMBO,
RMBO, RMBO and RMBO for the year ended 31 December 2021,
31 December 2022, 31 December 2023, 31 December 2024, 31
December 2025 and 31 December 2026 respectively (equivalent
to approximately HK$36,565,000, HK$0, HK$0, HK$0, HK$O and
HK$0).
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On 29 June 2022, Drawin Investment (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company), as licensor, entered into the 2022
Patent Licence Agreement | with Henan Drawin Labour Center
Construction Development Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Henan
Drawin Construction Labour Co., Ltd.) (“"Henan Drawin Labour”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Henan Drawin Labour Group”),
as licensee, for the grant of the right to use the 2022 Licensed
Patents | in Henan Province, the PRC by Drawin Investment to
Henan Drawin Labour for the period commencing from 29 June
2022 to 28 June 2025. The licence fee payable by Henan Drawin
Labour to Drawin Investment for the right of use of 2022 Licensed
Patents | is RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,556,000). The licence fee under the 2022 Patent Licence
Agreement | is arrived at after arm’s length negotiation between
the parties with reference to, among other factors, the market
price range of patents comparable to the 2022 Licensed Patents |
offered in the market and the prevailing market condition. As
disclosed in the announcement dated 29 June 2022, the
Company is required under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules to set
an annual caps in respect of the license fee under the 2022
Patent Licence Agreement I. Accordingly, such annual caps in
respect of the license fee under the 2022 Patent Licence
Agreement | over the term has been determined to be
RMB15,000,000, RMBO, RMBO and RMBO for the year ended 31
December 2022, 31 December 2023, 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2025 respectively (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,556,000, HK$0, HK$0 and HK$0).

On 29 June 2022, Drawin Investment (an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company), as licensor, entered into the 2022
Patent Licence Agreement Il with Drawin Construction Design, as
licensee, for the grant of the right to use the 2022 Licensed
Patents Il in Hunan Province, the PRC by Drawin Investment to
Drawin Construction Design for the period commencing from 29
June 2022 to 28 June 2025. The licence fee payable by Drawin
Construction Design to Drawin Investment for the right of use of
2022 Licensed Patents Il is RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$17,556,000). The licence fee under the 2022
Patent Licence Agreement Il is arrived at after arm’s length
negotiation between the parties with reference to, among other
factors, the market price range of patents comparable to the
2022 Licensed Patents I offered in the market and the prevailing
market condition. As disclosed in the announcement dated 29
June 2022, the Company is required under Rule 14A.53 of the
Listing Rules to set an annual caps in respect of the license fee
under the 2022 Patent Licence Agreement Il. Accordingly, such

74 DIT Group Limited s 2024 Annual Report

RZBZZFRAZTNB ARG ZHERZEA
MEARSERSERE(EABREAN) BEER
TRAREERERER AR (A EERESE
BHERAR) (HDIMERTIRE]  EREMNBA
B OTEERTIFESE])(EAEREAN)R]
VT _FENEERE — BERTERE
MEERIER TEREIEEER S
FREEN BN BRE-_T__F<A
—t+thBRE_ZFE-_RAFAAA=-F+ B A
ERIFR B —FREZF —FREEMRE
REEREXNHNEEE R A K 15,000,000 7T
(FBE R 4)17,556,000/870) - —F — —FHFIK
EHE B TEREEBLIORA2ZE(HPaE)m
GRETECR S —FEEEN—2FFm
BEEARBITMRE R FERENR - A
BIEZZFRAZTHBENAEMEE 3=
S _FENEREHZE-ETREBMNS - AR
BIZEMRE EMRAIFE UAS KRR EFELR - B
It BE T _F+HA=1T—H -ZF==
FH+Z_A=+—H ZZE_WF+=ZA=4+— E
RZE_RF+A=1+T—HIEFE B#E=
ZFENEERE TW&%EFWW%@W
HWFE LR BIE 7%/\&535']500000071: A
REOmL ARBOTRARBOT(MEERY
17,556,000 7T « 077 ~ 0B L R0 IT) °

RZZEZZFRAZTAR  ARFRIZHERE
Pﬁ% AIEREERE (FRARREAN) BEREE
BET(EREREAN) I S —_FHFRKED
B HEREERENERZERARTESR
BREA R S FRESN &M - B
RE-—ZE-_—FAAZtThHBEZZ-AFA
AZ+TNBIL - EREERFR T - _FRE
BN —_RAEEMNERSEREXNOEEER
AR 15,000,000 7T (#7249 17,556,000 47T ) ©
TR _FENREBE B TREELIOS
2EZ(HTBE)THEREANELBR - _FK
BEN 2 HENTEHEARRITIRERTE
BEEH - RUBBMR-_T_—_FXAZTNAEN
NEBRE BT _FHEMNREHE_ET
KEEBME - ARRIERE TR EBISE 14A53 &
REFE LR - Bt - @1_2::¢+:H
=—t+—H ZZEZ=%+ZA=+—H0"
—MFE+ZA=+—HERZE-RAF+= H



annual caps in respect of the license fee under the 2022 Patent
Licence Agreement Il over the term has been determined to be
RMB15,000,000, RMBO, RMBO and RMBO for the year ended 31
December 2022, 31 December 2023, 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2025 respectively (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,556,000, HK$0, HK$0 and HK$0).

Each of Drawin Construction Technology, Henan Drawin Labour
and Drawin Construction Design is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Drawin Manufacture. Drawin Manufacture indirectly holds
approximately 57.39% of the issued Shares, hence a controlling
shareholder of the Company. Drawin Manufacture is also
indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wu Po Sum, who is the father of
Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) (@ non-executive Director). Therefore,
each of Drawin Construction Technology, Henan Drawin Labour
and Drawin Construction Design is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated
under each of the 2021 Patent Licence Agreement, the 2022
Patent Licence Agreement | and the 2022 Patent Licence
Agreement Il therefore constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The transactions contemplated under the 2022 Patent Licence
Agreement | and the 2022 Patent Licence Agreement Il are both
in relation to the grant of the right to use certain patents on
prefabricated construction technologies by the Group which are
of similar nature, and Henan Drawin Labour and Drawin
Construction Design are both wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Drawin Manufacture, therefore, the transactions contemplated
under the 2022 Patent Licence Agreement | and the 2022 Patent
Licence Agreement Il require aggregation under Rule 14A.81 of
the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the
continuing connected transactions contemplated under the 2021
Patent Licence Agreement, the 2022 Patent Licence Agreement |
and the 2022 Patent Licence Agreement Il is more than 0.1% but
less than 5%, the contemplated transactions under the 2021
Patent Licence Agreement, the 2022 Patent Licence Agreement |
and 2022 the Patent Licence Agreement Il are only subject to the
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements and
are exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Confirmation from Independent Non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive directors confirmed that they
have reviewed the 2021 Patent Licence Agreement, the 2022
Patent Licence Agreement | and the 2022 Patent Licence
Agreement Il and confirmed that:

()  the terms and conditions of the 2021 Patent Licence
Agreement, the 2022 Patent Licence Agreement | and the
2022 Patent Licence Agreement Il and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are on normal commercial terms
which are fair and reasonable;

(i) the annual caps in respect of the license fee under the
2021 Patent Licence Agreement, the 2022 Patent Licence
Agreement | and the 2022 Patent Licence Agreement Il are
fair and reasonable; and

(i)  the 2021 Patent Licence Agreement, the 2022 Patent
Licence Agreement | and the 2022 Patent Licence
Agreement Il and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were entered into and will be conducted in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Company and
its subsidiaries, and are in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge and belief after having
made all reasonable enquiries, other than Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li
Hua) (@ non-executive Director) who is the daughter of Mr. Wu Po
Sum (who indirectly holds the entire equity interests in Drawin
Manufacture), none of the Directors has a material interest in the
Patent Licence Agreements and the transaction contemplated
thereunder.

Confirmation from auditors

The Company's external auditor was engaged to report on the
continuing connected transactions of the Group under the above
Patent Licence Agreements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information”, and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The external auditor has issued an
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unqualified report containing its findings and conclusions in
respect of the disclosed above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. The Company provided a copy of the report to
the Stock Exchange.

The external auditor of the Company confirmed that nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2024 for granting Drawin Construction Technology,
Henan Drawin Labour and Drawin Construction Design a non-
exclusive, non-transferable and non-sub-licensable right to use
the Licensed Patents:

a. have not been approved by the Company’s board of
directors;

b. were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group for transactions involving the
provision of goods or services by the Group;

c. were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and

d.  have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

Design Framework Agreement

On 17 June 2022, the Company entered into the Design
Framework Agreement with Drawin Construction Design in
relation to the provision of landscaping and decoration design
services by the Drawin Construction Design Group to the Group's
landscaping business and decoration business for a term
commencing from 17 June 2022 to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive). Pursuant to the Design Framework Agreement, the
Drawin Construction Design Group shall provide landscaping and
decoration design services, including building of the relevant
design model, to the Group for its landscaping business and
decoration business in the PRC, for which the Drawin
Construction Design Group will charge the Group landscaping
and decoration design fees (including material costs incidental to
the building of design model, ancillary tools costs and other fees).
The Drawin Construction Design Group shall not quote a contract
price that is higher than the market rate within the industry.
Under the Design Framework Agreement, the annual contract
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price for landscaping and decoration design services to be
provided by the Drawin Construction Design Group to the Group
for the term of the Design Framework Agreement shall not
exceed RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,594,000).

The contract price for landscaping and decoration design
services is determined by the parties following arm’s length
negotiations and sets with reference to the average landscaping
and decoration design services quoted from the other market
participants in 2021 and the projected level of demand for
landscaping and decoration design services of the Group for the
term of the Design Framework Agreement.

As disclosed in the announcement dated 17 June 2022, the
Company is required under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules to set
an annual caps in respect of the maximum aggregate transaction
amounts under the Design Framework Agreement over the term
of the Design Framework Agreement. Accordingly, such annual
caps in respect of the contract price for landscaping and
decoration design services fee under the Design Framework
Agreement over the term has been determined to be
RMB15,000,000, RMB15,000,000 and RMB15,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022, 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2024 respectively (equivalent to approximately HK$17,594,000,
HK$17,594,000, and HK$17,594,000).

Drawin Construction Design is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Drawin Manufacture. Drawin Manufacture indirectly
holds approximately 57.39% of the total issued Shares, hence a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Drawin Manufacture is
also indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wu Po Sum, who is the father
of Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li Hua) (a non-executive Director).
Therefore, each of Drawin Manufacture and Drawin Construction
Design is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The transactions contemplated under the Design
Framework Agreement therefore constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the
continuing connected transactions under the Design Framework
Agreement is more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the contemplated
transactions under the Design Framework Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions which are only subject to the
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements and
are exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive directors confirmed that they
have reviewed the Design Framework Agreement and confirmed
that:

()  the terms and conditions of the Design Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
are on normal commercial terms which are fair and
reasonable;

(i) the Proposed Annual Caps in respect of the transaction
amounts under the Design Framework Agreement is fair
and reasonable; and

(i)  the Design Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were entered into and will be
conducted in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Company and its subsidiaries, and are in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge and belief after having
made all reasonable enquiries, other than Ms. Wu Wallis (alias Li
Hua) (@ non-executive Director) who is the daughter of Mr. Wu Po
Sum (who indirectly holds the entire equity interests in Drawin
Construction Design), none of the Directors has a material
interest in the Design Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder.
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Confirmation from auditors

The Company'’s external auditor was engaged to report on the
continuing connected transactions of the Group under the above
Design Framework Agreement in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information”, and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The external auditor has issued an
unqgualified report containing its findings and conclusions in
respect of the disclosed above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. The Company provided a copy of the report to
the Stock Exchange.

The external auditor of the Company confirmed that nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2024 for provision of landscaping and decoration
design services by the Drawin Construction Design Group to the
Group:

(@ have not been approved by the Company’s board of
directors;

(b)  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group for transactions involving the
provision of goods or services by the Group;

(c) were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company had no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed under
the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect
to the connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in Note
34 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the
connected transactions as disclosed above, none of these
related party transactions constitutes connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions, which is required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2024

()  The Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers accounted for approximately 10.3% and 34.4%
of the Group’s total turnover respectively.

(i) The Group's largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 4.3% and 16.6% of the
Group's total purchases.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights in respect of the
shares of the Company under the Company's Bye-laws although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group fully understands that employees, customers and
suppliers are the key to our sustainable and stable development.
We are committed to establishing a close relationship with our
employees, enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and
providing high-quality products and services to our customers so
as to ensure the Group's sustainable development.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the New Scheme of the Company as set out in this
annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by
the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR

Since 4 February 2016, PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC") was
the auditor of the Company, with effect from 4 August 2023. PwC
resigned as auditor of the Company. On 4 August 2023,
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of
the Company, such appointment has been ratified and approved
by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company convened and held on 20 September 2023.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited shall retire in the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for re-appointment of ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board of
DIT Group Limited
GUO Weigiang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
DIT GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of DIT
Group Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 231, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“"HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

=l

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
1B A% B R

B EREENEEERRAFZERR
(RAESHEIMA L ERAF])

=R

B ERENFIOEBNEMNEREENRE
BAERAR(TERR D REKBAR (5 E&
B ) 2R EMBRE - WERAMBRREER =
Z_ME+ A=+ BNEE BN TREEH
EZRLFENGARaEtEEKER - &
ERAEPRNGEEEIRER  UNEGEEHH
WRME - BREASTBRER -

BARG  ZERAMBRERCREZEEE
RE([HEEEHAE ) BHNCEBHHRESE
A TEBEMBREERDEEMS 5 R
T EEER-_T-_ME+_A=1t—HWNEKEA
MBRRAREBEZA EFENGEAMBREAR
REReRE Y EREB(RTGRIDKER

RREWR

BAERBEBBSFMASRMBAKEEE LD
(T&EETER ] ETEE - RAIEZFEYT
EENBETDERNRE [RBER B RAYB
BRAFENELT] EHFIEE— T - REFE
SRTEI A EMH(EESFTEIER TR AT
fIsrl)) > HfBLR BEEE - X2ETTR
FHEMEEEREE - ROEGE - RPIAES
MEHBRETELEESRMNERRER

it o

—EomEER.gREENEEEsRAT 83



|

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB S

gy

ZHONGHUI

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of
HK$494,158,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at
31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$793,249,000. At the same date, the Group's
current borrowings amounted to HK$959,656,000 while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to HK$6,435,000 only. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group failed to repay multiple
commercial bank borrowings amounted to RMB183,456,000
(equivalent to HK$198,108,000) and interest payable amounted to
RMB19,150,000 (equivalent to HK$20,679,000) in total according
to the scheduled repayment dates, each of which constituted an
event of default (collectively, “Bank Borrowing Defaults”). Such
events of default resulted in the mentioned borrowings
amounted to RMB333,456,000 (equivalents to HK$360,080,000) as
at 31 December 2024 becoming immediately repayable if
requested by the lenders, of which RMB141,016,000 (equivalent
to HK$152,278,000) represented bank borrowings with scheduled
repayment dates within one year, while the remaining
RMB192,440,000 (equivalent to HK$207,810,000) represented the
non-current portion with original maturity dates beyond 31
December 2024 that were reclassified as current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2024, there were various litigations against
the Group which were claimed by certain suppliers and banks
with respect to overdue payables and borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB573,612,000 (equivalent to HK$619,425,000) in
total. Such conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters below to be the Key Audit Matters to be
committed in our report.

1. Impairment provision on trade receivables
Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of trade receivables of
HK$1,439,617,000 as at 31 December 2024 is material to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the
Group's impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit
limits and credit periods to customers;

— Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction
history with the customers;

—  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;
—  Assessing ageing of the debts;
—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

— Checking subsequent settlements from the
customers; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade
receivables is supported by the available evidence.
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Refer to Note 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of HK$2,501,398,000 and HK$816,220,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2024 are material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the identification of the related cash
generating units;

— Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-
use and/or fair value less costs of disposal

calculations;

— Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal

growth rates and discount rates);

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence;

DIT Group Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report
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Impa

irment assessment on property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Assessing the competence, independence and
integrity of the external valuer engaged by client;

Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model;

Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence; and

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation
model.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property,

plant

and equipment and right-of-use assets is supported

by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
in the Company's annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. we
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Chi Sum

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P08391
Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReRsREMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MEF TET=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaF FET FETL
Revenue WA 6 373,990 867,161
Cost of sales SHE K AN 10 (364,529) (817,289)
Gross profit E¥ 9,461 49,872
Government grants S B 7 6,502 7,249
Other income H A 8 502 2,217
Other losses — net HihEE — 55 9 (47,304) (18,046)
Selling and distribution expenses SHERDHAY 10 (37,879) (67,414)
Administrative expenses THAX 10 (206,302) (166,953)
Net impairment losses REEEFE (91,573) (102,210)
Share of losses of associates /NI R i) E = 20 (39,909) (4,935)
Operation loss BEEE (406,502) (300,220)
Finance costs AE AR 11 (87,935) (65,530)
Loss before income tax MRATSBIATES 18 (494,437) (365,750)
Income tax credit FrigHite 13 279 35,516
Loss for the year FEFBE (494,158) (330,234)
Other comprehensive loss, which Hitt2HEEE  HEARE
may be reclassified subsequently WEHFIEZEAR
to profit or loss
— Exchange differences arising on —HRENUTEEEAR
translation of HEH =%
— Foreign operation — BINETS (41,529) (31,542)
— Associates b A/NGC] (3,462) (4,787)
Other comprehensive loss for the FEHME2EEBNREIE
year, net of tax (44,991) (36,329)
Total comprehensive loss FEXHEIEARE
for the year (539,149) (366,563)
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FERmREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FE&r
Loss for the year, attributable to: ABUTALTHENEE
EE
— Owners of the Company — RREHEEA (464,536) (315,733)
— Non-controlling interests — FEPERRAE (29,622) (14,5071)
(494,158) (330,234)
Total comprehensive loss BUTATHENEE
for the year, attributable to: ZHEBREARE:
— Owners of the Company — ARREHEEA (509,952) (352,159)
— Non-controlling interests — FEPERRAE A (29,197) (14,404)
(539,149) (366,563)
Losses per share attributable BARFEEAFMEER
to owners of the Company [E
(expressed in HK$ cents per share) (AFRBILZ5)
— Basic and diluted — EARREE 15 (14.98) (10.18)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other — FiftisF S 1Bz R E

Ny

th, 2 TE M2 2 2 B L S B o —

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the — $f5i3& -

accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R

As at 31 December 2024 R-—Z-—MF+_-_F=+—H

At 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
Biat F#ET FHEIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BB M 16 2,501,398 2,733,620
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 816,220 865,938
Investment properties HEMEHE 18 15,463 16,063
Intangible assets mAE 19 27,060 33,209
Deferred income tax assets RIEMSREE 29 111,240 113,673
Investments in associates LE R E AT 20 142,976 192,974
Financial assets at fair value through INAREBEFEBEES
profit or l0ss FFAEBENEREE 21 12,959 40,289
3,627,316 3,995,766
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T 23 106,547 138,502
Trade and other receivables ‘é’%&/ﬁ\ﬁﬂﬂgﬂﬂl 7Y
and prepayments SEUNE 24 1,722,876 2,165,866
Cash and cash equivalents iﬁ%&ﬁ% £{EIEH 25 6,435 9,286
Restricted cash BRHIRE 26 26,819 24,721
1,862,677 2,338,375
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5N E M IE 27 1,612,263 1,847,914
Contract liabilities EHEE 45,188 61,303
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFTIS T B (& 38,819 41,106
Lease liabilities HEEE 17 - 2,022
Borrowings =g 28 959,656 886,224
2,655,926 2,838,569
Net current liabilities RBREFE (793,249) (500,194)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHBERRBARS
LIABILITIES 2,834,067 3,495,572
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As at 31 December 2024 R—Z—M&+—-HA=+—H

At 31 December

Rt+t=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-MEF T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BtaE FET FET
Non-current liabilities FREBEME
Amount due to a related party P& BERS 5 5RIB 34 79,993 79,281
Deferred income EEUA 1,649 1,539
Deferred income tax liabilities REMMSHRAE 29 13,895 14,955
Lease liabilities HE&SE 17 - 2,899
Borrowings BE 28 719,994 841,256
815,531 939,930
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,018,536 2,555,642
Equity attributable to owners RATHEE AFrhER
of the Company
Share capital (nominal value) A& (E1E) 30 1,240,438 1,240,438
Reserves i 31 132,131 640,040
1,372,569 1,880,478
Non-controlling interests IR R 32 645,967 675,164
TOTAL EQUITY fERAAEE 2,018,536 2,555,642
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be AR B TS AR St 2R FE B BB B P 5 — DR B AE o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 93 were E0ENBEM GV ERER _E_HAF=H
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and were —+/"B&E=FefbE WHIUATEERRES

signed on its behalf by: BHE
Guo Weigiang Wang Yuping
SpfETR FEF
Director Executive Director
EE HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AReE=EER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LG N

Contributed Non-
Share Share  Exchange surplus Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total  interests equity

bR BfEE EXBG MARGERE  AERE  2HER B FEREE  RudE
Nofes — HKSGOD  HKSOD  AKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSODD  HKSOOD  HKSOMD  AKSGOD  HKSOOD
Wit 7 TiEr 7T T T TiEr 77 T T

At 1 January 2024 RZE-mE-A-A 1,240,438 1,032,009 (131,028) 100,142 48,587 (409,670) 1,880,478 675164 2,555,642
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - (464,536) (464,536) (29,622) (494,158)
Other comprehensive Hib2mE (88 /b

(loss)/income:

Currency translation differences INETERE = = (45,416) - - - (45,416) 425 (44,991)
Total comprehensive loss FE2EFEAT

for the year - - (45,416) - - (464,536)  (509,952) (29197)  (539,149)

Transactions with owners in HERA SR

their capacity as owners: REAGR)EOHNRS

Share-based compensation WRGAEREHE - - - - 2,043 - 2,043 - 2,043

Lapse of share options BRERH - - - - (5,693) 5,693 - - -
Total transactions with owners BB AZRE4E - - - = (3,650) 5,693 2,043 - 2,043
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE+-A=1-A 1,240,438 1,032,009 (176,444) 100,142 44,937 (868,513) 1,372,569 645,967 2,018,536
At 1 January 2023 R=8-=f£-f-A 1,240,960 1,031,540 (94,602) 100,142 4773 (93,937) 2228876 689,568 2918444
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (315733 (31573)) (14,500 (330,234)
Other comprehensive 22 (FR) /i

(loss)/income:

Currency translation differences NEEER - - (36426) - - - (36426) 97 (3639)
Total comprehensive loss EERAEFELR

for the year = = (36,426) = = (315733) (352,159) (14,40 (366,563)
Transactions with owners HEBA(UEFA

in their capacity as owners REASH)ETNRS

Share-based compensation NiRHAERNMHE - - - - 3814 - 3814 - 3814

Share buy-ack RAEE = (53) = - = = (83) - (53)

Cancellation of treasury stock HHEER(WE0)

(note 30) (522 522 - - - - - - -

Total transactions with owners ~ EEEAZR5HE (522) 469 - - 3814 - 3761 - 3761
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-B=1-A 1,240,438 1,032,009 (131,028) 100,142 48587 409,670) 1880478 675,164 2,595,642

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should — _Eili4R & 2S5 Bh 2K e SR B B 3 — D1 B8 o
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FE&r
Operating activities RESEE
Cash generated from operations KEFTBRIR S 36(a) 36,030 11,735
Income tax paid ERFTEH (2,134) (813)
Net cash generated from KRBTSR £/F 58
operating activities 33,896 10,922
Investing activities RETH
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - BEMRERN
plant and equipment FrS sk I8 10,010 22,392
Proceeds from disposal of investments HER—HEERFA
in associates T EFT1SKIA 6,836 =
Proceeds from disposal of financial asset HENU AR EBET=2HE
at fair value through profit or loss FEABTNEREE
FTiS 508 12,052 -
Proceeds from disposal of HEREEEHENSE
investment properties KIE 458 -
Interest received [=EEIES) 235 346
Purchase of property, BEYE  BENEE
plant and equipment (403) (15,8006)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEREEE = (32,565)
Purchase of land use rights fEE TP - (3,345)
Net cash from/(used in) investing WEEES, (FTA)
activities e F5E 29,188 (28,978)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E_mE - =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaF FET FE&r
Financing activities REEE
Repayments to a related company BE —THIRENE A A 5kIE 36(b) (1,912) -
Repayment of borrowings BEEE 36(b) (66,012) (327,505)
Interest paid EfTFLE 36(b) (37,268) (66,408)
Payment of lease liabilities HEBEMNRUE 36(b) (175) (2,890)
Proceeds from borrowings & éfE’JFﬁ?%,*X 36(b) 37,010 288,844
Amounts due to a related party e — %5 BasE 5 kI8 36(b) 2,624 110,654
Share buy-backs i tn fE e 36(b) = (53)
Net cash (used in)/from financing BEES (TR ), Fiis
activities IR F5R (65,733) 2,642
Net decrease in cash and HeRHEESEEER
cash equivalents RWAOR R (2,649) (15,414)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYIMIRe MRE
beginning of the year £EER 9,286 25,120
Net exchange losses on cash and ReRBFSFEEEY
cash equivalents M H &5 18 55 (202) (420)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FERNEERES
of the year Z£EmEA 25 6,435 9,286

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

DIT Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in Bermuda on 28
February 1991 under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and its issued shares are listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) starting from 25 July 1991.

The address of the registered office of the Company is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10,
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong is Units 1602-1605, 16/F, Tower 2, The
Gateway, Harbour City, 25 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are prefabricated construction work,
decoration and landscaping services, granting licenses,
consulting services and sales of equipment in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise stated.

As at 31 December 2024, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company is Mr. Wu Po Sum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

98

AR ISR RMIEE

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of HK$494,158,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the
Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$793,249,000. At the same date, the Group’s current
borrowings amounted to HK$959,656,000 while its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to HK$6,435,000 only.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group failed to
repay multiple commercial bank borrowings amounted to
RMB183,456,000 (equivalent to HK$198,108,000) and
interest payable amounted to RMB19,150,000 (equivalent to
HK$20,679,000) in total according to the scheduled
repayment dates, each of which constituted an event of
default (collectively, “Bank Borrowing Defaults”). Such
events of default resulted in the mentioned borrowings
amounted to RMB333,456,000 (equivalent to
HK$360,080,000) as at 31 December 2024 becoming
immediately repayable if requested by the lenders, of
which RMB141,016,000 (equivalent to HK$152,278,000)
represented bank borrowings with scheduled repayment
dates within one year, while the remaining RMB192,440,000
(equivalent to HK$207,810,000) represented the non-
current portion with original maturity dates beyond 31
December 2024 that were reclassified as current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2024, there were various litigations
against the Group which were claimed by certain suppliers
and banks with respect to overdue payables and
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB573,612,000
(equivalent to HK$619,425,000) in total.

Such conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists

that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the
Company (“Directors”) have given careful considerations to
the future liquidity and performance of the Group and its
available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial sources to continue as a
going concern. The following plans and measures are
formulated to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve
the financial position of the Group:

(i)

(if)

(ii)

In respect of borrowings that are either overdue or in
default (including the Bank Borrowing Defaults), the
Group has been actively negotiating with the relevant
lenders for the repayment, renewal and extension of
the overdue borrowings. The Directors are confident
to convince the relevant lenders not to exercise their
rights to demand the Group’s immediate repayment
of the borrowings prior to their scheduled contractual
repayment dates. Subsequent to 31 December 2024,
the Group has repaid RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,080,000) of these defaulted borrowings and the
Directors believe that the Group will be able to timely
fulfil the repayment schedules under the extended
borrowing agreements.

The Group has also been negotiating with various
banks and financial institutions to seek renewal,
extension of the other existing borrowings and obtain
new borrowings. The Directors believe that, given the
Group’s long-term relationship with the banks and
financial institutions and the availability of the Group’s
long-term assets as collateral for the borrowings, the
Group will be able to renew or extend existing
borrowings and obtain new borrowings when
needed.

In respect of the outstanding litigations for overdue
payables to the Group’s suppliers, the Group is
negotiating with suppliers for revised repayment
schedules and actively arranging settlement.
Subsequent to 31 December 2024, certain overdue
payables have been settled and the Directors are
confident that the Group is able to reach revised
repayment schedules with suppliers and settle the
overdue payable accordingly.
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100

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

(iv)  The Group will continue to implement measures to
increase the sales of its prefabricated construction
units and decoration and landscaping services, and
to speed up the collection of trade receivables.

(v The Group will seek opportunities to dispose of
certain assets and investments at reasonable prices
to generate cash inflows and mitigate its liquidity
pressure. Reference is made to the announcement of
the Group on 17 March 2025, the Group entered into
an agreement of intent with a third-party company as
transferee in relation to the potential disposal of
100% equity interests of a Group's subsidiary, 5 LL£%
K E & R A R A Al (Foshan Drawin Intelligent
Manufacture Technology Limited), within 35 days
from the date of the agreement of intent.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management, which cover a
period of not less than twelve months from 31 December
2024. They are of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within twelve months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly,
the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern would depend upon
the following:

(i) the successful negotiations with the Group's lenders
in respect of the borrowings that were either overdue
or in default, so that the relevant lenders will not
exercise their contractual rights to demand
immediate repayment of the borrowings; the timely
repayments according to the scheduled repayment
dates as stipulated in the extended borrowing
agreements;
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

(i) the successful negotiations with the banks and
financial institutions for renewal of or extension for
repayment of the other existing borrowings and the
successful obtaining of additional new sources of
financing as and when needed;

(i) the successful settlement of litigation against the
Group which were claimed by suppliers for overdue
payables; and

(iv) the successful and timely implementation of the
measures to increase the sales and speed up the
collection of trade receivables, and the successful
disposal of relevant assets and investments at
reasonable prices and timely collection of the
proceeds.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the
abovementioned plans and measures and operate as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements have been
consistently applied to the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

102

3.1 Basis of preparation

(a)

(b)

Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“HKCQ") Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of certain
financial assets and investment properties
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies.

Adoption of new and revised Hong Kong
financial reporting standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted all
the new and revised HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1
January 2024. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS"); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and
revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group's accounting policies,
presentation of the Group's financial statements
and amounts reported for the current year and
prior years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Adoption of new and revised Hong Kong

financial reporting standards (Continued)
The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not
yet in a position to state whether these new
HKFRSs would have a material impact on its
results of operations and financial position.

3.2 Subsidiaries
3.2.1Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that
give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers
its potential voting rights as well as potential
voting rights held by other parties, to determine
whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

104

(Continued)

3.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
3.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They
are de-consolidated from the date the control
ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
that results in a loss of control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that subsidiary and
(i) the Company’s share of the net assets of
that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and
unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or
indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation
of profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 EXREIEBE@

3.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
3.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

3.2 MEATHE
32150 A MR (&)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest
in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to
the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for
the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business
combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

106

(Continued)

3.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
3.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

Business combination and goodwill
(Continued)

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Company’s share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the
Company’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest in the
subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date
fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The
fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to
calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary were
recognised in other comprehensive income (for
example, equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income), the
amount that was recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised on the
same basis as would be required if the
previously held equity interest were disposed
of.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 EXREIEBE@

3.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
3.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

3.2 MEATHE
32150 A MR (&)

Business combination and goodwill EBSHREE(E)
(Continued)
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or BEeFFEETRERS - M

more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the
same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of
goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss and are not subsequently reversed.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment
testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary
are initially measured at their acquisition-date
fair value the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at
the acquisition date.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

108

(Continued)

3.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

3.2.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets.

3.3 Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint
control over those policies. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held
by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.3 Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity
method and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition
are measured at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss, and its share of the post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group'’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the
associate subsequently reports profits, the Group
resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses
not recognised.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

110

3.3

3.4

Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the
Group’s share of the net assets of that associate plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that associate and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to
apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the operating segments. The chief
operating decision maker has been identified as the
board of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) that
makes strategic decisions.

The Group is managed centrally and the Directors are
of the view that the whole Group is one single
reporting segment and hence no segment
information is presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(HK$), which is the Company’s functional and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency on initial
recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at
the exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair
values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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3.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the
Group entities that have a functional currency
different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 EXREIEBE@

3.6 Property, plant and equipment 3.6 N¥ BERSZE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their costs or revalued amounts,
net of their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements
and certain leased plant and equipment, the shorter
lease term as follows:

— Buildings 30 years
— Computer equipments 3-6 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years
— Furniture and fixtures 5-7 years
— Equipments 10 years
— Leasehold improvements 3-5years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period.
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3.6

3.7

3.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets
are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are principally freehold office
buildings held to earn long-term rental yields and are
not occupied by the Group. An investment property is
measured initially at its cost including all direct costs
attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is
stated at its fair value based on valuation by an
external independent valuer. Gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value of the investment property
are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment
property is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the property,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Computer software licences

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of three to
five years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation but are tested annually for impairment
or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Nonfinancial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.

3.10 Investments and other financial assets

3.10.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at
fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“OCI"), or through
profit or l0ss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

3 EXREIEBE@

3.9

FEMEERE
BTN ERFHNETEE (HHRK
EEERNBYEE) BREE AT
FREAE(WEEHABERZBR
HAJBERE) EITRE R - BEEHA
BEERNBLEZERIBERAEDHRRHE
AR B F] e AU B R T TIRUERIRA
BB iR IR B B R A B ) H AT Wk Bl
THENTEER - IR SEEEE
ARBERHEXAREREEBENR
=& A ERENS  EEREBEY
AREARERE REELEM) WK
BKFRE - CRENFSREE (A
BRRINRBRE B BRI 2B AR
Bl (E

310 RERAEMEMEE

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF

3.10.1 5%
AREBLERAEHEAUT
SHEXER

o HEBRAAEBEGIAHM
2HEEANE#M2EK
ADSEHABR)HENS
BMEE &

s HEBHKAFENEHME
= o

ZOBERARNERSMEENAK
SEEBRALRERENGLD

I -

115



|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\7.|-\

AR ISR RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

116

(Continued)

3.10 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
3.10.1 Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
OCI. For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

3.10.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

3.10.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.10 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

3.10.4 Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains, together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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(Continued)

3.10 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
3.10.4 Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest revenue and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other (losses)/gains — net.
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit
or loss and presented net within other
gains in the period in which it arises.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.10 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
3.10.5 Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OClI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains in the
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

3.10.6 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses (“ECL") associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.
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(Continued)

3.10 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)
3.10.6 Impairment (Continued)

For trade receivables with remarkably different
credit risk characteristics and occurrence of credit
impairment, the Group evaluated the distribution
of expected cash flows based on historical
experience of credit losses, current situations and
forecasts of future conditions of contract
counterparties under different situations, and
made corresponding provision for ECL. For trade
receivables without occurrence of credit
impairment or the ECL cannot be estimated for an
individual financial asset at a reasonable cost, the
Group groups the receivables based on its
judgement whether there are significant
differences in customers’ credit risk
characteristics and measures the ECL based on
groups. When measuring ECL, the Group had
considered historical default loss rates, and
adjusted it by taking into consideration of forward-
looking macroeconomic data.

For other receivables (excluding value-added
tax recoverable), the Group applies the general
model for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9.

3.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses. Costs of inventories include the
transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying
cash flow hedges for purchases of raw materials.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 EXREIEBE@

3.12 Trade and other receivables 12 EG R HMEWRRIE

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business and related receivable. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group
holds the trade and other receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less loss
allowance.

3.13 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value. In the consolidated and
Company’s statements of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities.

3.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

BRRWHIER A EEKBRET A
ERmE TR H H&ﬁ%ﬁfﬂ&gﬁm%
BN RENGOR - M8 5 REAME
WOsRIR TR HA RS — Eil«xﬁq(&ﬁu%?n‘%
R - BIA— MRS EXESBEH %)
B AN ESRDHEE  TRIZINE
FRBEE -

B 5 REMEWFIRE A EERER
B VI EGHERESEER
HBSEARREBDOBRIN - AEER
BREE 5 KEMEYGRIRAKREA
MRSRE  RREBERAEELR
B ATIREERESE -

3.13 IE%XZEE?E%EIE B

RiFERERERAN ReRREE
BEBBEFERS  |RITEHFN
H A [REN 8 B & =18 A AR A BE ks
BRACHESENRS BEEEEDHN
REM AR ENEHRERBRE -
RITBEN S AR B H ISR
RPRBRBEANEREZS -

3.14 B

BB OB R -

HBEITHRMNIBREERARNSE
BNRA - 95 AR IE RIS FIRER
1B (FRRFHIA)

—EomEERemrEEngeEaRas 121



|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

122

(Continued)

3.15 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for
goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade and
other payables are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

3.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.
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3.17 Borrowing costs 3.17 B/ A

Borrowing costs include interest expense, finance
charges in respect of lease liabilities and exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings
to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment
to interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that
are an adjustment to interest costs include the
interest rate differential between borrowing costs
that would be incurred if the entity had borrowed
funds in its functional currency, and the borrowing
costs actually incurred on foreign currency
borrowings. Such amounts are estimated based on
interest rates on similar borrowings in the entity’s
functional currency.

When the construction of the qualifying assets takes
more than one accounting period, the amount of
foreign exchange differences eligible for capitalisation
is determined for each annual period and are limited
to the difference between the hypothetical interest
amount for the functional currency borrowings and
the actual interest incurred for foreign currency
borrowings. Foreign exchange differences that did
not meet the criteria for capitalisation in previous
years should not be capitalised in subsequent years.

When the construction of the qualifying assets takes
more than one accounting period, the amount of
foreign exchange differences eligible for capitalisation
is determined on a cumulative basis based on the
cumulative amounts of interest expenses that would
have been incurred had the entity borrowed in its
functional currency. The total amount of foreign
exchange differences capitalised cannot exceed the
amount of total net foreign exchange differences
incurred on a cumulative basis at the end of the
reporting period.
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(Continued)

3.18 Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely
through sale.
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3.18 Income tax (Continued) 3.18 FTi5%i (&)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Tax incentives

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim
special tax deductions in relation to qualifying
expenditure (e.g. the Research and Development Tax
Incentive regime in Oneland). The Group accounts for
such tax incentives as tax credits, which means that
the tax incentives reduce income tax payable and
current tax expense. A deferred tax asset is
recognised for unclaimed tax credits that are carried
forward as deferred tax assets.
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3.19 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group has participated in the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for its Hong
Kong staff. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The MPF
Scheme is generally funded by payments from
employees and by the Group. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are expensed
as incurred in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme and are not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who
leave the MPF Scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions.

In accordance with the PRC regulations, the
Group is required to pay social security
contributions for its PRC staff based on certain
percentage of their salaries to the social
security plan organised by related governmental
bodies (“PRC plan®).
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3.19 Employee benefits (Continued) 3.19 EEEA (&)

(b) Pension obligations (Continued) (b) BUkLEME(4E)
The Group has no further payment obligations M E S 5T 2 R P B3I /EH it
once the contributions have been paid to the RE REEBBEEMNRE
MPF Scheme and PRC plan. The Group’s foAREBMBESFE N EH
contributions to the MPF Scheme and PRC plan HEEH N ERREMBELES
are recognised as employee benefit expense in EakHEMEEKRERAERS
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and EEEFES -
other comprehensive income when they are
due.

(c) Termination benefits (c) Eﬂ&?gﬂ

Termination benefits are recognised when, and

only when, the Group demonstrably commits Ei,%ﬂﬂ&ft‘tﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂriu WEE
itself to terminate employment or to provide PR EEBE AT eE - BRERGRARLE

benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by
having a detailed formal plan which is without
realistic possibility of withdrawal.

3.20 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the DIT Group Employee Option Plan.
Information relating to these schemes is set out in
note 33.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the Share
Option Scheme is recognised as an employee
benefits expense with a corresponding increase in
equity. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

— including any market performance conditions;
— excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions;

and

— including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.
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3.20 Share-based payments (Continued)

3.21

Employee options (Continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions for litigation and onerous contracts, etc.
are recognised when: the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.21 Provisions and contingent liabilities

(Continued)

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs
so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised
as a provision.

3.22 Revenue recoghition

(i)  Revenue from sales of prefabricated

construction units

Sales of prefabricated construction units are
recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the customers, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products.

When either party to a contract has performed,
the Group presents the contract in the
consolidated balance sheet as a contract asset
or a contract liability, depending on the
relationship between the Group’s performance
and the customer’s payment.

(i) Revenue from granting licenses
The Group enters into granting licenses
agreements with the customers. The terms of
these arrangements typically include
nonrefundable upfront payments and milestone
payments.
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3.22 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Revenue from granting licenses
(Continued)

For non-refundable upfront payments, revenue
is recognised at point in time, when the license
is transferred to the customer, and the
customer is able to use and benefit from the
license.

For milestone payments, at the inception of
each arrangement that includes milestone
payments, the Group assesses whether the
milestones are considered highly probable of
being achieved and estimates the amount to be
included in the transaction price using the most
likely amount method. The Group recognises
revenue from milestone payments as or when
particular milestones are highly probable to be
achieved.

Revenue from decoration and landscaping
services

Revenue from decoration and landscaping
services is recognised over the service period
when the service are render to the customers
as the customers can benefit simultaneously as
the Group performing. When the outcome of
decoration and landscaping services contract
can be reasonably measured, revenue from the
contract is recognised progressively over time
using the output method, i.e. based on the
completion of a physical proportion of the
contract work. If at any time the costs to
complete the contract are estimated to exceed
the remaining amount of the consideration
under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set
out in note 3.21.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.22 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Revenue from sales of prefabricated
construction equipments

Sales of prefabricated construction equipments
are recognised when the control of the
prefabricated construction equipments has
transferred, being when the prefabricated
construction equipments are delivered to the
customer and accepted by the customer in
accordance with contract.

Revenue from consulting services

Revenue from consulting services is recognised
when or as the control of the services is
transferred to a customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract, control of the services
may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the services is transferred over
time if the Group's performance provides all of
the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer. If control of
the services transfers over time, revenue from
consulting service is recognised over the period
of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
from consulting service is recognised at a point
in time when the required service and related
deliverables are provided to the customers.

Financing components

The Group adjusts the transaction prices for the
time value of money and recognises financing
components in other income.

3.23 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.
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(Continued)

3.24 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of property, plant and
equipment for which the Group is a lessee, it has
elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a
single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;
and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.24 Leases (Continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as a
starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing
was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the Group, which does not have
recent third-party financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

o any initial direct costs; and

. restoration costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

134

(Continued)

3.24 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its land
and buildings that are presented within property,
plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for
the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of
office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group did not need to make any adjustments to
the accounting for assets held as lessor under
operating leases as a result of the adoption of HKFRS
16.

3.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company's financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are appropriately authorised and
no longer at the discretion of the Company.

3.26 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the group will comply
with all attached conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.26 Government grants (Continued)
Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to assets are included in
non-current liabilities as deferred income and are
credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the expected lives of the related assets.

3.27 Earnings per share

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by
dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during
the year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares; and

the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would
have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

136

(Continued)

3.28 Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the Group, if
that person:

(i)

(iii)

(b)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Company or the
Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related
to the Group;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 EXREIEBE@

3.28 Related parties (Continued) 3.28 RABE TS ()

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of (b) WS T FIMEIRAE - BlZE e
the following conditions applies: BEAXEEEREE : ()
(Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled (Vi) ZEBXZ@WNPTHEIA
by a person identified in (a); Pl =k R

(viiy a person identified in (a) has significant (vii) @WETBAALTHZES
influence over the entity or is a member BEAZENNBEZER
of the key management personnel of the (HZEBHNERA) M FE
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and EEBENE : &

(viiy The entity, or any member of a group of (i) ZEEBXEMBEBENT
which it is a part, provides key ] B B A a] [ 4~ A &) 3 245
management personnel services to the AR ARIREFEZER
Company or to a parent of the Company. ABRRT o

FAERIALEIT R FERK B TR B &2
ZERETEERAZEZALRFE
FZANTHENFEKS -

Close family members of an individual are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

BT RABRERIEETNRS
WRRBEB IR S -

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

4 BBEEMEEREMTIA

4.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of

PBEREER
REBERE

4.1
BAXZEMBRAR ™

financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange SRR (BEIINERR  BERE A
risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit AEEMERR) ?EH&&M’E@J%
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk SEBE o  NEBBRERKERETEHE

management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

138

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
4.1.1 Market risk

(@

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the
value of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The majority of the
Group's transactions and balances are
denominated in HK$ and RMB, which are
the functional currencies of the Company
and its non-PRC mainland subsidiaries,
and its PRC mainland companies,
respectively.

The Company and its non-PRC mainland
subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities are
mainly denominated in HKS$, except for
certain bank balances which are
denominated in RMB and United State
dollars ("USD"). As HK$ are pegged to
USD, it is assumed that there would be no
material currency risk exposure between
these two currencies.

The PRC mainland companies’ assets and
liabilities are mainly denominated in RMB,
except for certain bank balances which
are denominated in HKS$. Accordingly,
cash denominated in HKS is subject to
foreign exchange risk.

Fluctuations in the exchange rates of HK$
against RMB will affect the Group's result
of operations. The Group does not have
any formal hedging policies. However,
management closely monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will take actions
when necessary.
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
4.1.1 Market risk (Continued)

(@

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5%, against
HK$ with all other variables held constant,
post-tax loss for the year would have
been HK$41,000 (2023: HK$27,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of
HK$ denominated bank deposits. All
borrowings are denominated in RMB.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk
relates primarily to the Group's variable
interest generating bank balances and
bank borrowings with variable interest
rates in 2024 while the short-term
borrowings with fixed rate exposed the
Group to fair value interest rate risk in
2024.

Except for cash deposits in the bank, the
Group has no other significant interest-
bearing assets.

Management does not anticipate
significant impact to interest-bearing
assets and bank borrowings resulted from
the changes in interest rates, because the
interest rates of bank deposits and
borrowings are not expected to change
significantly.

4 HEEREENRESFMIAE @)

4.1 B¥REEZE (&)
4.1.1 15 E R (4E)

(@)

(b)

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF

ShE R B2 (48 )
RZZETE-_NMFE+ = A
=+t—H MARKELE
THE/BES%mAEHE
HEHEFTE  FAMR
EBEERD EN
41,0008 (ZFE =% :
27,0008 7T) - Wt hEER
T E A TR E R RTT
TFREEMEL KB
BEEMN - MAEREELE
AARKEEHE -

BERERAABEAE
B
AEEBR-_T_MFHHE
CREFNERABREZHEAN
SEFERITAESBRIRBIT
BEER MEHTEE
ESAREER S _mF
EZAREENERER o

BREREBITHERESER
AKEYBEHME KR

IR E RN R E B S
UGB EERRITEE
TREAFE RA/RE
HRITES &{ﬁ%ﬂ’]ﬂ
BAgHREAE

139



|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

4

140

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
4.1.1 Market risk (Continued)
(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, if
interest rates on interest-generating bank
deposits and borrowings with floating
rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held
constant, the post-tax loss of the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2024
would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$2,951,000 (2023: HK$1,956,000).

4.1.2 Credit risk
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group'’s
maximum exposure to credit risk is trade and
other receivables and bank deposits.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recognised provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables amounted to
HK$59,940,000 (2023: HK$93,582,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4 HEEREENRESFMIAE @)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 4.1 Bi¥REBEZE (&)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 4.1.21=ER (&)
Trade receivables B Z IR IE
The Group applied the simplified approach K& .%ﬁﬁij,%ﬁ;ﬁﬁzﬁﬁt/&ﬁlj

as permitted under HKFRS 9 — Financial
Instruments to measure ECL which used a
lifetime ECL allowance for all trade receivables,
grouped by shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. ECL are determined based on
historical default rates and also incorporate
forward looking information. The Group identifies
GDP growth rate, fixed assets investment growth
rate and producer price index as the key
economic variables impacting the ECL. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance
provision was determined as follows.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, trade
receivable with amounts that are individually
subject to separate assessment for provision
are analysed as follows:

9% — €M T AR E
SrEEMEEEE  EFERMA
B 5 W sRIa R 2 B TE B A5 1 5
&+ R RS E R b e Ef
R H#HE - EEEEEBIER
BEENEET  NESATENE
ERt o NEE G GDPIERE -
EEEREBREANEEEYER
HEE AT EEREEBENE
ZrmEE NZTWMFERZ
T_=F+-_H=+—8H " #R
FHERE B ERT -

R-B_MOFER_FT_=F+_
A=1+—8B BZRUIARE
BRI BB ENT

At 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FEIT
Lifetime ECL rate S HEHEEBER 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount REE 22,375 22,865
Loss allowance E1E R 22,375 22,865
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4 BEEREERSBMIAE@®)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 4.1 BKREBEREEE)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 4.1.2 5 ERE (#&)
Trade receivables (Continued) B S E ()
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, trade RZEZNFERZT_=F+=
receivable that are subject to provision for bad A=+—8" ‘Zﬂaﬂgf«mﬂgﬁéﬁ
debts on the grouping basis are analysed as W ZEWZBOTET :
follows:
Less than 6 months More than

6months  -1year 1-2years 2-3years  3years
Current pastdue pastdue pastdue pastdue past due Total
oK BHAER BE-F AEWME BANER
U8 ~MEA E-% EWME  E=E =f i

At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE

TZA=1-H
ECL rate BHEEREX 1.1% 7.5% 8.0% 19.2%  47.3% 89.9%
Gross carrying amount REAE 588,751 139,414 269,873 483,306 164,277 28,029 1,673,650
Loss allowance EiERE 6254 10452 21517 92,838 77,780 25192 234,033
At31December 2023 ~ R-F==#

t=A=t-A
ECLrate FHEEREX 1.6% 6.7% 14.5% 20.0% 557%  100.0%
Gross carrying amount RE%E 882251 249288 519672 253,151 34,865 1701 1,940,928
Loss allowance BEEE 14,108 16,582 75252 60,871 19,415 1701 187.929
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)
Notes receivables
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, notes
receivable that are subject to provision for bad
debts on the grouping basis are analysed as
follows:

BEEREERSHM T A @)

4.1 B¥REEZE (&)
4.1.21=ER (&)

BREE
R-B-_OER_F_=F+=
A=+—8  SoEFRERER
B EEDITIAT

Less than 6 months
6 months  -1year 1-3years
Current pastdue pastdue pastdue Total
AHLR BEAER BH-F
L AEA - Z=F st
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-MmE
+=A=t-A
ECLrate BHEEEEX 1% 8.9% 9.6% 39.9%
Gross carrying amount RHEAE 40,156 2,775 270 3,259 46,460
Loss allowance BiEkE 404 247 26 1,301 1,978
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%
+=A=+-H
ECL rate BEEEBER 0.5% 9.0% 14.4% 21.8%
Gross carrying amount RERE 14,983 11,573 1,068 17,921 45,545
Loss allowance BiEEE 76 1,043 154 3,901 5,174
Bank deposits fE ﬁ/f? 24

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited since
they are substantially deposited with PRC state-
owned banks and other listed banks. As such,
no significant credit risk from bank deposits is
anticipated.

TERNERRRAER - BA
ﬁvﬁ% 35 B R BB A 4R 1T
RE A ETIRT o Fikt - FHR
AR TREAEAGEE
B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4 BEEREERSBMIAE@®)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 4.1 BKREBEREEE)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 4.1.27=ERk (&)
Bank deposits (Continued) RITI75 (48)
The maximum exposure to credit risk is &= is BRR AL E PR AEK
represented by the carrying amount of each NEIBEEMEEMNRHEE -

financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Cash transactions are limited to high-credit- BERSGERNZEEZRIFH
quality financial institutions. The table below SRS - TRENN -_Z =1
shows the bank deposit balances as at 31 FER-EBE_=F+-_HA=+—H
December 2024 and 2023 HIERITIF SR AS B4

At 31 December

W+=A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E_=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
Counter party REGEF FET FET
Deposits with the state-owned banks e BIRITHER
of the PRC 313 1,892
Deposits with other listed banks R B E A i RITHY
of the PRC TFk 5,331 6,706
Deposits with other banks REALIRITRFIK 791 638
6,435 9,286
Management does not expect any losses from EREERAIEEZERZHTF
non-performance of these counterparties. TR MBEEMIIEK -
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

4 HEEREENRESFMIAE @)

4.1 BHEREE(E)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

Other receivables mainly comprise receivables
amounts due from related parties, land auction
deposits and receivables relating to disposal of
subsidiaries. The Group closely monitors these
other receivables to ensure actions are taken to
recover these balances in the case of any risk
of default.

The Group uses three categories for other
receivables which reflect their credit risk and
how the loss provision is determined for each
of those categories. A summary of the

4.1.2 B Rk (&)
E eI E
HAbfE W R TE = 2 B IR R R
FRIE - TR RREE R E
Hj%BﬁJ%/ATE’JKH& I o A&
A BE 12 5% 55 H A JE UK
18 - LME{%%EHjEEEHL,%’UELFﬁ
B ERERFE HEUR 2 b 8RN o

N ER [ 5K A LA PR MR R ) =
Bl RIREEERRREES
BRIMEBRBEN TR - AEE
BEMEREEBRELENNRRE

assumptions underpinning the Group's ECL R
model is as follows:
Basis for recognition Basis for calculation
Category Group definition of category of ECL provision of interest revenue
Ll EEEHEENER BARHEEFRRENEER FISWMAGEER
Stage one Customers have a low risk of 12 months ECL where the Gross carrying amount
default and a strong capacity to expected lifetime of an asset is
meet contractual cash flow less than 12 months, ECL are
measured at its expected lifetime
—f&E RPENERREEAEIEE HRBEHFERENEAZAN KREAE
BREZERNRER BE  BHEEBRENEME
BHGERGE -
Stage two Receivables for which there is a Lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition
EIRE BEARACEERREZLN 2HRHEESSE BEEE
9 FEUR IR
Stage three Receivables for which there is Lifetime ECL Amortised cost carrying amount
credit loss since initial recognition (net of credit allowance)
FE=ER BEAEARELEEBREN 2HBHEEER BN AREE(REE
Y FHIE Bf)

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
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4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit
losses on a timely basis. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers

historical loss rates for each category of

receivables and adjusts for forward looking

macroeconomic data.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
provides for loss allowance for other

4 BEERMEEREMIAE@®

4.1 H¥REEZE (&)
4.1.27=ERk (&)

HAb R
452 1333 TR 5 9 TR B 1
R L S P
% o 72 5 E T B 4015 B AR
B AEEEE RS ERKKR
WO £ IR AL B ATIE M BT
BB YR % -

R_B-_OER—_F_=F+=
A=1t—0 AEENEMEK

receivables as follows: HIBREEBENT
Estimated Carrying
gross carrying amount (net
amount at Loss of impairment
Carrying default allowance provision)
EAM IREE
2hl et REAE EERE (NBRBERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 31 December 2024
RZZB-NE+=-A=+—H
Amount due from related parties Stage one 68,916 (3,502) 65,414
JE e BBk 7 SRR —FEER
Land auction and other deposits Stage one 17,869 (908) 16,961
THFERREEREMEZES —REER
Receivables relating to d|sposa| of Stage one 1,828 (92) 1,736
subsidiaries
B RSB A R A BRI —FEER
Others Stage one 103,481 (5,258) 98,223
HAth E—FEER
Others Stage three 24,020 (24,020) -
HAh FE=PRER
216,114 (33,780) 182,334
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4 HEEREENRESFMIAE @)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 4.1 Bi¥REBEZE (&)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 4.1.2 5=k (&)
Other Receivables (Continued) H A EK5kE (48)
As at 31 December 2023, the Group provides RZE-_=F+-_A=+—HK
for loss allowance for other receivables as £ B H E fb e UL ZR 0B 1Y B 1
follows: m
Carrying
Estimated gross amount (net
carrying amount Loss  of impairment
Category at default allowance provision)
ERRfhE REE
a5l REAE EEEE (MBREERERE)
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
At 31 December 2023
R=ZB==5+=H=+—H
Amount due from related parties Stage one 202,680 (1,202) 201,478
JEE e BBk 7 SRR E—PEER
Land auction and other deposits Stage one 20,020 (523) 19,497
THFERREEREMEZES E—EER
Receivables relating to disposal of Stage one 1,868 (41) 1,827
subsidiaries
BRAHENEA AR ERRIE E—RR
Others Stage one 74,041 (1,583) 72,458
HAth E—fEE
Others Stage three 18,886 (18,386) -
HAh FE=PRER
317,495 (22,235) 295,260

4.1.3 Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecast is prepared by the finance
department of the Company. Group finance
monitors rolling forecast of the Group'’s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to
meet operational needs.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings.

4.1.3 REEZ R

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF

BenETRR TR AR R M B
el - SREMBAEHANSEN
REBESFIETRIAR - LA
BAREEE MRS BN 2EmM

AEENBERASBBERRITR

HEEEESNFELERER
1 2 MR+ 1
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4 BEEMEERESFMIE @
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 4.1 BiEEREZE(E)
4.1.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 4.1.3 0852 EE (&)
The table below analyses the Group's financial TEAOMAEBMYSREE X
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based SRBER-_E-—_MER -
on the remaining period as at 31 December —=&+-—A=+—BFELo4F
2024 and 2023 to the contractual maturity date. HIE LA AR R A B R HA Bk
The amounts @sclosed in the table are the M ENEENSEAA L
contractual undiscounted cash flows. KEEIBID S R o
Total
Less than Over  contractual
1year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5years  cash flows
FHEE
PR—F -EWE MELE SREE RELE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TETL TET TAT FET FET
At 31 December 2024 R=B-mE
T=B=+-H
Trade and other payables B o REMENTE 1,612,263 - - - 1,612,263
Amount dug to a related party T BB AR 712 1,843 - 77,438 79,993
Borrowings 58 1,003,958 336,713 415,127 - 1755798
2,616,933 338,556 415,127 77,438 3,448,054
At 31 December 2023 R=B==%
+=A=t-H
Trade and other payables B REMERFIA 1,847,914 - - - 1,847,914
Amount due to a related party  FEFT BB EUE 1,843 = 77438 = 79,281
Borrowings fEE 936,011 494,03 501,705 - 1,931,752
Lease liabilities HEAR 2,335 2,461 853 - 5,649
2,788,103 496,497 579,99 - 3,864,596

4.2 Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4 BIEEREEREMIA@
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
4.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 42 EXEREE(E)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the REFENEEBRBLRERERN - %
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt RAFRBRIAERBRETE - %
divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total BENREE REHE HEAE
borrowings, obligations under finance lease, lease REMTERBITEEREFS KRS
liabilities and interest payable less deposit for bank EIESEBEIBETE o
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents.
The gearing ratios of the Group at 31 December 2024 AREBR-_ZE_WNER_ZT_=F
and 2023 were as follows: +=A E—i— HMEEBBLENT :
At 31 December
R+=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-E =4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Total borrowings BEE 1,679,650 1,727,480
Total lease liabilities HEaEERE - 4,921
Interest payable FEASF 2 61,972 12,316
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RE RIS FMEIER (6,435) (9,286)
Net debt HETS 1,735,187 1,735,431
Total equity e ARER 2,018,536 2,555,642
Gearing ratio EARAGLE 86.0% 67.9%
4.3 Fair value estimation 4.3 AREEME

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

TRMNABEEDTEIABEAR
MERTA - TRERNERLDT

— HREEXABERRTISHR

B CREAR)(F14%) -

— BRTFRIEMEERNOBEN  Z

BEXRBENAHRBARE
Al R EZ(BIER) M (AR
BER) WARE(FE24H)
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4 HBEEMEEREMTIE®
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 4.3 QREEMGE (&)

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not — BENBELIFKRIEREHERTS
based on observable market data (that is, SR AZE (BN IEr B R
unobservable inputs) (Level 3). ABE)(FB3R) -

4.3.1Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy 4.3.1 A A EEERLHEE
The financial assets at fair value through profit AREBRIZANBEST=EESR
or loss of the Group are measured at fair value et A BB e EEFRHES
by Level 3. TIRAABETE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
14K F248K B3Ik st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FEr FET FET
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-WF
+=B=+—H
Unlisted equity instruments ~ JE E itz T A - - 12,959 12,959
At 31 December 2023 R-ZZB==
+=BA=+—H
Unlisted equity instruments 3k gz T A - - 40,289 40,289
There was no transfer between level 1 and 2 FRAUEBEIREE2H 2 H
during the vear. B o
4.3.2 Disclosure of valuation process used by 4.3 2 EXREBIERANGEREFR

the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
The Group’s financial controller is responsible
for the fair value measurements of assets and
liabilities required for financial reporting
purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The financial controller reports
directly to the Board of Directors for these fair
value measurements. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the
financial controller and the Board of Directors
at least twice a year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4 HEEREENRESFMIAE @)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 4.3 PR{EEME (F)
4.3.2 Disclosure of valuation process used by 432 EAREBFERANEEERR

the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
(Continued)

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group
will normally engage external valuation experts
with the recognised professional qualifications
and recent experience to perform the
valuations.

Level 3 fair value measurements

R AEE T BER G ERT
R A5 (&)

AESRAABEAEMNS K
SE-REZBABIARERE
BRI EERE
1ThME

FIRDIAEBEIERNAAMEE

Fair value at 31 December
RT=A=t-BHAAER
Range of Relationship of
Valuation ~ Unobservable  unobservable unobservahle
Description 2024 2023 technique(s) input(s) input(s) input(s) to fair value
FUBR FUBE TURRHABE
i “EComE “BCCE fhER% BABE BAMBNEE RDABENER
HK$°000 HK$°000
7 &7

Unlisted equity instruments 10,548 27,894 Income Long-term 0% The higher the long-term
FLiERTIA approach growth rate (2023; growth rate, the higher
WA RHERE 0%) the fair value
0% ROEREHS -
(ZE==%; MEESS

0%)
Discount rate 12.51% The higher the discount
% (2023 rate, the lower
12.51%) the fair value
1251% TREER
(zB==% AREEYE

12.51%)
241 12,39 Asset-based N/A N/A N/A
approach TER (2023: N/A) TER

BEERE ~ER

(ZBz=&:

MaA)

During the two years, there were no changes in the RMER - PR G ERMIL RS -

valuation technigues used.

—EoMEERKe BREENEEESREAT 151



|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

4.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
4.3.3 Reconciliation of assets measured at fair
value based on level 3

BEEREERESHMTAE @)

4.3 DREEME (E)
433 BREIFEAAEEENE
EHER

At 31 December

Rt+t=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-OF —E=5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Unlisted equity instruments FLEmERTIA

At 1 January Rn—H—H 40,289 41,002
Disposal HE (12,052) =

Total gains or losses recognised in MR8 AR E
profit or loss* B R * (14,801) 1,362
Currency translation difference SNBSS =5 (477) (2,075)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 12,959 40,289

* Include gains or losses for assets held * &Rk & BiRFTIF & EH

at the end of reporting period W e ok ES 18

= 361

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets held at end of reporting
period are presented in other losses — net in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 5
AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires the use of accounting estimates which, by
definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying
the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

5.1 Critical accounting estimates

(a)

(b)

Impairment of trade receivables

For trade receivables with remarkably different
credit risk characteristics and occurrence of
credit impairment, the Group measured the
expected credit loss individually.

For trade receivables without occurrence of
credit impairment or the expected credit loss
cannot be estimated for an individual financial
asset at a reasonable cost, the Group grouped
trade receivables in accordance with credit risk
characteristics and measured the expected
credit loss based on groups. This assessment is
based on the credit history of its customers and
other debtors and the current market condition
as well as forward looking estimates such as
macroeconomic data at the end of reporting
period, and requires the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management reassesses the provisions at each
balance sheet date.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a
number of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

5 EEEsHHETRAE @)

5.1 EESiH&E

(a)

(b)

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF

B 5 B ERE
HNEERBRFHEETRAR
EEERENESREIEA - &K
SEEETERMERESE -

HRRBLEEEREXELLS
ERAGEHERN SR EERBRIE
EEENE SRR - AEE
REBEEERBRSZE E SRR
TETHE - WS EAETRY
FEER - ZHEERETF R
HEHANEELELERT™
B PLIA K ¥R & B R 9 AT IS 14
e (EBRERE) UFR
3B A R A o

EEEFTNEEEEABRAE
e -

gt

REBEBBNZ ERDEER M
BHR-NETHSHREBEE
B SRELERHEH - BT
REEETERARBIBANR 5 Mat
8 ARBREEE AN
AR AR ERREERREE
ERAE - HXSFEENREH
BREREY S CEN ST -
FREZESFEELEENHA
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

154

5.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
Management has assessed whether any
impairment indicators of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets existed as at
the balance sheet date and has identified that
impairment indicators of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets existed for
certain subsidiaries with operations which are
loss making during the year. When the carrying
value of an asset or a group of assets exceeds
the recoverable amount (the higher of the net
amount of fair value less cost of disposal and
value-in-use (“VIU") calculation), it indicates that
an impairment has occurred. The net amount of
fair value less cost of disposal is determined by
reference to the agreed sales price or the
observable market price of similar assets in
arm’s length transactions, less incremental
costs that are directly attributable to the
disposal of the asset.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation technigues. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

5.1 Critical accounting estimates (Continued)
(e) Fair value of investment properties

(f)

The fair value of investment properties is
determined by using valuation technigue. Such
assessment is made based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainties
and might materially differ from the actual
result. In making the judgement, reasonable
consideration has been given to the underlying
assumptions that are mainly based on market
condition existing at the reporting date. These
estimates are regularly compared to actual
market data and actual transactions in the
market.

Estimated useful lives and residual values
of property and equipment

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives, residual values and
related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property and equipment of similar
nature and functions. Management will revise
the depreciation charges where useful lives are
different to that of previously estimated, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may
differ from estimated useful lives and actual
residual values may differ from estimated
residual values. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and residual
values and therefore depreciation expense in
future periods.

5 EEEsHHETRAE @)

5.1 EESEH&E ()

(e)

(f)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

6 REVENUE 6 WA
At 31 December
R+=-—B=+—H
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue from sales of prefabricated KB SHE THRR AL SR SRR (4
construction units Fy U A 322,099 673,389
Revenue from decoration and 2K B S AT B AR L AR 7S B
landscaping services WA 34,441 163,508
Revenue from consulting services KE B u’JHE%&E’MﬁU\ 2,896 5,722
Revenue from sales of prefabricated KRB SHETRRR AL RERE
construction equipment Hy U A 3,146 11,186
Rental income e WA 11,408 13,356
373,990 867,161
Notes: HtaF -
(@) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (@) EFHEGHEBENKZRCER
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRHBIRAARHREHRNTEREERBEFTE
in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward ENNEEANAENBHETERBNKRAS
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance 58 o

obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=1t—-HLHFE

2024 2023
—E-ME =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Revenue recognised that was included inthe ~ REFNBEEA N EBEEHAD
contract liability balance at the beginning of BERERUA -
the year:
Sales of prefabricated unit TRRUR AL A A E
construction contracts =X 55,801 57,904
Sales of consulting service SHERARS 5 43
55,806 57,947
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Unsatisfied sales contracts
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from sales contracts.

6 WA

e -

(b)

(%)

AENHEEN
TREIAHESOMELENRBENEOR
fEo

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=t—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-NE —T—=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT

Sales of prefabricated construction THRER A EEEA M IHESRD
units contracts 150,551 1,243,081

Sales of decoration and landscaping EaREMRBHEE L

services contracts 16,554 626,709
167,105 1,869,790

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

7.

R #4 B

Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1t—HLEE

2024 2023

—EC-@F —EC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FEr

Research and development subsidies Tt 25 e Ah 4,173 4,482
Others EHAtb 2,329 2,767
6,502 7,249

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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8 OTHER INCOME 8 HimlgA

Year ended 31 December
BEZE+-—A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023

—E-UE —E=4F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Interest income on bank deposits HRITERF B WA 235 346

Others HAth 267 1,871

502 2,217

9 OTHER LOSSES — NET 9 HtuFis — 3
Year ended 31 December
BZE+t=-A=+—HILEE

2024 2023

—E-E B =F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Overdue interests to suppliers XA ER 2 B ER R R (1,602) (2,125)
Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets ZA R EBEFABZNEEE

at fair value through profit and loss ENAREE(BE) W (14,801) 1,362
Losses on disposal of property, LEYE - BERXENER

plant and equipment (28,721) (15,097)

Gains on termination of lease KIEEE G =

Fair value change on investment properties & I = 2 B A 7t (8 (B & 198 -
Gains on disposal of investments HEREEE QR MR E AW =

in associates 209 -

Net exchange (losses)/gains BN (&8), W F 58 (9) 78

Others HAh (2,679) (2,264)

(47,304) (18,046)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

10 EXPENSES BY NATURE 10 EMHHESSHMAZ
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution HXXBIEEEKAN « HE XD A RITH
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as A DT -
follows:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=1+—HLLEE

2024 2023
—E-E —E=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FEr
Raw materials and consumables used B ARME RSB 180,485 484,680
Changes in inventories of finished goods, &M ~ ERE G RER D
goods in transit and work in progress FE# (22,323) (16,270)
Employee benefits expenses (note (a)) BTwRAFEZ (KaE@E) 135,316 197,914
Labour outsourcing BN 44,072 70,204
Depreciation e 106,445 116,291
Amortisation of right-of-use assets A ER 19,168 17,414
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 5,526 3,458
Short-term leases and low-value EHHERMEEEEERS
leases expenses 6,074 9,764
Transportation ERER 24,963 45,809
Land use tax and value-added s R R IR BB AN &
tax surcharges 20,985 22,086
Utilities NHEXEH 3,230 6,013
Legal and professional fees FEREEER 13,847 16,794
Entertainment and travelling expenses BERERE A 6,033 7,725
Auditor’s remuneration Z SR < 2,811 2,500
Bank charges RTINS 275 290
Office expenses WRERT 1,757 1,984
Others HA 60,046 65,000
Total of cost of sales, selling and distribution $4&RKZ « $5E K2 55
expenses and administrative expenses LARITE RS 258 608,710 1,051,656
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

10 EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued) 10 EMHEI SRR @)
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution X BEHEEKA « HE R iHAX RITH
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as A 2T : (48)

follows: (Continued)
Notes: et

(@) Employee benefit expenses (including Directors’ and (@) EBIFFFEX(BREESERESTBRAEHMSE)
chief executive’s emoluments)

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=+—-HLEFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —Fo=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Wages and salaries ITER¥® 127,858 186,893
Share-based compensation AR A ETREE B & 2,043 3,814
Pensions BIRE 1,970 3,393
Other welfare benefit expenses Hib@F 2R 3,445 3,814
Charged to consolidated statement of profit or B4R & 182 R H b 2 ke R 0k
loss and other comprehensive income 135,316 197,914
(b)  Five highest paid individuals (b) E%E%ﬁﬂﬂki
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the BE_T-_MFF_A=1+—HILFE %
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 include two (2023: lﬂ%ﬁim%@*\/\iq] CBEMA(ZE==
three) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis £ =R)EF REOMSERKE12ME
shown in Note 12. Details of the remuneration for the year I DT RIR - BE_F _WE+_ A
ended 31 December 2024 of the remaining three (2023: two) =t HRIEFE EBR=%2(ZF_=F M
highest paid employees (including the two (2023: one) senior ZINESFTHES (BERE(ZE_=4:
management) are as follows: —H)RREEAR)NEFMFBAT ¢

Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET

Salaries and other short-term FekEMEHESRT
employee benefits 2,121 2,200
Contribution to pension scheme BIRESFTEIE K 25 176
Share-based compensation AR 15 B ERE R B 29 29
2,175 2,405
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

10 BHEEI2MAX @)

Hiat - (&)

(b)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) HEBSFMAL(E)

The remuneration to the remaining three (2023: two) highest
paid employees (including two (2023: one) senior management)
fell within the following emolument band:

HEH=R(ZF_=F : M) R=FHMEE
(BEMA(CZ=F: —H)REEAS)
#Y i B T 51 6 &

Number of individuals
AE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLFE

2024 2023

—EC-UE —TE_=4F

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 7 7T & 1,000,000 7% 7T 3 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 78 7T - 2

11 FINANCE COSTS

11 BMEBERA

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—RHLEE

2024 2023

—E-mF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$000

FHET FETL

Interest expenses on borrowings BEFBAX 87,915 78,945
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEEENRERY 20 192
Less: Interest capitalised W BAREFLE - (13,607)
87,935 65,530
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e B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

12 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 12 EEEFIRE

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERERSTHRAENME
The remuneration of every director and the chief BEREERESTHAENE S
executive is set out below. There is no chief executive T IE&=THRABHA/KRAA
who is not a director of the Company. EFEo
Emoluments paid or payable in respect of services METEARAISKEKNB R R EERERE
provided by the director, whether for the Company or RIS E MRS

its subsidiaries:

For the year ended 31 December 2024: BE_T_NWFE+_A=+—HIF
E
Share-based
Fees Salary Bonus Pension compensation Total
kG
Name i e e &S Bk AERNHE &zt

HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000
FEn FEx FEx FEx FEx FEx

Executive Directors HTES

LiuWeixing* (Former chairman)  BIGE * (A1 &) 154 - - 2 430 586

Glo Weigiang® (Chairmanand ~ 336&* (/% 1,425 - - - 278 1,703
Chief executive officer) FIBER)

Wang lingh TEA 1,449 - - - 106 1,555

Non-Executive Directors FUTES

W Wallis® ZpEo 27 - - - - 27
Wang Jun Tk 60 - - - - 60
Guo Jianfeng Eilj s 60 - - - - 60

Independent Non-Executive Bik#17ES

Directors
Lee ChiMing Z+m) 240 - _ _ _ 20
Jiang Hongging e 240 - o - - 240
Ma Lishan il 240 - o - - 240

3,895 = = 2 814 41
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

(Continued)

(@

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

12 EERAREX @)

(a) EBRBSTBRASNME (&)

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023: HE-_ZE_=F+-A=+—HIF
=38
Share-based
Fees Salary Bonus Pension  compensation Total
PAR(R
Name % ik % FRiEe &g AEEMMNS &
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
Executive Directors YTES
LiuWeixing* (Former chairman)  BI&E * (A1) 2210 - - 18 708 2956
Guo Weigjang* (Chairmanand ~ $hféiat (/2 1,448 - - - 39 1843
Chief executive officer) FTh)
Wang Jing TEA 1,671 - - - 151 1822
Non-Executive Directors ~ FHTES
W Wallis® FfEo 60 - - - - 60
Wang Jun Tk 60 - - - - 60
Glo Jianfeng b 60 - - - - 60
Independent Non-Executive Biu&TES
Directors
Lee Chi Ming 358 240 - - - - 20
Jiang Hongging ZEE 20 - - - - 20
Ma Lishan il 240 - - - - 20
6,229 = = 18 1,274 1521

* Resigned on 26 January 2024.

” Appointed as chairman on 26 January 2024.

A Passed away on 19 January 2025.

C Resigned on 16 June 2024.

* RZEZWHFE-—AZ+/SAFHE -

B R-B-ME—B -+ NBAEZEAT

J& o

A RZZERF— A+ Bt -

@ R-Z_MERR+/RBEHE -

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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e IR SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

12 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

164

Directors’ retirement benefits
There is no retirement benefits paid by the Company.

Directors’ termination benefits
There is no directors’ termination benefits paid by the
Company.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
consideration was provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services (2023: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were
no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors (2023: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()
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12 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

(Continued)

The emoluments of the directors are decided by the Board
of Directors, having regard to the Group's operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics

as well as the recommendations of the Remuneration

Committee of the Board of Directors.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31

December 2024 and 2023.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

12 EERAREX @)

13 FRiSHiESR

%%M@E%%@%@%%$EIE’J%«‘ 3
* BARIR KB LB
%%A%ﬁﬁﬂ\é,\aﬁﬂﬁﬁg

Bt At BIEIA K
ZIRET °

$“ﬂ%$$ﬁ%ﬂﬁ’\$ﬂﬂﬁ‘ﬂiﬁﬁ$’§.¥
BEBERFERIRNEBEES_MFR=

ZEFFZ A=t EIJtiJ;ET—JHvFH‘ﬂT_%E
WEERS  THEREHNFHEBEAERE
Brol s o

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1t—-BHLEE

2024 2023
—EMF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Current income tax REFTER
— PRC corporate income tax — RREBEMEH
Adjustments for current tax of AR BN AR 1A A B

prior periods 351 959
— Hong Kong profits tax — BBREH 119 -
470 959
Deferred income tax (note 29) EIEFTISHL (H15E29) (749) (36,475)
Total income tax credit for the year FEMSHIKRERE (279) (35,516)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

13 INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

166

13 FE#HAYX @)

The income tax on the Group’s l0ss before income tax 7N &= [E gt R P18 FE Al B 18 89 P18 A B2 (s BB A
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using EEETNARIFERRDBHOFHRTER
the enacted tax rate of the home country of the companies B AR - SEEEHLIT

within the Group as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HLHFE

2024 2023
—E-OF —E=5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Loss before income tax FRETS TR EE (494,437) (365,750)
Income tax calculated at respective AFBEEMEGTERNAEH
statutory rates (122,805) (92,029)
Preferential income tax rate BEMEHE 32,446 24,478
Non-deductible expenses AT HIRE S 1,157 2,059
Research and development expenditure FEIMIBRAAEE S
additional deduction (4,083) (8,157)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax — BhF @R ER R FLIEE 18
losses - (264)
Tax losses and temporary differences not KR AELEFRIBE ERFIE
recognised as deferred tax assets 518 R E R =R 92,655 37,438
Prior year's tax filing differences BAFEHRMERE 351 959
Total income tax credit for the year FEMEHEREE (279) (35,516)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

PRC corporate income tax

Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (“CIT
Law"), the CIT rate applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries
established in mainland China is 25%, while certain
subsidiaries are applicable to the preferential tax rate of
15%, those subsidiaries were required to apply for renewal
every three years from first year of approval.

The CIT Law and its implementation rules impose a
withholding tax at 10% for dividends distributed by a PRC
resident enterprise to its immediate holding company
outside PRC for earnings generated beginning 1 January
2008 and undistributed earnings generated prior to 1
January 2008 are exempted from such withholding tax. A
lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the
immediate holding companies are established in Hong
Kong according to the tax treaty arrangement between the
PRC and Hong Kong. The Company’s mainland China
subsidiaries did not have plan for distributing dividend to
the Company in the foreseeable future, thus no such
withholding tax was accrued for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

Hong Kong profits tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend of the payment of a
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

13

14

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF

Fri8#HiX (@)

HEEEFEHR
RIBFECEMAETOE(EERAFBED
ZER B P R B b B 37 O BT BB 1 R AR 1
FAMBHRER25% - & THERRER
15% 2 BEME - BEEE—Fi - ZEW
BRARAFEG=FRFEH K-

CEMGHAREEBARATREERER
R-ZZENF-A—HRBELENBENAE
270 FR BIR SN B R I AR X B P 0 TR B R B
B 10% IR - MR —_FEN\F—HF—H
Al EE A B9 R 0 Ik B N B R BR S U B RE TR
Mo RIBPEEFBOWBHE L - HE
BEER D RINE BRI - BIIF] s E AR
5% FAFAB R o FEA] R AR - RAR A F
B A 3 Y B8 2 A 3 B 5 8 [ A R B 9 R
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HFRENEH
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It AEREEERMFTERFENNE2
BEBTTIZS 2% MM EHRABTANEH
@28 & %8 JT A il &1 18 &R B 4%
16.5% KB R G ARE B ST ©

3=

EENEREREE S NER T =
E+-A=+—BILEENRE -

167



|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

\7]-\

AR ISR RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

15 LOSSES PER SHARE

168

(@

(b)

Basic

Basic losses per share for the year is calculated by
dividing the consolidated losses of the Group
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

(@

15 BIREBE

B %S
FEESBRERNBERIREARBHREE
AFEARBEEBERAFAD %
TEBRNINETFOREAEST -

Year ended 31 December
BE+t-HA=1+—RHLEE

2024 2023
—E-mF TEZ=F
Consolidated loss attributable to KRR AEIEERE
owners of the Company (HK$'000) B8 (FEr) (464,536) (315,733)
Weighted average number of ordinary BT EBARE InsE
shares in issue (‘000) EHE(TFAL) 3,101,096 3,101,207
Basic losses per share (HK cents) BIRERERE CENM) (14.98) (10.18)
Diluted (b) #8§

Diluted losses per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. Diluted losses per share for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
equal to respective basic losses per share. The
computation of diluted losses per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 has not
considered the effect of share options given that the
effects are anti-dilutive.
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 Y% - BENRRE
Plant under
development
for
Furniture prefabricated
Computer Motor and Leasehold  construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles fixtures  Equipment improvements business Total
BRERERS
EEERN

¥ BhkE RE  BHRRE i BEEE EEHR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000
T FiEn i Fién 7 i1 i i1

A1 January 2024 H=g-mE-F-7
Cost W& 1,457,565 1813 23,805 63,451 486,379 68,315 1,125,095 3,232,483
Accumulated depreciation and BHNERAEER

impairment loss (213,224) (6,974) (13,213) (39,507) (195,261) (23,429) (7,255) (498,863)
Net book amount FESE 1,244,341 899 10,592 23944 291,118 44,886 1,117,840 2,733,620

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-EomE

tZR=T-ALEE

Opening net book amount FEAFE 1,244,301 899 10,592 23944 291,118 44,886 1,117,840 2,733,620
Additons HE 197 2% 23 1513 3014 - 7972 12,985
Transfer upon completion TREER - 78 4312 9 959 - (5,558) -
Disposals e (3,169) (15) (2,361) (3,645) (5,355) (1,018) (46,401) (61,964)
Depreciation charge HEER (46,112) (482) (2767) (7,069) (46,528) (3,487) - (106,445)
Impairment loss HEFE (15,612) - - - (2,621) - (4,823) (23,056)
Currency ranslation differences NEHEEE (25,704) (17) (219) (1,469) (5,568) (897) (19,868) (53,742)
(Closing net book amount FREAFE 1,153 94 689 9,820 13,283 235,019 39,484 1,049,162 2,501,398
At 31 December 2024 R-S-RETZA=1-H
Cost R 1,407,484 7,801 22,059 51433 464,721 13,614 1,061,016 3,088,134
Accumulated depreciation and EHERABER

impairment loss (253,543) (1112) (12,239) (38,150) (229,708) (34,130) (11,854) (586,736)
Net book amount R 1,153,941 689 9,820 13,283 235,019 39,484 1,049,162 2,501,398
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

170

16 Y% - MENRRME @)

(Continued)
Plant under
development
for
Furniture prefabricated
Computer Motor and Leasehold ~ construction
Buldings equipment vehicles fivtures Equipment  improvements Dusiness Total
INEEER Y
BEXHN
BT kG 8 GRREE B( ] HERE kEHR 3t
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAT T FAT T FAT T AT TA1
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=£-R-B
Cost A 1463627 1452 U712 61974 522,855 79,685 1,159,850 3,320,165
Accumulated depreciation ZiME (174.081) (5,43) (14,053) (31,187) (170,5%) (30,475) - (425,830)
Net book amount FEO5E 1289546 2014 10669 0787 352259 9210 1,159,850 2894335
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-g5-cE
t2B=T-ALEE
Opening net book amount EEAHE 1,289,516 201 10669 0787 352259 29210 1,159,850 289433
Addtions RE - 4 0 5863 5871 763 5348 3546
Transfer upon completion TREER 7217 1t - 1572 17,25 = (16025) =
Disposals HE (6,266) (1) (145) (4,055) (27022) - - (37,489)
Depreciation charge ERR (8.301) (1110 (537) 0970 (51,964) (4409 - (116291
Impairment loss REEE - - - - - - (7255 (7.59)
Currency ranslation cifferences NEHEEE (17855) (19 o) () (5,251) (678) (14,073 (38,226
(Closing net book amount FREAFE 1,204,341 89 10592 23,944 M 118 44886 1,117,840 2733620
At 31 December 2023 R-8Z=Ft-A=t-H
Cost AR 1,457,565 1873 23,805 63451 48,319 08315 112509 3232483
Accumulated depreciation and EHERABER
impairment loss 213.220) (6,974) (13213) (39,507) (195,261) (23429 (7,255) (498,863
Net book amount EH5E 1244301 899 10,592 294 M8 44886 1,17.840 2733620
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of HK$106.4
million has all been charged to administrative expenses
and cost of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$116.3 million).

As at 31 December 2024, property, plant and equipment
with a net book value of HK$491.1 million (2023: HK$501.7
million) were pledged as collateral for the Group's
borrowings HK$220.5 million (2023: HK$225.4 million).
Among the collateral, property ownership certificate of the
Group's building with a net book value HK$282.8 million
(2023: HK$289.0 million) is under China Minsheng Drawin
Co., Ltd.. These buildings were pledged as collateral for
three bank borrowings of HK$184.4 million (2023: HK$306.2
million) which was secured by China Minsheng Drawin Co.,
Ltd..

No interest expenses were capitalised in plant under
development for prefabricated construction business for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$13.6 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's certain
subsidiaries with operations were loss making during the
year. Management determines each individual subsidiary
as a separately identifiable cash-generating unit and carried
out impairment assessment for the subsidiaries which have
indicator of impairment. The Group estimated the
recoverable amounts based on the higher of their fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use calculations. The
key assumptions used in the cash flow projections are
revenue growth rate and the discount rate. The revenue
growth rate ranges from 1.0%-30.0%, and the discount rate
12.5% is pre-tax. As a result, the Group recorded a total
impairment provision charge of HK$23,056,000 against
property, plant and equipment to the consolidated income
statement of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$7,255,000).

16 Y% - BENRZE @)

HEZZ-_MF+_A=+—HLF
W% BEERIENTEI064EE
BrERreEakEtE2ElRx
MITHAESY REERANF R (ZE
T=F1163BEBTT)

REZZFEZWEF+=ZA=+—H " KM@\
FEABMNMNIBEAET(ZE =% :
501.7EBETT)MME - BE RRE
B FEIFEAALERS 2205585
T(ZE-=F : 2548 8BHET)EE
WEHR R TELEEFRT AEEH
REFEA228HEB (2=
F290EBB L) MEFHNEER
BRERTPRERABRARET - ZF
BFEEBEA=SSHA1844FE
BIL(ZZE =4 : 3062BH&B7T)H
fEm%iéfE’J%ﬁ?ﬁﬂ% CEFREREBR
N AIEE R o

BE_T_HNEFt+-_A=1t—HLF
B WEANBREEAZEXTH
ERBETEMAMERX(ZE_=
F:13.6B8ET) °

HE-Z-_WF+-_A=+—HLF
- ZS%@%JF%%%MTE AIRFER
HEEE EEEBSWBAAETE
BRAIBMERNESEAEN - W
BRENRAM B A RETREE -
AEBRBEAABERLEN AR
FERAEEFEZRSE G AIKRES
e TEREABDEBERABRERAER
R BEREAAMANEEZERRE
IS R 3 R BRI K o If A B R KA
T-1.0% = 30.0% * MmBAIR K 12.5% & Fi
AIBRIRE - It - ARBREE=F
ZHMFE+=ZA=+—HLEFERAE
BiRE WS R E - BE kR ER
15 5 B 98 88 2t 48 58 23,056,000 7% 7T
(ZZ =4 :7,255000/87C) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17 FEREEE
This note provides information for leases where the Group 4R E=E AEFE A - BIAHSERASEMRE
is a lessee. *l o
(@) Amounts recognised in the statement of (@) REBRRERFTERZEH
financial position
The statement of financial position shows the AR RATABHRE s &5

following amounts relating to leases:

Property,
plant and Land use
Right-of-use assets equipment right Total
L
FEREEE kEHE L ERARE st

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FTET FET FET

Balance as at 1 January 2024 it 111 - 3

— B — BH&eR 10,025 855,913 865,938

Reductions as a result of HLIEHEB IR D

termination of lease (4,638) - (4,638)
Amortisation charged into BEEE ABm

profit or loss (234) (18,934) (19,168)
Amortisation capitalised to plant BHEERCEEERE

under development - (583) (583)
Impairment loss RIEEE - (7,154) (7,154)
Currency translation differences INEEAT A RE (136) (18,039) (18,175)
Balance as at R=Z-MEF

31 December 2024 +ZBA=+—Hz#&& 5,017 811,203 816,220
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 17 EREEE@®
(@) Amounts recognised in the statement of (@) REBRRERFERZSHE(E)

financial position (Continued)

The statement of financial position shows the AR RV RATNEBHRE &5

following amounts relating to leases: (Continued) (&)
Property,
plant and Land use
Right-of-use assets equipment right Total
S ER
EREEE NEEfE TR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET
Balance as at 1 January 2023 R-E-=
— B —BW#&eR 6,527 888,264 894,791
Addition IN=E 6,250 3,345 9,595
Amortisation charged into BEEET A
profit or l0ss (2,678) (14,736) (17,414)
Amortisation capitalised to plant BHEERCEEERE
under development - (6,004) (6,004)
Currency translation differences HNEE YT E R (74) (14,956) (15,030)
Balance as at R-B-=%F
31 December 2023 TZBA=+—HZ#&& 10,025 855,913 865,938
At 31 December
R+=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-_E =B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current B EA - 2,022
Non-current FEmED = 2,899
Total lease liabilities HEBEERE = 4,921

As mentioned in note 16,

in addition to the

impairment provision on property, plant and
equipment, the Group recorded a total impairment
provision charge of HK$7,154,000 against right-of-use
assets to the consolidated income statement of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

A 16 Pl - BRI - BB KRR

RO EREIN

AEBEREE=

—mEF=A=+—BIEFEREA

Wt R L (E B E RS

H 48 %8 7,154,000 7 T °

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 17 ERAEEE@®)
(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of by RERREMEZEKRERPEIZ
profit or loss and other comprehensive ]
income
The statement of profit or loss and other B kEMEEWERITRATAB
comprehensive income shows the following amounts AE 45

relating to leases:

Year ended 31 December
BE+t-HA=1+—RHLEE

2024 2023
—E-mF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Amortisation charge of right-of-use ~ FREEEHEE R
assets
— Property, plant and equipment — W BB RFZE 234 2,678
— Land use right — b (E AR 18,934 14,736
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBENRERS 20 192
Impairment loss REEE 7,154 -
Short-term leases and low-value EEHE RMREEEER X
leases expenses 6,074 9,764
(c) The Group's leasing activities (c) TEEZHETH
The Group leases various property, plant and AEBEHEREYE BER&E-
equipment. Rental contracts are made for fixed HEAHNEIZ105 8 E E R AT
periods of 1 to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated 3o MEFRRIIE@RI AR F15R
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of TEEEETEGRRIEMESE - R
different terms and conditions. As at 31 December Z_NE+_A=+—HB " REFE
2024, right-of-use assets, with a net book value of 733 ABEEBIT(ZZT =% : 2600
HK$335.4 million (2023: HK$260.0 million) were BEAT)NFERAEEEDEMERR
pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings of SE3PIEEBTEENEER(Z
HK$337.1 million (2023: HK$275.4 million). T=F:2/5488%7T) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

18 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

18 REMEHE

At 31 December

R+=A=t+—H
2024 2023
—E-@OF ZE=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FEr
Beginning balance FHERR 16,063 16,344
Fair value change RAEEEE 198 =
Disposals HE (458) =
Currency translation differences INEE AT =R (340) (2817)
Ending balance FRERR 15,463 16,063

Investment properties held by the Group are all commercial
properties located in Shandong Province, the PRC.

All investment properties were revalued as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 by Graval Consulting Limited, an
independent professional qualified valuer.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of
investment properties which was determined using income
approach by reference to the projected income, cash flow
or cost savings generated by the asset.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into/out of fair
value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change
in circumstances that caused the transfer. The investment
properties are within Level 3 of fair value hierarchy as at 31
December 2024 and 2023. There were no transfer among
Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the years.

AEBEFANREEFHES BT E L
REMBEERYE

ﬁfﬁﬁ‘&éli%iﬁ;?ﬁﬁa? VEXAERMGE
EﬂiT@/Dﬂ:%EEFDEJEBE \—7—@&&_
—=ft+_A E—l—— HETEHHE -

E’\\_?_Ei)}_—\’__iJr A=+—

CREMEMENAABESRAKA
/2i WRERHRRA - BenEEEEE
BIETE AN EEE ©

REERBOR AN S SR S iE R E
WMBH BRAAAEEBESRANEA &
HeRZZE_WFRZZTE_=F+=A
=t+—8 BEUEEHERRAEERE
F3/oFAN - F1H - F2HREIR2ME
A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

18 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 18 REMEHME &)
Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value {HEAEERENABENEZ
The valuations were performed based on the income o7 SR B EE T AR IR R A E (B EA R 1B
approach (term and reversion method) or direct BOR) SN E B ESAEITRHE 0 WE BURA
comparison approach for those investment properties. The SEELF DA TN & AN ] B AR g A B ¢
following significant unobservable inputs for income
approach have been used:
Fair value at 31 December
R+=A=+-BWAAREE
Range of Relationship of
Valuation  Unobservable  unobservable unobservable
Description 2024 2023 technique(s) input(s) input(s)  input(s) to fair value
THEE THERER THREGASE
ik —ECmE —BC=E RER % BARE ABENEE HAREENER
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Commercial 15,463 16,063  Income approach Term yield — 4% The higher the term yield,
properties W AE taking into (2023:4%)  the lower the fair value
GEXUES accountofyield — (ZBE==%: EHlEEES -
generated from 4%) AREEYE
comparable
properties
and adjustment
to effect the
certainty of
term income
secured and
to be received
TE A =
— 85 R
A RmE
EERNEEAR
ARMEE B BG
RENEEFRIE H
NN taslzoFE
Discount rate 4.0%-5.0%  The higher the discount
FIRE  (2023:4.0-5.0%) rate, the lower the
(ZB==%: fair value
4.0%-5.0%) Rz
AREEBIE
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DR IE R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

18 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
(Continued)

Were the rental rate and yield rate required assumed to
increase or decrease by 10% from management’s estimate,

18 REMNHEHE @)

HERARBEREAABENBER(H)

HERRBEENEE RERERERENTR

RIBUEIE h =R 4 10% -

R-ZE-_MER=

the carrying amount of investment properties as at 31 T —F+ A=+ —HNEEEFEHED
December 2024 and 2023 would have changed as follows: EE@TEH#&EELATX :
At 31 December
R+=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-mF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FET
Investment properties increase/decrease to & MR AL N, KD E
— 10 percent rental rate higher — LI 10% 17,818 17,670
— 10 percent rental rate lower — LR 10% 13,930 14,457
Investment properties increase/decrease to  #&E& M EMEL i, SR E
— 10 percent yield rate higher — IR I IN10% 15,118 15,514
— 10 percent yield rate lower — WS = E A 10% 16,522 16,723

The following rental income amounts relating to the

NTERREMEHENHSWRABBEER

investment properties have been recognised in the fre B M E M2 I E R TR
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income:
Year ended 31 December
BZEZ+=-A=t+—HILFE
2024 2023
—E_MmF ZE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental income AL UWA 615 629
The Group leases out certain of its investment properties AREBRBELEEHELHAES TIREDE -

under operating leases. The average lease term is 1 year.
All leases are on a fixed rental basis and do not include
variable payments.

FARHA—F FBEHEANETHER

B

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 EHREE
Computer
software Patent Total
B4 =7 et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FETT FET
Year ended 31 December HZ=—T=W&
2024 TZA=+—HLEFE
Opening net book amount G ¥R FE 1,606 31,603 33,209
Amortisation charge #IHE R (481) (5,045) (5,526)
Currency translation HNEE ST B = R
differences (19) (604) (623)
Closing net book amount FRIRMEFE 1,106 25,954 27,060

At 31 December 2024 N-E-NE

+=-—HA=+-—H
Cost PR 2,636 34,725 37,361
Accumulated amortisation — ZREtEEE MOREEE
and impairment loss (1,530) (8,771) (10,301)
Net book amount REVFE 1,106 25,954 27,060
Computer
softwa re Patent Total
P B A5 =F| 4=
HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December ===
2023 '|'—FJ_'|' AIEFEE
Opening net book amount  FHIEREFE 1,933 2,418 4,351
Additions NE 84 32,481 32,565
Amortisation charge BEER (339) (3,119) (3,458)
Currency translation SN B R
differences (72) (177) (249)
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 1,606 31,603 33,209
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEZ=
+=—BA=+—H
Cost DN 2,322 35,883 38,205
Accumulated amortisation Rtk (1,114) (3,882) (4,996)
Net book amount R FE 1,208 32,001 33,209
For the year ended 31 December 2024, amortisation REE_ZE_WEF+_A=+—HIFE "
charges of intangible assets were HK$5,526,000 (2023: AEBE M\ EERENE R A5,526,000%

HK$3,458,000). TL(=T = =4 : 3458,000/57T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

20 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 20 RENBEQT

At 31 December

R+=-—B=t+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Unlisted investments JEEMIKE
Share of net assets Frih & EFE 56,166 104,575
Goodwill and adjustment SRS 86,810 88,399
142,976 192,974

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January n—A—H 192,974 209,593
Disposal k= (6,627) -
Deregistration T 8H = (7,262)
Share of losses of associates FE (LBt = N R ES 1R (39,909) (4,935)
Elimination of transactions with associates %44 BB & N RIH A 5 - 365
Net exchange losses b 5 B 15 5 RE (3,462) (4,787)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 142,976 192,974

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

20 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20 IRBREENE] (&

As at the 31 December 2024, the Company had indirect
interests in the following associates:

R-ZE-_WWFE+—_A=

)

+—H  ARFRT

BB N R A e

Carrying amount
REE
Place of
incorporation Proportion of Issued  Principal
Name and operation  ownership interest share capital ~ activities At 31 December
AR
8 By BRRERRLA BEIRE TEER RT=A=t-R
Held by the Indirectly
Company held 2024 2023
MANARE  BERE “BomE  ZBo=RF
HK$000 HK$'000
TEn TEn
Zhejiang Anju Drawin Technology China - 49% HK$200,000,000  Construction 128870 170,147
Company Limited* e 7878.200,000,000 industrialisation
MIREERMEERAR BEEFY
Baoying Maizheng Drawin Intelligent ~ China = 20% RMB100,000,000  Construction 11,828 12,086
Manufacture Technology Limited* & AR1000000007  industrialisation
ERETERBENHERAR BEEL
Shaoguan Drawin Intelligent China - 20% RMB50,000,000  Construction 2,278 2,328
Manufacture Technology Limited* ~ FE AR 50,000,00070 industrialisation
PRERBENRERAR BEEZY
YMCI China Minsheng Kunming China = 30% RMB100,000,000  Construction = 1,738
Technology Construction Limited* & AR100,000000  industrialisation
ERARPRERMEARAR BEEX
Hainan Haikong Drawin Technology China - 40% RMB15,000,000  Construction - 6,675
Company Limited* (note () E AR 15,000,000 industrialisation

BB EERRENTARAT
(Wit )

BEERL

*  For identification purpose only
Note:

(a) For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group disposed this
associate.

The financial year end dates of the above associates are
coterminous with that of the Group.
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20 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@

(b)

=l

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

20 IREMNBEQE (/)

Commitments in respect of associates (a) FEAEE QTREE
At 31 December
R+=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-MF —E_=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FETL
commitments to pay up the ST R E AN 2 A
subscription capital 16,511 16,872
summarised financial information for an (b) BMEQTAUBERRE

associate

The tables below provide summarised financial
information for the associate that is material to the
Group. The information disclosed reflects the
amounts presented in the financial statements of
Zhejiang Anju Drawin Technology Company Limited
(“Zhejiang Anju Drawin”) and not the Group's share of
those amounts. They have been amended to reflect
adjustments made by the Group when using the
equity method, including fair value adjustments and
modifications for differences in accounting policy.

TREIEAEEBEANYZ QA
MBEEHBE - IRENERRRR
MIZEERMZERAR (LR
JEEER 1) TR A FT 2 51 B BUER
MIEAREBIEZFBENNDE - T
BRERAKREEREDZETAIR
REENER]  BRAAEEAERR
HETBERMERETER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

20 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

182

(b)

20 IRERBE QT (@)

Summarised financial information for an (b) HZATMEEREE (&)
associate (Continued)
Zhejiang Anju Drawin WIRERK
The Group recognised share of loss of associates of HE_Z_WNFE+_A=+—HItF
HK$38,183,000 from Zhejiang Anju Drawin using the B AEBRRRENILEERIE
equity method for the year ended 31 December 2024 R EABRNEGHBEAREEA
(2023: profit of HK$669,000). 38,183,000 L (ZE - =F : %A
669,000 7T) °
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—EMFE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Summarised statement of B AR R E
financial position
Current assets MBNEE
Cash and cash equivalents REMRESEMEER 23,430 61,836
Other current assets B mEhEE 183,300 251,077
Total current assets MENEEBT 206,730 312,913
Non-current assets EMBEE 207,971 240,095
Current liabilities mEBE
Financial liabilities THEE
(excluding trade payables) (TRREEZENFIE) 248,369 253,802
Other current liabilities HEMnsaE 77,217 128,945
Total current liabilities mMENE FERE 325,586 382,747
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE 3,278 3,428
Net assets BEEFE 85,837 166,833
Group's share in % REEMEHE(BEDL) 49% 49%
Group’s share in HK$ REEFGHEE(BTT) 42,060 81,748
Goodwill and adjustments EEE R 86,810 88,399
Carrying amount REE 128,870 170,147
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

20 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20 IRBREE DT (@)

(b) Summarised financial information for an (b) HZATMEEREE (&)
associate (Continued)
Zhejiang Anju Drawin (Continued) WIZEER (&)

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FE&T
Summarised statement of profit or B & Hfth
loss and other comprehensive 2EKRERBE
income
Revenue A 182,071 287,854
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISELAT (E51R), I A (18,159) 1,365
Other comprehensive 10ss Hith 2 mEEE = (4,381)
Total comprehensive losses ZHEEIBERE (18,159) (3,016)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

20 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(c)

Individually immaterial associates

In addition to the interests in associates disclosed
above, the Group also has interests in a number of
individually immaterial associates that are accounted

for using the equity method.

20

BRENBE QT (7

BRIFFEXRBE QT

B £ X B R R E AR =R
AREE TR ERIEE KB QB
B WRBEAAR

(c)

At 31 December

®+=A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-OEF —E =5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FE&r
Aggregate carrying amount of (EhIE 3= PN: =N
individually immaterial associates IREARE 14,106 22,827
Aggregate amounts of the Group's ANE B (LA T ZIEH
share of: BEEE
Loss for the year FNEE (1,726) (5,604)
Other comprehensive l0ss Hih2HEEE = (2,640)
Total comprehensive losses FHSEEE (1,726) (8,244)

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

184

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
the following:

21

URanEEFEBHEZEHAR
mNEMEE

RARnBEFELEZESHARS
EBETIIRE:

S RE

At 31 December

R+=BA=+—8H
2024 2023
—E_UE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T

Non-current: ERED -

— Unlisted equity instruments (note (a)) — ¥ TR AMTZ @) 12,959 40,289
12,959 40,289

Note:

(@)

As at 31 December 2024, equity instruments are related to
investments in three (2023: five) unlisted companies in Mainland

China which are measured at fair value.
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22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7 Y =]

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

22 MEQRAINER

TRARZ-_Z-_NF+_A=+—HHEE

December 2024: HEBAREZE -
Proportion of
Place of Proportionof  Proportion of  ordinary shares
incorporation and Particulars  ordinary shares ordinary held by
operation and Principal ofissued directlyheld  shares held  non-controlling
Name kind of legal entity  activities share capital byparent by the Group interests
BAREERE rEERE FEREREE
HMALRE NS WEERNLA  WEBREA  HEBRELA
8 NREABRER IEEH BRITRARE (BAL) (BAL) (BAL)
% % %
Benelux Property Development China, limited liability ~ Property USD5,000,000 100% 100% -
(Shangha) Limitec' company development 5,000,000% 7t
EREXER(LS)BRAR mE - ARAR NEEE
South East (Shandong) Property China, limited liability ~ Property RMB15,000,000 100% 100% -
Limited@ company development  AR15,0000007C
RE(LR)EXERAR mE - ARAR NEEE
Perfect Gold Investments Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HK$2 100% 100% =
SRR EERAR liability company RERK BT
&b ARAH
Shangheng Limited BVI, limited liability Investment holding UsD1 100% 100% =
W7 ERAR company RERR 157
EBRIES BR
A
Commit Glory Investments Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HKS$1 - 100% -
IIERERRAR liability company REER 187
&b ARAR
Giant Achiever Development Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HKS$1 - 100% -
EEl¥RARAH liability company REER 187
&b ARAR
Fame Glory Investments Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HKS$1 - 100% -
ERRERRAH liability company REER 187

&% ARAA

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

22 B ATINER @)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2024 (Continued)

TRAR-ZE-_NF+-_A=+—HHEE
WEBARRE : (48)

Proportion of
Place of Proportionof  Proportion of  ordinary shares
incorporation and Particulars ordinary shares ordinary held by
operation and Principal ofissued directly held shares held  non-controlling
Name kind of legal entity  activities share capital by parent by the Group interests
BAREERE REERE FEREREE
AEMEL Y & B WEBRLA  WEBREA  HEBRLE
£ NREABRER TEER BRITRAFE (BAk) (BAl) (BAL)
% % %
Noble Walk Limited BVI, limited liability Investment holding USD1 100% 100% -
HITERAR company REER (e
RBRAES
BRAR
Noble Tide Limited BV, limited liability Investment holding UsD?1 100% 100% -
HHERAR company REER (E3
EERAES
BRAR
Zheyou Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HK$10,000 100% 100% =
HREABRAR liability company RERR 10,0007
&b ARAw
Guiyou Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HK$10,000 100% 100% =
EREEBRAH liability company ~ REHER 10000557t
&b ARAw
Drawin Intelligent Manufacture China, limited liability ~ Construction HK$1,530,000,000 - 100% -
Technology Investment Limited** company industrialisation ~1,530,000,000% 7%
SREENRRERRA" hE - BARAw BEEE
Shenzhen Drawin Inteligent Manufacture  Ching, limited liability  Construction HK$200,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited* company industrialisation 77.200,000,000
MIERBEMRERAT ME - ARAR BEER
Lux Property Construction Technology ~ Ching, limited liability ~ Construction HK$200,000,000 = 100% =
(Shanghai) Limited*® company industrialisation #78.200,000,000
FERENR (L8 ARAR® hE - BARAw BEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 22 MEBATKNER @)
(Continued)
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 TRARZZEZNF+-_A=+—HWNEE
December 2024: (Continued) MEBAREE: (&)
Proportion of
Place of Proportionof  Proportion of  ordinary shares
incorporation and Particulars  ordinary shares ordinary held by
operation and Principal ofissued directly held shares held  non-controlling
Name kind of legal entity  activities share capital by parent by the Group interests
BAREERE rEE5E  FEREERE
AEMEN Y & B WERRLA  WEBREA  HEBRLA
£ NREABRER IEER BRAREFHE (BAk) (BAl) (AAL)
% % %
Nanjing Drawin Inteligent Manufacture ~ Ching, limited liability ~ Construction HK$200,000,000 - 97% 3%
Technology Limitea*® company industrialisation 775.200,000,000
(“Nanjing DIT Limited") (note (3) HEl - BRAF BEEX(
BRERBENRERRT®
(HREREENEERAT])
(i)
Hengyang Drawin Intelligent Manufacture  China, limited liabiity ~ Construction HK$100,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation 100,000,000 7%
EHERBENRERAR® hE - ARAA BEER
Foshan Drawin Intelligent Manufacture ~ Ching, limited liability  Construction HK$100,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation 100,000,000 575
BERBENRERATC hE - ARAA BEER
Hefei Drawin Intelligent Manufacture China, limited liability  Construction HK$95,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation 95,000,0007%
ARERBENEERAR® hE - ARAA BEER
Changsha Drawin Intelligent Manufacture  Ching, limited liability  Construction HK$1,108,000,000 = 51% 49%
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation ~1,108,000,0007&7C

(“Changsha DIT Limited") (ote (8) ~ #El - BRAF BEER(
ROEREENRARARC
([RYERBENFERAR])

(M)
Kunshan Drawin Intelligence China, limited liability ~ Construction RMB50,000,000 = 100% =
Construction Technology Limited*® company industrialisation A& %50,000,00070

ELEREERENBERAA® TE - BRAFE BEER(
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

188

(Continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

22 B ATINER @)

TERAR-_ZE_NF+_A=+—HHIE

December 2024: (Continued) MEBAREE: (&)
Proportion of
Place of Proportionof  Proportion of  ordinary shares
incorporation and Particulars ordinary shares ordinary held by
operation and Principal ofissued directlyheld  shares held  non-controlling
Name kind of legal entity activities share capital byparent by the Group interests
BAREERE rREHE  FEREERE
HMEUREEHS BRI EERLA  WEBRLY
8 NREABRER TEER BRITRAFES (BAk) (BAk) (AAL)
% % %
Drawin Intelligent Manufacture Intelligent -~ Ching, limited liability ~ Construction HK$23,650,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation 23,650,000/
SREEBWMRERAR® hE - ARAR BEEX(
Huizhou Drawin Intelligent Manufacture  China, limited liabiity ~ Construction RMB60,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited* company industrialisation AR 60,000,007
BMNERBEMRERAR® hE - ARAA BEEX(
Huidong Drawin Intelligent Manufacture  China, limited liabiity ~ Construction RMB40,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation AR 40,000,007
ERERBENRERATC hE - ARAA BEEX(
Yuxi Drawin Intelligent Manufacture China, limited liability  Construction RMB100,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation ARE
TRERBEMRERAR® hE - ARAA BEER 100,000,007
Qingdao Shi Jiaozhou Drawin Intelligent  Ching, limited liability  Construction RMB137,250,000 = 51% 49%
Manufacture Technology Limited*® company industrialisation ARE
(“Qingdao Shi Jiaozhou DIT mE - ARAT BEEZE 137,250,0007%
Limited") (note (3))
ERMBMNER BENRARAT
([EETBNEREENZAR
PN
Xiangtan Drawin Intelligent Manufacture  China, limited liability  Construction RMB70,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited* company industrialisation AR 70,000,007
MEXRBEMRERAR® hE - ARAR BEEX(
Jiaozuo Drawin Intelligent Manufacture - China, limited liability  Construction RMB70,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation AR 70,000,007
EEEREEMRERAR® hE - ARAR BEEX(
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(Continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2024 (Continued)

7 Y =]

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

22 B ATINER @)

TRAR-ZE-_NF+-_A=+—HHEE

MEAREE : (&)

Proportion of

Place of Proportionof  Proportion of  ordinary shares

incorporation and Particulars  ordinary shares ordinary held by

operation and Principal ofissued directly held shares held  non-controlling

Name kind of legal entity activities share capital byparent by the Group interests

BAREERE rEERE FERBRERE

FMRIRER LS HERRLA EERILE  WERRLA

2 NREABRER IEEH BRITRAFE (BAL) (At (BAk)

% % %

Huai'an Drawin Intelligent Manufacture ~ China, limited fiability ~ Construction RMB70,000,000 - 100% -
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation AR 70,000,0007C

ERERBENRERAR® mE - BRAR BEEE

Chongging Shi Qijiang Qu Drawin Inteligent  China, limited liability  Construction RMB100,000,000 - 100% -
Manufacture Technology Limited*® company industrialisation ARE
EETAIREREENZARRR  HE BRAF BEEX( 100,000,000

Wuxi Drawin Intelligent Manufacture China, limited liability ~ Construction RMB100,000,000 - 100% -
Construction Technology Limited*® company industrialisation ARE
BOARBERENHERAR® mE - BRAR BEEX( 100,000,000

Chengdu Dayi China Minsheng Drawin ~ China, limited liability ~ Construction RMB100,000,000 - 100% -
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation ARE
ABABRRERMRARAA® hE - BRAA BEEE 100,000,000

Wuhan China Minsheng DIT Limited*® China, limited liability ~ Construction RMB100,000,000 - 100% -
REPRERBENRERAR® company industrialisation ARE
mE - ARAR BEEX( 100,000,000

Chengdu China Minsheng DIT China, limited liability ~ Construction RMB70,000,000 - 100% -
Limitea+e company industrialisation AR 70,000,0007C

ABrRERBENRARAA® hE - BRAA BEEX(

Tianjin China Minsheng DIT Limited*® China, limited liability ~ Construction RMB150,000,000 - 100% -
REPRERBENRERAR® company industrialisation ARE
mE - ARAR BEEX( 150,000,000

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 22 MEARKNER @)
(Continued)
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 TRARZZE-ZNF+-_A=+—HHNEE
December 2024 (Continued) MEBARIZE : (&)
Proportion of
Place of Proportionof  Proportion of  ordinary shares
incorporation and Particulars  ordinary shares ordinary held by
operation and Principal ofissued directly held shares held  non-controlling
Name kind of legal entity activities share capital by parent by the Group interests
BARERERE r8E5E  FEREERE
aMRIRER LS AR A VEBRILA  WEBRLA
8 NREABRER TEER BRITRAFE (BAL) (BAt) (BAk)
% % %
Langfang Drawin Inteligent Manufacture  China, limited liabiity  Construction RMB150,000,000 - 100% -
Technology Limitea*® company industrialisation ARE
BAEREENRERARC hE - BRAE BEEE 150,000,000
Nantong Drawin Intelligent Manufacture  Ching, limited liability  Construction RMB100,000,000 - 60% 40%
Technology Limitea*® company industrialisation ARE
(‘Nantong DIT Limited) (note (8) %1 - BRAA BEEX( 100,000,007

BRERSENRARARC
([EBEREENEARAF)

(Hiit@)

Zhoukou Drawin Intelligent Manufacture — China, limited liability  Construction RMB70,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation AR #70,000,000 70

AREREEREERAR® mE - ARAR BEER

Zhengzhou Drawin Intelligent Manufacture - Ching, limited liability  Construction RMB300,000,000 = 100% =
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation ARE

DMEREERBARAR® mE - ARAR BEER 300,000,000

Zhengzhou Drawin Construction China, limited liability  Construction RMB30,000,000 = 100% =
Limited+e company industrialisation A& 30,000,000

INERBERNERAR® mE - ARAR BEER

Drawin Intelligent Landscaping China, limited liability  Landscaping RMB50,000,000 = 100% =
Construction Co,, Ltd.* company services AR 50,000,007

FREEENIRERAF® mE - ARAR Bl R

Drawin Inteligent Decoration Construction ~ China, limited liability ~ Decoration RMB50,000,000 = 100% =
Co, Ltd.xe company services AR 50,000,007

FREERHIRERAF® mE - ARAR RS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

22 B ATINER @)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 TRAER-ZE-_NF+_A=1+t—HHEZE

December 2024: (Continued) MEAREZE : (&)
Proportion of
Place of Proportionof  Proportion of  ordinary shares
incorporation and Particulars  ordinary shares ordinary held by
operation and Principal ofissued directly held shares held  non-controlling
Name kind of legal entity  activities share capital by parent by the Group interests
BAREERE rEE5E  FEREERE
aMRIRER LS HEBRLA VEBRILA  WEBRLA
8 NREABRER IEEH BRITRAE (BAL) (B2t (BAk)
% % %
Drawin Construction Limitec*® China, limited liability  Construction RMB100,000,000 - 100% -
FREERZIRARARC company industrialisation ARE
hE - ARAA BEER 100,000,000
Luoyang Drawin Intelligent Manufacture  China, limited liabiity ~ Construction RMB100,000,000 - 100% -
Technology Limitea*® company industrialisation ARE
REEREENRARAA® hE - ARAA BEER 100,000,000
Zhumacian Drawin Intelligent Manufacture - China, limited liability  Construction RMB60,000,000 - 100% -
Technology Limited*® company industrialisation A% 60,000,0007C
EREERBENRARARC hE - ARAA BEEX(
Drawin Decoration and Construction China, limited liability ~ Decoration RMB50,000,000 - 100% -
Limiteg*2 company services ARE50,000,0007C
ERBERNHRETIRARARC mE - ARAR RERB
Henan Drawin Decoration Limitec* China, limited liability  Construction RMBA450,000,000 - 100% -
MEEREERDEXRERARC company industrialisation ARE
hE - ARAA BEES 450,000,000 7T
Haikou Drawin Construction Technology  China, limited fiability ~ Construction RMB10,000,000 - 100% -
Limitea*e company industrialisation A% 10,000,0007C
BOERBENRERAR® hE - ARAA BEEX(
Hainan Drawin Intelligent Manufacture ~ China, limited liabiity ~ Construction RMB100,000,000 - 100% -
Construction Technology L‘\m\'ted*@ company industrialisation ARE
BREREERENRARLA hE - ARAA BEES 100,000,000

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

192

(Continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2024 (Continued)

22 B ATINER @)

TRAR-ZE-_NF+-_A=+—HHEE

MEARGE: (8)

Proportion of
Place of Proportionof  Proportion of  ordinary shares
incorporation and Particulars  ordinary shares ordinary held by
operation and Principal ofissued directly held shares held  non-controlling
Name kind of legal entity activities share capital by parent by the Group interests
BARERERE r8E5E  FEREERE
aMRIRER LS AR A VEBRILA  WEBRLA
8 NREABRER TEER BRITRAFE (BAL) (BAt) (BAL)
% % %
Henan Delixin New Material Limited*® ~ China, limited liabiity ~ Construction RMB30,000,000 - 100% -
AEENERMHERARe company industrialisation  AR#30,000,0007C
hE - BRAE BEEX(
Luoyang Drawin Intelligent Construction  China, limited liabiity ~ Construction RMB30,000,000 - 100% -
Limitea+e company industrialisation A %30,000,0007C
REEREERMERARC hE - BRAE BEEX(
Zhumadian Drawin Intelligent China, limited liability  Construction RMB30,000,000 - 100% -
Construction Limiteci*@ company industrialisation AR %30,000,0007C
EREEREERMERAR® hE - BRAE BEEX(
Hefei Drawin Decoration Construction ~ China, limited liability ~ Decoration RMB10,000,000 - 100% -
Co,, Lid.xe company services AEE10,000,0007C
AREREHIRERARC mE - BRAR k%
Henan DIT Green Technology Limited* ~ China, limited liabiity ~ Construction RMB10,000,000 - 100% -
MEERGERRERAT company industrialisation AR 10,000,007
hE - ARAE BEEX(
Henan Zhuxie Technology Limitec*® China, limited liability  Construction RMBS,000,000 - 100% -
MEERRERAR® company industrialisation A% #$8,000,0007¢
hE - ARAE BEEX(
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

22 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2024 (Continued)

*  English for identification purpose only

A Registered as wholly foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law

@ Registered as domestic limited liability companies under PRC law

# Registered as a limited liability company (invested by Hong Kong)
under PRC law

Note:

(@)

The Group holds 97%, 51%, 51%, and 60% equity interest of
Nanjing DIT Limited*, Changsha DIT Limited*, Qingdao Shi
Jiaozhou DIT Limited* and Nantong DIT Limited*, respectively.
The voting right shall be exercised in proportion to the capital
contribution, according to the Company Articles. Except for
modification of Company Article, increase or decrease of
registered capital, company merger or division and change of
corporate structure, a resolution to be made by the
shareholders general assembly shall be subject to adoption by
more than half of the voting rights held by the shareholders.
Nanjing DIT Limited*, Changsha DIT Limited*, Qingdao Shi
Jiaozhou DIT Limited*, and Nantong DIT Limited* are owned by
the Company and are accounted for a subsidiaries by virtue of
the Group’s control over it.

22 B ATINER @)

Ti‘*%?%ﬁ/\_v_mi‘f’ R=+—H®FE

* (ERHEG

N REFEDE R B ERELF

@ REHEEEFMBEANERAENA]

# REFEZFEIMREREENA(GEREE)

FifeE -

(@) $%ﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ“ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
RO EREERFRAERDR - SEMBMNER
BERARA ﬂﬂﬁLﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ
A197% * 51% * 51% & 60% H B 4 © RIK A 7)
12 RESRFZARRIRLELHIITERR
o RIS R RIER - sk E R D E MM E
K REIEHRD I REFNAEBIN - RE
RERFHERRZD Z— U ERREHBRE
i o %#ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%iﬂ&ﬁ@
A RO BERBERBRERRAR - SSTEBM
EREERNHARA ﬂﬂﬁLﬁE%ﬁﬂ&ﬁ
FRAREIEHIE - ZEFARBARRAEAL
EBKTEA R -
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23

194

INVENTORIES 23 78

At 31 December

R+=—HA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-UE —E=4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Raw materials R 33,482 42,842
Finished goods BURK oh 54,490 77,565
Goods in transit FEEm 8,238 8,907
Low value articles KEZEm 14 24
Work in progress &M 14,154 12,578
Inventory provision FERE (3,831) (3,414)
106,547 138,502

Provisions of inventories to net realisable value amounted
to HK$3,831,000 (2023: HK$3,414,000). These were
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Inventories recognised as cost of sales during the year

ended 31 December 2024 was HK$135,836,000 (2023:
HK$440,703,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24 B 5 R E/{hFEREIE R a8
PREPAYMENTS

At 31 December

R+=—HA=+—H
2024 2023
—EMFE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Trade receivables — third parties BIREWHRIE —F=7 973,546 1,302,603

Trade receivables — related parties B S REWNGIE — @S 722,479 661,190

Amounts due from related parties JiE Uk BA B 5 SRR 68,916 202,680

Notes receivable U ESS S 46,460 45,545

Prepayments — third parties FERNHRE—F=H 76,858 34,378

Prepayments — related parties TEfTFRIE — B A 15,893 65,052

Land auction deposits THERRIRE S 2,244 3,608

Value-added tax recoverable AT U Bl E 9,493 6,840

Deposits e 15,625 16,412

Receivables relating to disposal RN ENE R TR ER

of subsidiaries K8 1,828 1,868

Others Hfth 81,700 63,893

2,015,042 2,404,069

Less: Provision for impairment of trade BB R E A ERGIE

and other receivables (note (a)) BIEREAE (A7t @) (292,166) (238,203)
1,722,876 2,165,866

Note: Bifet -

(@  As at 31 December 2024, such balance included provision for (@ RZZTZMF+-A=1+—H Z&HReREE
impairment of trade and notes receivables of HK$258,386,000 5) IR WUk T8 % 8 Wit 52 4% 258,386,000 78 7T 9 Ik
and provision for impairment of other receivables of 1B 7 {5 B £ h 8 Uk 30 33,780,000 78 JT YRR
HK$33,780,000 (31 December 2023: HK$215,968,000 and BE(ZE_=F+=-A=+T—H: 95lA
HK$22,235,000 respectively). 215,968,000 7 & 22,235,000 7T ) ©
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24

196

AR ISR RMIEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

An ageing analysis of trade and notes receivable as at 31
December 2024 and 2023, from the date when they were
recognised, is as follows:

EZREMBUWRERFEMNRE
(#)

B HRNFIEREREER S _MF R
T =F+_-_A=+t—HBHEERAZBLENE
RO :

At 31 December

Rt+=B=+—8
2024 2023
—ECmE —F-=F
HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FE&T
Less than 1 year DR—F 330,899 872,697
1to 2 years —EMF 846,663 1,031,270
Over 2 years BB T 564,923 105,371
1,742,485 2,009,338

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 is the carrying value of each class of
receivables mentioned above.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair values of trade
and other receivables approximate their carrying amounts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables and prepayments are denominated in the
following currencies:

R-FE_WFER_F_=F+_A=1+—H
PR = E SRR A Lt &85 R RIR
MAREE °

R-B_OER-_FT_=F+-_H=1—
A 2 REMEKREAEN I ABERLR
HE{ERE -

REBONE 5 K H b &R A R IR
MAREEA N HIEHEEHE -

At 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-{mEF —EF-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
HK$ BIT 3,418 205,807
RMB AR 1,719,458 1,960,059
1,722,876 2,165,866

The creation of provision for impairment of receivables has
been included in “Net impairment losses” in the condensed
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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25 IReRRELFEFEIEH

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

At 31 December

Rt+t=BA=+—8
2024 2023
—E-ME =4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash at bank and on hand RITFEAEFERE
— Denominated in HK$ — AT AHE 824 549
— Denominated in RMB — UAR®EEHE 5,611 8,737
6,435 9,286
RESTRICTED CASH 26 BR#IRE
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E_ME —F_=
HK$'000 HK$000
FETT FET
Restricted cash ERFIRE
— Frozen for litigation (note (a)) — FRAREE (Bt (a)) 26,819 24,721
Note: Bifet -
(@  Asat 31 December 2024, bank deposits with a carrying amount (@ RZTE-ZHWF+=-A=+—HB REEAR

of HK$26,819,000 (2023: HK$24,721,000) were frozen due to

litigation.

EYERTTIF R B B AR R4S ©

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF

26,819,000/ C( =T = =4F : 24,721,000% )

197



|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27 BEZREMENSTRIE

At 31 December

Rt+t=—BA=+—8

2024 2023

—E-MEF TEC=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Trade payables — third parties BORENFIE —F=7 1,083,001 1,256,727

Trade payables — related parties B SN FIE — i 16,692 27,208

Accrued tax payable FEST RIS 3R 135,738 112,708
Accrued payable for property, plant and VI - BB R B ERES

equipment construction — third parties HIE—H=7 99,956 63,715
Accrued payable for property, plant and Y%~ B RS R IER

equipment construction — related parties  FIE — B4 39,987 50,582

Amounts due to related parties e RERS 5 5B 92,221 232,733

Accrued payroll fEEtITE 30,035 26,982

Deposits i 9,342 8,845

Interest payable FE R B 61,972 12,316

Others EAth 43,319 56,098

1,612,263 1,847,914
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of trade payables as at 31 December
2024 and 2023, from the date when they were incurred, is
as follows:

7 ESREMEMNSFIE @)

ERNFRBER_E_NFR_TE-_=F
TZA=t+—HBEELZBRERKRES T
T

At 31 December

W+=—A=+—8

2024 2023

—E_ME —E=4F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHT FETT

Less than 1 year DR —F 247,893 1,220,999

Over 1 year ZR—F 851,800 62,936

1,099,693 1,283,935
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair values of trade R-B_MEER_F_=F+_A=+—
and other payables approximate their carrying amounts. B B REMENTENREERLR

EEAES °

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of
the trade and other payables are primarily denominated in
RMB.

R -_NER T -_=F+-F=+—
B BESREMENFENRBEEZNUA
R¥EHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

28 BORROWINGS 28 {8&
At 31 December
R+=—HA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Non-current, secured: JEBNHER - BEA :

— Bank borrowings —RTEE 1,056,046 1,001,979

Non-current, unsecured: JEBNEY - MK

— Bank borrowings — RITEE 21,648 1,628
1,077,694 1,003,607

Less: Current portion of non-current B REEEMBIEE S
borrowings (357,700) (162,351)

Non-current, total JEBNHR - 45t 719,994 841,256

Current, secured: BNHR - B :

— Bank borrowings — RITEE 419,391 578,086

Current, unsecured: BNHE - K -

— Bank borrowings — RITEE 182,565 145,787
601,956 723,873

Current portion of non-current borrowings & EBEE#BIHIEE 357,700 162,351

Current, total BNER - 45T 959,656 886,224

Notes: HtaF -

(@  These bank borrowings of the Group are secured by property, (@) AKELFRITEEURNEEYE  BE KK
plant and equipment (note 16), right-of-use assets (note 17) and & (FizE16) ~ EAEEE (H:E17) RER 4
restricted cash deposit of the Group and/or guaranteed by WEF R &SR R B A 7 s B
subsidiaries of the Company or related parties (note 34(c)). 75 (3% 34(0)) 1R HELR ©

() The borrowings are all denominated in RMB and their fair values b) FBEEEHAARESE  RAABHEBEER
approximate their carrying amounts. HEHRS °
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

28 BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

©

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group failed to repay
multiple commercial bank borrowings amounted to
RMB183,456,000 (equivalent to HK$198,108,000) and interest
payable amounted to RMB19,150,000 (equivalent to
HK$20,679,000) in total according to the scheduled repayment
dates, each of which constituted an event of default (collectively,
“Bank Borrowing Defaults”). Such events of default resulted in
the mentioned borrowings amounted to RMB333,456,000
(equivalents to HK$360,080,000) as at 31 December 2024
becoming immediately repayable if requested by the lenders, of
which RMB141,016,000 (equivalent to HK$152,278,000)
represented bank borrowings with scheduled repayment dates
within one year, while the remaining RMB192,440,000
(equivalent to HK$207,810,000) represented the non-current
portion with original maturity dates beyond 31 December 2024
that were reclassified as current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

28 {&E #®)
izt - (&)

© HBHEZZ-_NF+ZA=+—HBLEFE X &
SERGERETE T &5 A B E S ER HERTT
& & A& #£ A R #183,456,0007t( 8 &
198,108,000/ 7T ) LA R IEF F B & £ AR
19,150,000 7T (#8574 20,679,000 7T ) + & 1H
EBEEBRENEH (BRBIRTERELN]) -
ZERHEHEFN-_T-_ME+—A=1—
B & il g & A R ¥ 333,456,000 70 (#8557
360,080,000 7T ) AR B R A 2 sk ks Bl B (5
2 HAP AR #141,0160007T( 48 & ®
152,278,000 7t) ATEE B A B —F AR
TEE - MR T AR 192,440,000 7T (FHEF R
207,810,000 70) BRI HABB =T —H4F
+—A=+—HRERBED EEFDEAE
TENBE -

== =F+-A=t—8"
SENEREREERNT :

At 31 December

R+=—A=+—8
2024 2023
—E-ME — =4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Within 1 year or on demand —FANIREK 959,656 886,224
Later than 1 year but within 2 years ZR—FRLRMF 322,556 520,183
Later than 2 years but within 5 years ZIRMFERLRAF 397,438 321,073
1,679,650 1,727,480

The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 were as follows:

e BEZF_NMNFR_ZF_=F+-_A=+—H
Copliv: SRSk RS INE

At 31 December

R+=A=+—H
2024 2023
—EB-MEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank borrowings RITERE 4.57% 4.93%
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 29 EIEFRBH
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Deferred tax assets FEBIEEE
— t0 be recovered after more than — ERAERE 1218 A 15 Uk 3l
12 months 94,987 61,856
— to0 be recovered within 12 months — B 1218 A R [E 16,253 51,817
111,240 113,673
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE
— to be settled after more than 12 months — R 8:8 121& B & B (11,915) (12,654)
— t0 be settled within 12 months — R 12E A RER (1,980) (2,301)
(13,895) (14,955)
Deferred tax assets — net EERIBEE — F5 97,345 98,718

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account
is as follows:

BIEFTSHAR B HREFHMT

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023

—E-WE —EB-=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FE&T

At beginning of the year RED 98,718 63,220
Credited to profit or loss (note 13) T AB= (K 13) 749 36,475
Currency translation differences N AT =R (2,122) 977)
At the end of the year RER 97,345 98,718
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balance within
the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:

29 RIEFRSH &)

REBEZE_ZT_NEFR-_ZT_=F1+2_H
=+—HILFE EBEMSHEERBEN
BE) (Wt R AR — R RERE R A E
BIAEER) AT

Deferred income tax liabilities EEFREHERE
Depreciation
of property,
Government plant and
Grant  equipment Others Total
¥ BER
BB RIENE Hit #@gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FET 8T
At 1 January 2024 R-ZE-NE—-F—H 5,989 8,524 442 14,955
Credit to profit or loss AR (181) (476) (92) (749)
Currency translation differences — SNEITE =% (126) (175) (10) (311)
At 31 December 2024 bl 11 -3
—“H=t—H 5,682 7,873 340 13,895
At 1 January 2023 R-ZEBE-=f—-H—H 5,991 8,647 (541) 14,097
Debit to profit or loss REZNR - - 982 982
Currency translation differences — SNEITE =% ) (123) 1 (124)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBE==
+=A=t- 5,989 8,524 442 14,955

—EomEsR.srsengegaras 203



|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) IRIEFR B ()
Deferred income tax assets EEFFBHREE
Elimination of
intra-group
unrealised Share-hased
Tax losses profit  Provisions compensation Leases Total
EHSER
NG NRGBA
hKER  AEREHN B ERM#e HE @it
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
TAL T AT AT A AT
At 1 January 2024 R-2-mE-A-R 55,371 24,474 30,445 2,412 971 113,673
Currency translation differences  SMNEHEZHE (1,185) (524) (651) (52) 21) (2,433)
At 31 December 2024 R=ZZmE+ZA=1-H 54,186 23,950 29,794 2,360 950 111,240
At 1 January 2023 R=B-=£-f-A 24,425 29,052 21329 2072 239 71317
Credit/debit) to profitorloss  AMBEAK/(F1k) 31702 (5,526) 10,127 37 742 37457
Currency translation differences M EZ (79) 748 (1,011) (32 (10) (1,10
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=£+ZA=t-H 55,371 2474 30,445 2412 971 113673

Deferred tax assets arising from the unused tax losses have
been recognised to the extent that it is probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow such
deferred tax assets to utilised this year in the consolidated

financial statements.

The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets relating to
unused tax losses of approximately HK$986.0 million on 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$559.0 million).
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$19.6
million (2023: HK$37.4 million) that will expire in 2029 (2023:
2028). Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 A
Authorised shares EER A

Number of
authorised shares
EERBEER

As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R=ZZE=_=F—H—H ZZT==F

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 +—A=+—8 —ZE-_mW&F—A—HK

—E-OFE+=—A=+—H 6,250,000,000

Issued shares EETRA

Number of Ordinary shares
issued shares  (nominal value)
(at HK$0.4 each) ZERK(HE)

ERITROHE HK$000
(BR04%ET) FEIT

As at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—HF—H 3,102,400,730 1,240,960
Cancellation of Treasury Stock — E1FM LS (1,305,000) (522)
As at 31 December 2023, RZZEZ=F+=-H=+—H"

1 January 2024 and T MNF-H—HK

31 December 2024 —EoNF+=ZA=+—H 3,101,095,730 1,240,438
All the shares issued rank pari passu in all respects. FEDZETRNES A EEZE RIS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

31 RESERVES ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE GROUP

31 AEEHA ABILFHE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KDREB AR
Contributed
Share  Exchange surplus Other Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R EE ERfE HARBHEHE HitiffE RitEE @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEIL
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-_mF—A—H 1,032,009 (131,028) 100,142 48,587 (409,670) 640,040
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (463,585) (463,585)
Other comprehensive income: Ht2EIKE :
Currency translation difference  HNEHEEE - (45,430) = = = (45,430)
Total comprehensive loss FEREBRER
for the year - (45,430) = - (463,585) (509,015)
Transactions with owners: HEEAETHRS
Share-based compensation DA BER AL - - - (3,650) 5,693 2,043
At 31 December 2024 RZEZmE
+-R=1—H 1,032,009 (176,458) 100,142 44,937 (867,562) 133,068
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—F—H 1,031,540 (94,602) 100,142 44,773 (93,937) 987,916
Loss for the year FEBE - - - - (315,733) (315,733)
Other comprehensive income:  E 2 EKH :
Currency translation difference  HNEHEEE - (36,426) - - - (36,426)
Total comprehensive loss FEXEFRES
for the year - (36,426) - - (315,733) (352,159)
Transactions with owners: REBEAETHRS
Share-based compensation KR BEROME - - - 3814 - 3814
Share buy-backs R EE (53) - = = - (53)
Cancellation of Treasury Stock HHERR (HH£30)

(note 30) 522 = - - - 522
Total transactions with owners BB A2 R 545 469 - - 3814 - 4,283
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%

+-R=1— 1,032,009 (131,028) 100,142 48,587 (409,670) 640,040
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

32 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 32 FEiEhRfER
The non-controlling interests of the Group are as follows: AEFE R FEIEER I
At 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT F#ET
Changsha DIT Limited ROV EREEREBR AR 540,900 554,925
Qingdao Shi Jiaozhou DIT Limited EEMBMNERESER
BRAF] 66,622 71,822
Nantong DIT Limited FRER S ERR AR AR 32,139 41,316
Nanjing DIT Limited ARERSEREERAR 6,306 7,101
645,967 675,164
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

32 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 32 IJEI=PSH#EZS (@)

Summarised financial information on a subsidiary BEEARFEEREZNHBATMNEEE
with material non-controlling interests — BE —RAEREEREERLA T
Changsha DIT Limited

Set out below are the summarized financial information for TXHEHINEA LR EERTAR AREAR Y
the Changsha DIT Limited that has non-controlling interests AREBMEBEARNIEERERAITEER
that are material to the Group. BEE o

Summarised statement of financial position BB R EE

At 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current BNHA

Assets BiE 482,751 520,942
Liabilities =LEd (152,376) (148,364)
Total net current assets BRENEEFE 330,375 372,578

Non-current RS
Assets BE 529,475 530,920
Liabilities afE (21,190) (21,653)
Total net non-current assets wWIEREEEFE 508,285 509,267
Net assets BEFE 838,660 881,845
Accumulated NCI Rt FERER 540,900 554,925
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

32 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 32 3E¥ERRHEZS (@)

BREEAFEREZNHBLIANMEE
HMHE — ROEREENKRERQT (H)

Summarised financial information on a subsidiary
with material non-controlling interests —
Changsha DIT Limited (Continued)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

R REMEEKZERHEE

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023

—E_MEF —E_=F

HK$'000 HK$000

FET FET

Revenue A (29,039) 47,603
Loss before income tax BRFET SR AT 1B (29,039) (16,248)
Income tax expenses PSR X - 2,371
Total comprehensive loss 2HEBEAE (14,229) (13,877)

Total comprehensive loss allocated to S EEFZEREZNEME

non-controlling interests EiE4 (15,093) (6,800)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests A 3422 A% #E 28K 15 F A% 2. - -

Summarised statement of cash flows BEHhERHME

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023

—EmEF ZEZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FA&T

Cash flows from operating activities KETEBFSHIRERE 6,058 1,724

Cash flows used in investing activities KEEBFANRSRE - (1,735)

Cash flows used in financing activities BEEBMAMNRESRE (6,117) -
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 8 K&I8 &5 EEH

HEE (59) (1)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

33 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 33 URaAERENSR

210

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 17 July 2020, the Group adopted a new
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”).
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, a total number of
201,850,000 share options was subsequently granted to
selected employees on 30 November 2020. Subject to
certain service and non-market performance conditions,
the granted share options can be vested in several tranches
since 30 November 2020 with a validity period of 10 years.
Once vested, the granted share options are exercisable
within 3 years from the vesting date.

Movements in the number of share options granted and
their related weighted average exercise prices were as
follows:

REARFABRRR-_Z_TFLtA+LREAE
BEVRES - NEBRA—IE B S
(TRERHERT8)) - IRIBBRERE - &K
201,850,000 {7 FEAERE RN — T —FTF +—
A=ZTERTREEERS - FFEKE ?HW{
FOEMBERBIGMHR - REONBEREE =
“EF+—-RA=t+HERETHES - ﬁxﬁl
HR10%F - —EREB  cREBRETER
BHEE=FATTE -

BB B R EARR RS TEEN
ZEmh

Weighted average

Number of exercise price

share options per share option

SHEREN

BREHE INFEF 9T EE

Outstanding as at 1 January 2024 RZE-—WF—H—H 127,300,000 HK$1.09
mARITE 1.09% T

Forfeited in 2024 MRZT ZERRK (24,393,332) HK$1.09
1.09% T

Outstanding as at 31 December RZZEZWFE+=ZA=+—H 102,906,668 HK$1.09
2024 B AR TIE 1.098 7T
Outstanding as at 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—HF—H 153,050,000 HK$1.09
R ARTT 1 1.0977T

Forfeited in 2023 R-T-=FRRIK (25,750,000) HK$1.09
1.09%87T

Outstanding as at 31 December RZE-=F+-F=+—H 127,300,000 HK$1.09
2023 M ARTT 1.0978 7T

The number of share options exercisable of 31 December
2024 is nil (2023: nil).
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

33 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The fair value of the share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme as at 30 November 2020, the grant date,
was HK$27,794,000 and was determined by reference to
the market price of HK$1.09 per ordinary share on the grant
date.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 7,070,000 (2023:
16,260,000) granted share options were cancelled and
17,323,332 (2023: 9,490,000) granted share options were
lapsed because of failure to satisfy the non-market
performance conditions.

The Group recognised an expense with a corresponding
decrease in equity of HK$2,046,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$3,814,000).

33 IRMBHBERNNTR@®

RZZE_TF+—A=+HELBH)RE
BREFESRENERENAOABER
27,794,000 7T« K2 EXR L BHERE
AR 1.09BTTHTEETE °

BHE-_ZT-_NE+-_A=+—RHILEE
7,070,00019 (ZZ = =4 : 16,260,00013) E
BB & 17,3233 (B - =4 :
9,490,00017 ) B £ HH g Ax E B R e i B IETH
IBRBIGHE MBI RORUK -

AREFREBEE-_E-_MFE+-_A=1+—Hit
F [E FE A B 2 37 48 R 4 #E 252,046,000 78
T(ZE =% : 3,814,000/87T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

34 EBERS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties (a) BABAINBBREHRBR
Name Relationship
£ &

Jianye Holdings Limited*
BERERERA

Drawin Intelligent Manufacture Technology
Industry Group Limited*
EREEZRBEEBARA A

Drawin Intelligent Construction Technology
Group Co., Ltd.*
EREEEZRMBREERRA

China Minsheng Drawin Culture Co., Ltd.*
RRERXEIBRAR]

Jiayao Global Investments Limited (“Jiayao”)*
=R (BB REERA A ([Z2))

Drawin Intelligent Construction Design
Company Limited*
FREERERABRD

China Minsheng Drawin Co., Ltd.*
PRERGRAA

Hunan China Minsheng Drawin Green
Construction Investment Limited*
WP RERGEREGRAR]

Drawin Intelligent Construction New Material
Company Limited.*
EREEFMERAA

Central China Real Estate Limited and its affiliate

companies*
BEMERNER AT RENE AR

212 onr Group Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder
X [B) — S AR AR AR SR A

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

(] — AR AR 122 P A BR 4%

i

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

2 B — Ex AR AR AR B A

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder
2[Rl — Fe AR PR AR AR B 2 o)

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder
X [B) — S AP AR AR SR A

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

R [R— B AR PR R AR SR

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder
X [A] — S A AR AR SR A

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

R [R)— Ex AR PR B A SR A%

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

[ — AR A 22 P AR BR A%

><IH

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

R [R)— Bx AR PR B A SR A%
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

34 BEBAE RS @)

(Continued)

(@) Name and relationship with related parties (a) B AW BBKREEBERE)
(Continued)
Name Relationship
£1B B

Henan Central China Property Management
Co., Ltd.*
EEENEEERRAA

Zhengzhou One Family Electronic Technology
Co., Ltd.*
M —REFREERAA

Henan Central China New Life Travel Service
Co., Ltd.*
IR R AR IRERIEERA A

YMCI China Minsheng Kunming Technology
Group Co., Ltd.*
EEBRTFREERBMEARAT

Zhejiang Anju Drawin Technology Company
Limited*
LR EEREHERER AR

Xiangxi China Minsheng Drawin Technology
Company Limited*
MR RERBREREERR]

Hainan Haikong Drawin Technology Company.
Limited*
BREEEREER AR AR

Shaoguan Drawin Intelligent Manufacture
Technology Limited*
HBAEREENFEERAA

Nanyang Drawin Intelligent Manufacture
Technology Limited*
MAEEREERFEERA A

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

R [R— Ex AR PR R B SR A%

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

2[R — B AR PR A B SRR

ol

Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder

R [R— Ex AR PR R B R

An associate company of the Group

—EONEER - AR HENZEERRAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

34 BEBAE RS @)

(Continued)

(@) Name and relationship with related parties () BEEMAMBBREHEBEREA)
(Continued)
Name Relationship
£1B 2 fES

Baoying Maizheng Drawin Intelligent
Manufacture Technology Limited*
EREEFERSENBERAR]

Shanggiu Jinyao Drawin Intelligent Manufacture

Technology Limited*
B ZEREERNRARAT

Henan Drawin Labour Center Construction
Development Co., Ltd.*
AREERTREANEZZERERAA

Henan Drawin Construction Engineering
Company Limited*
TR EEER T EER AR

Henan Drawin Intelligent Manufacture
Technology Industry Group Limited*
AAERSENREXSBER AR

Henan Drawin Landscaping Construction
Co., Ltd.*
AEERBEMNIEGRAR

*  For Identification purpose only
* (EHET
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Controlled by the same ultimate controlling shareholder
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BABtA XS (&)
(Continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEEKINXRS
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, REBE—E-_MER-—_T-_=F+—
the Group has the following related party AR=T—HLEEE AEEBUTH
transactions: BT 5 ¢

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FA&T
Supply of prefabricated construction AEBHERRNLRAEE
components and products by the Group, BHRER  SERHEM
including financing component recognised WA ARER N EE 2
in other income
Drawin Intelligent Construction Technology EREEESEEER
Group Co., Ltd. BRAR 2,201 6,180
Supply of decoration and landscaping AR B 5 B Ik EE MR AR A
services by the Group
Central China Real Estate Limited and rEMERNERAR R
its affiliate companies HIFB AR 23,438 143,494
Leasing of properties to related parties HENXTEHS
Drawin Intelligent Construction New Material ERBETNMBR AR
Company Limited 1,375 -
Drawin Intelligent Construction Technology EREERZREE
Group Co. Ltd. BRAA] - 9,895
1,375 9,895
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

216

(Continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued) (b)

34 BEBAE RS @)

BEEBATNRS (HE)

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EBEolNE T =F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Payment on behalf of related parties by the Z<&E @K RBEH S
Group
China Minsheng Drawin Co., Ltd. HRERBR AR 2,337 -
Drawin Intelligent Construction Design EREERELTERAA]
Company Limited 362 172
Henan Drawin Labour Center Construction MBERTREAREREER
Development Co., Ltd. BRAF] 215 =
Drawin Intelligent Manufacture Technology EREERREXEE
Industry Group Limited BRAA] - 359
Drawin Intelligent Construction Technology EREEESPEER
Group Co., Ltd. BRAR - 209
Jianye Holdings Limited BREERER AR - -
Central China Real Estate Limited and BREMERNBRABR
its affiliate companies HIFB AR - 2
2,914 742
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BAEtARS (#)
(Continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued) (b) EEEEEEASNRS (&)

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EIME T =4
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FE&T
Payment on behalf of the Group by related BE¥ 5 REEEBIZA

parties
Henan Drawin Labour Center Construction MEERIEANEREER

Development Co., Ltd. BRAT 110 -
Henan Dongzhu Drawin Ecological and A BREKER EREIRR

Environmental Protection Co., Ltd BRAT 91 -
Drawin Intelligent Construction Technology %E%%ﬁﬁ%&ﬂ&%@

Group Co., Ltd. BRAF] - 34,785
Drawin Intelligent Manufacture Technology HERE ﬁﬂ&?%‘i ]

Industry Group Limited BRA - 24,146
Henan Drawin Landscaping Construction Co., Ltd. ﬂf‘ﬁ”?iﬁ?ﬂiﬁiﬁ RN - 2,640
Drawin Intelligent Construction Design EREERERFERA

Company Limited - 772
Henan Drawin Construction Decoration J?ﬁ%@iﬁ ERHTIE

Engineering Co., Ltd. BRA - 754
China Minsheng Drawin Culture Co., Ltd. H Eéﬁiéﬂ*ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ@ﬂ - 317
Henan Jianxiang Decoration Engineering RS TRAR DA

Company Limited - 125
Henan Qionglei Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. JAFEZZR TREAR AR - 57
Henan Houde Landscape & Garden Engineering A EESEREM T

Co. Ltd. ARARF] - 12
Drawin Intelligent Construction New Material ERBETMBR AR

Company Limited - 10
China Minsheng Drawin Co., Ltd. FRERBRATA] - 5
Henan Ruida Engineering Management A imE LR “iﬂiﬁﬁi

Company Limited - 3

201 63,626
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34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

218

(Continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued) (b) EEEEEEAHRS (&)

34 BEBAE RS @)

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—EDME T _o=F
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FETL
Provision of design services by B R R AT RS
a related party
Drawin Construction Technology Group EREEPEEE - 615
Provision of labor services by B R IR A
a related party
Henan Drawin Labour Center Construction AREER TEAREERER
Development Co., Ltd. BRAR 704 6,251
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BEEAERS ®m)
(Continued)
(c) Related-party balances (c) PBFHEr#Eer

At 31 December

W+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NE —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FE&T
Amounts due from related parties FEUEIEH 5 KB
Central China Real Estate Limited and %%ﬁﬂ&%fﬁﬁﬁﬁ’& al k&
its Affiliate companies HEifBA 422,316 206,939
Drawin Intelligent Construction HERE fiﬁ_ SR & E
Technology Group Co., Ltd. BRA 227,077 265,097
Henan Drawin Landscaping ﬂf‘ﬂi@?ﬁﬂilﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm
Construction Co., Ltd 39,198 145,337
Drawin Intelligent Construction Design &k & 25X AR A A
Company Limited 29,845 30,111
Drawin Intelligent Manufacture ?é?yi%?iﬂ&@%;‘%
Technology Industry Group Limited BRA 21,430 21,658
Drawin Intelligent Construction New ERE ﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁ‘fﬂﬁé
Material Company Limited 14,434 13,290
Xiangxi China Minsheng Drawin WMARRERRREREE
Technology Company Limited NG| 13,779 -
Henan Drawin Labour Center FEER TIEAARNEER
Construction Development Co., Ltd.* BERBRAA 12,976 12,829
China Minsheng Drawin Co., Ltd. FRERBRATA 12,740 10,656
YMCI China Minsheng Kunming ;ﬁéfﬁﬁ&qﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
Technology Group Co., Ltd. BRA 6,888 -
Henan Drawin Construction e 752 ﬁL Y TH2
Engineering Company Limited* BRA 1,561 221
Zhejiang Anju Drawin Technology ﬁJTfI?Ei%?iﬂ&ﬁKE’AET
Company Limited 1,489 -
Central China Management PIREEBRAR
Company Limited 1,080 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

220

(Continued)

(c)

Related-party balances (Continued)

34 BEBAE RS @)

(c) PBABET4Sek (&)

At 31 December

R+t=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amount due from related parties PEUR BB HE 75 7R I8 (48)
(Continued)
Hunan China Minsheng Drawin Green — #EH RERGFZEE
Construction Investment Limited BRAH 1,003 1,024
China Minsheng Drawin Culture Co., FRERXEIBR AR
Ltd. 960 1,005
Henan Drawin Intelligent Manufacture AR 2E R B ERHTEFE S E
Technology Industry Group Limited BREAA 502 -
Central China New Life Limited BESEEARAA 1" 342
Henan Drawin Construction Decoration A B 5k S8 1k 5 £ T 72
Engineering Co., Ltd. BRAF] 1 1
Henan Jianxiang Decoration R R TR AR AR
Engineering Company Limited - 21,174
Drawin Intelligent Construction EREEERBREE
Technology Group Company Limited BRAA = 9,891
Henan Qionglei Construction EBZEXTIEBRAT
Engineering Co., Ltd. - 3,896
Henan Ruida Engineering Management A E TIREIR AR AT
Company Limited - 319
Jianye Holdings Limited BEFEERER AR - 2
807,290 743,792
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

34 BEBAE RS @)

(c) Related-party balances (Continued) (c) BAEES#eR(E)

At 31 December

Rt+t=BA=+—8
2024 2023
—E_UE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts due to related parties P BREE 5 7R IE ()
(Continued)
Jiayao Global Investments Limited FR (AR IREBR AT 79,993 79,281
Drawin Intelligent Construction HERE iﬁ% RRHREE
Technology Group Co., Ltd. BRA 69,031 82,508
Drawin Intelligent Manufacture HBRE fﬁﬂ&?%’i &
Technology Industry Group Limited BRA 38,320 55,188
Henan Drawin Intelligent Manufacture  SAEg4E 7,{ iﬂ%i‘i?%% =
Technology Industry Group Limited BRA 22,521 -
Central China Real Estate Limited and %%ﬁﬂ&ﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ?&
its affiliate companies HE QA 12,746 19,968
China Minsheng Drawin Co., Ltd. FRERBRAT 9,563 4,916
Henan Drawin Landscaping AEERBEMNIEGRAR
Construction Co., Ltd. 5,002 132,995
Zhejiang Anju Drawin Technology LR EEREHEER AR
Company Limited 4,922 -
Henan Drawin Labour Center ‘ﬂﬁ'ﬂé&?ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ»‘%%%
Construction Development Co., Ltd.* ERERA 3,465 4,277
Drawin Intelligent Construction Design £k % i%;&mﬁrﬁ R A 7]
Company Limited 1,714 8,992
Henan Drawin Construction IS Eﬁiﬁ_ S TH2
Engineering Company Limited* BERA 295 57
Central China New Life Limited %%%ﬁffﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ 146 137
Henan Dongzhu Zhuyou Ecological and ﬂ@%% EE BIRIR
Environmental Protection Co., Ltd BRA 90 -
Drawin Intelligent Construction New HERE i%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ
Material Company Limited 65 42
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34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BEEAERS @®)

222

(Continued)

Related-party balances (Continued)

(c) PBABET4Sek (&)

At 31 December

Rt+t=B=+—8
2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
HK$‘000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Amount due to related parties PE S BREE 5 7R IE ()
(Continued)
China Minsheng Drawin Culture PRERNEIBRAR]
Co., Ltd. 52 =
Drawin Intelligent Construction HBRE ﬁ% SRR E
Technology Group Company Limited BRA = 1,040
Henan Jianxiang Decoration T E RS %’éﬁfﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ Al
Engineering Company Limited - 378
Henan Hongdao Investment Co., Ltd A ABEREBRAR - 13
Henan Houde Landscape & Garden AREEESBEMNIRE
Engineering Co., Ltd. BRAF] = 12
247,925 389,804
Note: Kt -
(@  As at 31 December 2024, the amounts due to Jiayao @ RZZT-WHF+ZA=+—H " &=

Global Investments Limited of US$10.0 million (equivalent
to HK$77.4 million) and HK$5.5 million are unsecured and
bear no interest, of which HK$1.7 million will be matured
till January 2027, HK$77.4 million will be matured till May
2027 and HK$3.8 million will be matured till August 2027.

Save as disclosed in note (a), all other amounts due
from or due to related parties are unsecured, bear no
interest and are repayable on demand or within one

year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BEEAERS ®m)
(Continued)
(c) Related-party balances (Continued) (c) BAEES#eR(E)

At 31 December

Rt+t=BA=+—8
2024 2023
—E-MEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FE&T
Guarantee/security for borrowings BB S REMNESIER
provided by related parties Eiig
Drawin Intelligent Manufacture FEREENREESE
Technology Industry Group Limited HRA A 729,816 745,778
Drawin Intelligent Construction EREEEIBEEE
Technology Group Co., Ltd. BIRAF] 431,947 441,394
China Minsheng Drawin Co., Ltd. PRERBRAF] 282,849 289,035
1,444,612 1,476,207
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

34 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BEEAERS @®)

35

224

(Continued)

(d) Key management compensation

(d FEEBAESME

Key management includes directors (executive and TEEBEAEBREEE(AITRIEHR
non-executive), chief financial officer, vice presidents 1) BRMBE BIEREREED

and assistant presidents. The compensation paid or
payable to key management for employee services is

shown below:

g RESRBENRENEIBER
ABEBESIRMT -

Year ended 31 December
BEZE+-—A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries and other short-term e kHEMEHES R
employee benefits 3,931 8,652
Share-based compensation ARG B AT H B S 779 1,303
4,710 9,955

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2024, there were various litigations
against the Group which claimed by certain suppliers and
banks with respect to overdue payables and borrowings R 619,425,000/8 7T) (==
amounted to approximately RMB573,612,000 (equivalent to

35 &F&d

R-ZT_mOFE+-_A=+—H ETHER
KMR1TL & £ AR 573,612,000 7T (185

=5 ARK

265,393,000 7T (#8557 292,863,000 % 7T) ) &Y

HK$619,425,000) (2023: RMB265,393,000 (equivalent to 460 HA JE < SRIE & 8 3R M) AR & B3R R % IE B
HK$292,863,000)) in total. Based on the advice of legal A RBEZBERMNERR SAEE A&

counsel and/or information available to the Group, the

Directors are of the opinion that no additional provision hErBEELEIMNERE
should be made for estimated liabilities for the litigations.
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e B I ERaRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HTAEE Sz i E%Bﬁgi

(a) cash used in operations (a) REFTANRSE

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Loss before income tax BRETISTLATE 1R (494,437) (365,750)
Adjustments for: FEE
Depreciation of property, Wz WERRETE
plant and equipment 106,445 116,291
Impairment loss of property, W - BB MERERE
plant and equipment &8 23,056 7,255
Losses on disposal of property, plant HEME - WEREE
and equipment &8 28,721 15,097
Amortisation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 19,168 17,414
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets FREEEREEE 7,154 -
Gains on termination of lease KIEAER W (101) =
Fair value change on investment REEEHENQAER
properties Ba) (198)
Amortisation of intangible assets B A E# 5,526 3,458
Gains on disposal of investment HEREE AR E R
in associates & (209) -
Shares of losses from associates PRGBS A R)EE 39,909 4,935
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial AREEF=E A HEH
assets at fair value through FTABRN S RIEER
profit and loss DNABEEER (W) 14,801 (1,362)
Provision for impairment of inventories 77 & R{E & & 1,319 244
Provision for impairment of trade and B 5 N E b W IE
other receivables ﬁfﬁﬁéﬁ 59,940 93,582
Interest income from bank deposits ITTF IR B YA (235) (346)
Finance costs nﬂiﬁﬁﬁz$ 87,935 65,530
Share-based compensation LARR 7 R T H B & 2,043 3,814
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

226

(@

Cash used in operations (Continued)

36 RERERERME®

(@

REFTANRE (&)

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FéET FEIT
Operating loss before changes in LEE S EB RIS E

working capital 518 (99,163) (39,838)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash BRHIZE S (B h0), Tk (2,098) 30,530
Decrease in inventories FERd 28,094 4,434

Decrease in trade and other receivables 2 5 K& H fth fE U 50 IE A &
and prepayment A RIER A 361,096 117,644
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 & H At JE - R IB R (228,462) (89,996)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHaERD (23,437) (11,039)
Cash generated from operations LSRR E 36,030 11,735
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

6 ZEBRESRERMIE @

(b) Liabilities arising from financing activities (b) REFBEEMNAERE
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE BETBELNEE
Amount
due to
Lease Interest related
Cash Borrowings liabilities payable parties Total
Ef
Re k& HEEE ENFE BHELIRE EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FET FEr FET
Net debt as at RZBZ=f
31 December 2023 +ZR=T-BNFER 34,007 (1,727,480) (4.921) (12,316) (312,014)  (2,022,724)
Cash flows () BERE() (551) 29,002 175 37,268 712 67,108
Finance costs BENK - = (200 (87,915 - (87,935)
Reductions as a result of RIFHEBHAE D
termination of lease - - 4,739 - - 4,739
Reclassification to ENNBEESENTE
trade payables - - - - 134,384 134,384
Foreign exchange B AR
adjustments (202) 18,828 27 991 4,704 24,348
Net debt as at R=B=RE
31 December 2024 TZA=t-BHEFEYR 33,254  (1,679,650) - (61,972)  (172,214) (1,880,080)
Net debt as at NZEZZ
31 December 2022 +ZR=1T-BNFES 25120 (1,771,090) (1,401) (221) (140,904)  (1,888,496)
Cash flows () BERE() 9,307 38,661 2,390 66,408 (110,654) 6,612
Finance costs BEKA - - (192) (78,945) - (79.137)
New leases Mg - - (6,250) = - (6,250)
Payment on behalf REMAR - - - - (63,626) (63,626)
Foreign exchange B EE
adjustments (420) 4,949 32 442 3,170 8,173
Net debt as at R-BZ=f
31 December 2023 TZA=t-BNEER 34007 (1,727,480) 4.921) (12316)  (312014)  (2,022,724)
0] Cash flows include non-cash transactions of additions in (i) BeRERRBEEELNRE S EMNZIEA

borrowings and settlements of trade payables. HEIFBEER S
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

37 COMMITMENTS 37 &ifE
Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating BIETAEUEEEHE - AR BHRERAE
leases related to short-term and low-value leases not R7EH R EEERERBENSREEENK
recognized in the financial statements as follows: m
At 31 December
R+=BA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-UE —E=4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Within 1 year —F A - 22
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

38 AQTMNBBRRRRFREH

COMPANY
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz B RFE = 2
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1 2,240
Investments in subsidiaries N IEEPNGIE S 30,513 28,857
30,514 31,099
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk E AW FOE &
and prepayments TEfTRIE 1,749,926 1,756,333
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEMEER 593 85
1,750,519 1,756,418
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 M E M E R IR 19,981 17,133
Lease liabilities HE&E = 1,949
Dividends payable FEfTRE B - 33
19,981 19,120
Net current assets REBEEZFE 1,730,538 1,737,298
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHBRRBARSE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,761,052 1,768,397
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38 A2 SIBH SRR R R 5 &5

AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE (&)
COMPANY (continued)
At 31 December
R+=B=+—8
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Non-current liabilities FnBASE
Lease liabilities HEAE - 2,863
Amount due to related parties FE A~ BE B 5 5K IE 79,993 79,375
79,993 82,238
NET ASSETS BEFE 1,681,059 1,686,159
Equity attributable to owners RATEE AFLER
of the Company
Share capital [N 1,240,438 1,240,438
Reserves (note (a)) {1 (A3 @) 440,621 445,721
TOTAL EQUITY S 1,681,059 1,686,159
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ T -_MF+_A=+—HILFE

38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Note:

(a)

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and

Reserve movements of the Company

38 ALQRMNMBRARRKMELE

()

Ffat -

(@ AATNRFELE

Contributed
Share surplus Other Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
0N
R EE Bt Hitofit e RHER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT AT AT
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-MF—A—H 983,155 126,931 24,803 (689,168) 445,721
Loss and total comprehensive loss  FAEERZHBELE
for the year - - - (7,146) (7,146)
Share-based compensation PARR (D BERER B S - - 2,046 - 2,046
Lapse of share options BERERM - - (5,696) 5,696 -
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_WF+=-A=+—H 983,155 126,931 21,153 (690,618) 440,621
At 1 January 2023 N—_E-=F—H—H 982,686 126,931 20,989 (668,375) 462,231
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ FREE X2 AGELHR
for the year = = = (20,793) (20,793)
Share-based compensation LARR D AERER B € - - 3,814 - 3,814
Share buy-backs Pt B 1 (53) = = = (53)
Cancellation of Treasury Stock TEHETFR (A2 30)
(note 30) 522 - - - 522
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+=R=+—H 983,155 126,931 24,803 (689,168) 445,721

was signed on its behalf by:

Guo Weigiang

Director
SRE R
E

i%a RR%

AR BRARRR _FT_AF=H
“HRNAREESME TRATESERE

Wang Yuping
Executive Director

EEF

HITEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _WF+_A=+—HILFE

Summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the ANEBERBERFEEE HREMELE  BERE
last five years/period is as follows: EREMT
For the year For the year For the year Fortheyear  For the year
ended ended ended ended ended
31December  31December  31December  31December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
(Z-T-TF HE-T-—F HE-T--F BE-T--F HE-EZ-_MF
+ZA=+—H +ZA=+—RA +=ZA=+-H +=ZA=+—H +=A=+-H
H&E HFE IEFE EFE LFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Results £
Revenue WA 1,089,284 2,085,226 1,573,662 867,161 373,990
(Loss)/profit before income tax ~ Br TSR Al
(B1)/ &7l 214,691 188,033 (169,709) (365,750) (494,437)
Income tax (expense)/credit PSR (B%), /% (44,725) (49,056) 16,134 35,516 279
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BR),/ & 169,966 138,977 (153,575) (330,234) (494,158)
(Loss)/profit attributable to AREEE AR
owners of the Company (B18),/ &7 158,833 132,375 (148,150) (315,733) (464,536)
As at As at As at As at As at
31December  31December  31December  31December 31 December
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RZZEZZE RITZ-F RITZZF RZITZ=F KRZ-B-MEF
+-A=+—-8B +=A=t-H +=B=t—-H +=A=+—H +=RA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
AT FET FET FET FET
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BEE 5,213,352 7,560,802 6,689,926 6,334,141 5,489,993
Total liabilities BaE 2,391,768 4,199,505 3,771,482 3,778,499 3,471,457
Total equity ERER 2,821,584 3,361,297 2,918,444 2,555,642 2,018,536
232 DIT Group Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report
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